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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

AFUHREE

(For the year ended 31 December) (BEZ+=A=+—HIFE)

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY A FHEHE
RMB’000 AREEFIT
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
—TF ZT-f T =% —ZTNF Z%-RF
Revenue WA 2,406,212 3,097,511 4,150,509 5011426 4,182,049
Gross profit e 580,594 749,150 988,400 1,049,024 884,383
Profit before tax B AT A 371,533 420,102 626,506 698,913 447,370
Profit attributable to owners VN/NCIE ZEDN
of the Company FEfL 3T 290,850 328,644 490,587 584,269 355,986
Basic earnings per share (RMB)  SREAREF|(ARE) 0.472 0.521 0.752 0.842 0.512
Diluted earnings per share (RMB) SR ERF|(ARE) 0471 0.521 0.737 0.687 0.376
Non-current assets EREBEE 1,440,111 1,697,359 2,834,179 3,792,168 4,045,360
Current assets REEE 1,510,063 2,366,323 3,466,554 4416582 5,606,612
Non-current liabilities FEREAE 248,955 577,652 1,323,185 2276903 3,610,834
Current liabilities REAE 1,173,010 1,634,118 2378436 2,791,255 2,540,015
Net assets BEFE 1,528,199 1,851,912 2,599,112 3,140,592 3,501,123
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LN

RMB/000
AREFT
6,000,000 —

5,000,000 —

4,000,000 —
3,097,511

3,000,000 —

2,406,212

2,000,000 —

1,000,000 —

4,150,509

5,011,426

11 12

13

| 4,182,049
14 15

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS
OF THE COMPANY

XAEHA AEGET

RMB’000

ARBTT

600,000 —

500,000 —

400,000 —

300,000 — 290,850

200,000 —
100,000 —
11

490,587

328,644

584,269

355,986

12

13

14

15



“R-AFFR PEAXKHERMERER AR

CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
EERE

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the Group’s annual results
for the year ended 31 December 2015.

Compared to restrictions on connection to grid for photovoltaic power
generation in western China, photovoltaic business in central and eastern
China maintained steady growth momentum in 2015. Given the more
established infrastructure and stronger demand for electricity in developed
areas, the Group continued to adjust its market presence and delivered a
rather satisfactory performance in the year.

Amid the market environment of overall economic downturn, all business
segments of the Group recorded weaker performance. For the year ended
31 December 2015, the Group’s turnover amounted to RMB4,182,049,000.
Its gross profit amounted to RMB884,383,000, and its profit attributable
to equity holders was RMB355,986,000. The Board recommended the
distribution of a final dividend of HK$0.03 per share.

1. CONSOLIDATED ADVANTAGE FOR RENEWABLE
ENERGY BUSINESS

Renewable energy business segment with photovoltaic system
integration as its core contributed 61.5% of total revenue (including
tariff adjustment), indicating that renewable energy business has
become a pillar business of the Group. As a result of delayed
construction progress of power stations, certain photovoltaic EPC
projects were not completed in 2015 as scheduled, affecting revenue
from EPC projects. The Group will fully consolidate its resources
at various links in the photovoltaic industry in order to continue to
maintain its advantageous position in the photovoltaic EPC sector.

Based on its accumulated market resources and experiences in
participation in regional photovoltaic development planning, the Group
has acquired high-quality power station resources in central and
eastern China. In 2015, the Group has 207 MW photovoltaic power
stations connected to grid and recorded revenue from sale of electricity
(including tariff adjustment) of RMB118,100,000, representing a year-
on-year increase of 129.8%.

AAERRRESFE  MAREAKEBE—T
—HETZA=TRIEZ2FEE -

“T-RF SRR EE LEERT
RS - R R AR ER DT NI
E o STERAEE R AR REE TE - BE
FREHBENEN - AEBEERETSMH
B AEEERETERNRERNKAE

FERBKCETTNMSRET  AEES
EBRBZHNEEAMNTE - BEZ-ZT
—AF+ZA=+—H AEBEEEEAR
AR #4182,049,0007t EF A AR
884,383,0007T * #mFFAE AEMNETBAR
¥ 355,986,000 7T - EEEEHIKERBARE
AHEAR0.038TT °

- gﬁiﬁiﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ%lﬁlﬁ

YR T2 R AL R R B A RE
REBRBELWA(BIEEBHE)
PG ET61.5% - EIREMK AEE
SHER - XBUMBREEHEEERY
2 RLGREPCTRARE_Z—1
FRIBTK - SHEPCRAR B
& AREERNBENNREXRSIRE
BR - BEHSNAKEPCERNES
AL o

ERBAETSER - 2HEREIRE
BHAEMNER  AEEDERRIHE
EESEEBEHER - —T—AFE K
EEBEA207 KR REHRHIEEE -
BSENHEERA (BIEEERML) AR
118,100,000 7T * [RILLIG&K 129.8% °
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In addition, the Group’s exploration in photovoltaic agriculture has
started to pay off. Its 50 MW photovoltaic power station in Yangjiang,
Guangdong has successfully realized a new model of comprehensive
utilization of photovoltaic, ecological agriculture and tourism resources,
which can be duplicated and promoted for wider application in the
future.

OVERSEAS EXPANSION FOR CURTAIN WALL
AND GREEN BUILDING BUSINESS

The Group continued to improve its research and development of
green buildings. By relying on the US-China Clean Energy Cooperation
Project, it promoted the application of green building technology and
improved its brand for green building.

As a result of its exploration and accumulation in overseas market in
recent years, revenue contribution from the Group’s overseas business
increased to 6.6%, which were mainly from Hong Kong, Macau and
South-east Asia.

IMPROVED PRODUCT LINE FOR NEW
MATERIAL BUSINESS

In the functional film material area, the Group has developed a
comprehensive product offering including smart LCD light adjusting
films, smart LCD light adjusting glass and smart projection screens. As
smart LCD projection screens became better accepted in the market,
the Group strengthened its research and development and expanded
its product line, in the hope that the market share of its smart LCD light
adjusting products and projection systems will quickly increase.

’

’

pEoh - AEBIEXKREEFEHNEFERE
MR - BRI 50 KRB
M EIR T HK - ERRERERIREEE
REREFEF AR, - RRAIEE
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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4. FUTURE PLANS ON CONTINUOUS C RIRMENFEER

DEVELOPMENT

The Group will continue to maintain its orderly development of REBEBEBRFTHERLR - s8R
renewable energy, energy-saving and environment-protection and REFMMREBEFERNSER - UE
new material business by supporting overseas market expansion with 18 Ko 4 00 22 SR RN ¢ AR B R Bl S 45
curtain wall and green building technology and photovoltaic application BINTIGHE  BEEBTIIRES &
technology. It will continue to adhere to its artisan principle, efficiently B MAERRBEEEE VMRS
and effectively conduct research and development, production and HER  SHERNERTIRES B
construction, and focus its resources on system projects in order =3 - B B E IR EEINIR
to cope with changes in external environment through its constant B o

improvement and enhanced capability.
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TEERWMS

OVERVIEW

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) recognise the importance of
incorporating elements of good corporate governance in the management
structures and internal control procedures of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) so as to achieve effective accountability. This
report outlines the principles and the code provisions of the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices (the “Code”) contained in Appendix 14 of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). The Directors consider that, for the year
ended 31 December 2015, the Company has applied the principles and
complied with all the applicable code provisions set out in the Code, except
for the deviation from paragraph A.2.1 of the Code as described below in the
section “Chairman and Chief Executive Officer” on page 13.

In accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules, the Company
has established an audit committee in compliance with paragraph C.3
of the Code to oversee the financial reporting system and internal control
procedures of the Group so as to ensure compliance with the Listing Rules. It
has also established a nomination committee and a remuneration committee

with defined terms of reference.

The Directors are committed to upholding the corporate governance practices
of the Company to ensure formal and transparent procedures are in place to
protect and maximize the interests of the shareholders of the Company.

Set out below is a detailed discussion of the corporate governance practices
adopted and observed by the Company from the listing date up to the date of
this report (the “Review Period”).

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of
the Listing Rules as the standard for securities transactions by Directors.
The Company has made specific enquiries of all the Directors and all the
Directors confirmed that they have complied with the required standards set
out in the Model Code and its code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions throughout the year.

]

AREEE((EE])PARIELRRR REHK
BAR(IAEE)) EBEBRANIMEZERRF
NI ARFEEEATTRHNEBEN - FELUEH
BERHEEMNE - ARMEBLTEEH SRS
FRERAREZ ETARA(T EMmRA) K8
THAE 2 EEERFERTAUATD ZR
AR TRIGY - EFER R BE_ZT—AF
T-A=+—BLFE  ARFRCDERBZFE
A8 7 <7 RURTEL PR A B A <7 RIS - T
NE13AN [ EFETTHAER ) G0 praist
SRS A2 LIRE TR BERV IR LR SD

RIEEMRRNRE  ARFCRETAE
CIFMIUEREZRS  AREEARENG
BRERR R AR SRR - BRET LEHR
Al RRBMKLTIREZE G RFIMEES
g RELREgHARENRERE -

=

ERHNRRALTZOEEARM - BRA
AERARABAEORFRERBREAAA
AR -

TXHEFIALR G ETHBERRE A E
B ) TR B TR RE AR R
HFT o

%#i?ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%%%ﬁ?
|

ZAYNCIIRESS AR b~ oA D
TAERETEF X HNRESTR ([REST
A1) - ERERETEFRZNER - KRF]
ERERESFLAREH  2RESHER
REER  REHEFARETRIREEHE
FETEZFRHERTTRIRENER -
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The board of Directors (the “Board”) takes responsibility to oversee all major
matters of the Company, including the formulation and approval of overall
business strategies, internal control and risk management systems, and
supervising and monitoring the performance of the senior management who
are delegated with the authority and responsibility for day-to-day management
and operation of the Company. The Directors have the responsibility to act
objectively in the interests of the Company.

Currently, the Board comprises eight Directors, including three executive
Directors, namely, Mr. LIU Hongwei, who is also the Chairman of the
Company, Mr. SUN lJilin and Mr. XIE Wen, two non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. LI Huizhong and Mr. CAO Zhirong and three independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. YICK Wing Fat, Simon, Mr. WANG Ching,
and Mr. CHENG Jinshu.

The Board has a strong independent element in its composition with over half
of the board members are non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors to ensure that all decisions of the Board are made in the
best interest of the Group’s long-term development.

The Board has delegated various responsibilities to the Board committees
including the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination committee
(the “Nomination Committee”) (collectively, the “Board Committees”).
Further details of these committees are set out below on pages 15to 17.

The composition of the Board is well balanced with each Director having
sound board level experience and expertise relevant to the business
operations and development of the Group. The Board is comprised of
members with extensive business, government, regulatory and policy
experience from a variety of backgrounds. There is diversity of nationality,
ethnicity, educational background, functional expertise and experience. A
Board Diversity Policy was adopted by the Board in 2013.

E=

Exg((E52 ) AREEARAIMEER
=H - BEVERIDEBRBEREE - AR
ErREREERS EBENEREREAEA
AREREENMEENGRNERENRE - &
ERBMEAARRANE QAR EEEIREST
=o

g}
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EXRUHEEBAR/EARALE)  #E
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EREEREE  UR=RBIIFNTEES
KESELE - ERAEMEEHEL

EFEeNEREREBIYMETE  BYBES
ERERIFNTEERBLIFRITES - 5
RESSELNAEREEETEAEER
BBRARER R o

EXZgCH R RERZES([EREZE
gl) wHZBEE(FHEZEE]) RIERZ
B ([ REZEE)RESZEe(REIE
ERBEEAIFENRE - FHZEEES
B — LB HRTXEILEEFI7A -

E=gNERAEBTERE  BREFHENAK
SENESEELERABEENESTEER
KREEFIR - EFEXERETRNER
WHER - BT - B8 RBREAERZH
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BEERRKEREHERZ T - EFTEN_
T-=FRPNEFSZ TR -
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BOARD MEETINGS

The Company will adopt the practice of holding board meetings regularly
for at least four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals. Ad-hoc
meetings will also be convened if necessary to discuss the overall strategy as
well as the operation and financial performance of the Group. Notice of board
meeting will be sent to all Directors at least 14 days prior to a regular board
meeting. Reasonable notices will also be given to the directors for ad-hoc
board meetings.

Directors may participate either in person or through electronic means of

communications.

The Company will adopt the practice to provide relevant materials to all
the Directors relating to the matters brought before the meetings. All the
Directors will be provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties,
and, upon reasonable request, the Directors will be able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s
expenses. All Directors will have the opportunity to include matters in the
agenda for Board meetings.

Prior notice convening the Board meeting was dispatched to the Directors
setting out the matters to be discussed. At the meeting, the Directors were
provided with relevant documents to be discussed and approved. The
company secretary of the Company is responsible for keeping minutes of the
Board meetings.

Should a potential conflict of interest involving a substantial shareholder of the
Company or a Director arise, the matter will be discussed in a physical Board
meeting, as opposed to being dealt with by a written resolution. Independent
non-executive Directors with no conflict of interest will be present at meetings
dealing with such conflict issues.

An updated list of the Directors identifying the independent non-executive
directors and the roles and functions of the Directors is maintained on the
website of the Company and the website of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

During the reporting period, the Board held a total of 4 board meetings. The
attendance of individual Directors at the board meetings and annual general
meeting are set out below:
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TEEREE
Board Meetings Ea

Attendance

HEER

Name of Directors Annual General Meeting Board Meeting
EENA BRERBEXE EEEEE
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. LIU Hongwei RUAT M A 1/1 4/4
Mr. SUN Jinli i pa 0/1 4/4
Mr. XIE Wen @ XRE 0/1 4/4
Non-executive Directors ERITESE
Mr. LI Huizhong T RNt 0/1 4/4
Mr. CAO Zhirong wELEE 0/1 4/4
Independent Non-executive Directors ~ BIIFHITES
Dr. WANG Ching T R 1/1 4/4
Mr. YICK Wing Fat, Simon GBS E 1/1 4/4
Mr. CHENG Jinshu BefkE 0/1 4/4

SKILLS, KNOWLEDGE, EXPERIENCE AND
ATTRIBUTES OF DIRECTORS

All Directors of the Board had served in office during the period under review.
Every Director commits to give sufficient time and attention to the affairs
of the Company. The Directors also demonstrate their understanding and
commit to high standards of corporate governance. The executive Director
brings his perspectives to the Board through his deep understanding of the
Group’s business. The non-executive Directors and the independent non-
executive Directors contribute their own skills and experience, understanding
of local and global economies, and knowledge of capital markets to the
Group’s business. The Company is responsible for arranging and funding
suitable continuous professional development programmes for all Directors to
hone and refresh their knowledge and skills.

INDUCTION AND TRAINING

Each newly appointed Director, executive or non-executive, is required
to undertake an induction program to ensure that he has a proper
understanding of his duties and responsibilities. The induction program
includes an overview of the Group’s business operation and governance
policies, the Board meetings’ procedures, matters reserved to the Board,
an introduction of the Board committees, the Directors’ responsibilities and
duties, relevant regulatory requirements, review(s) of minutes of the Board
and Board committees in the past 12 months, and briefings with senior
officers of the Group and site visits (if necessary).

EEAE - A - EREFHE

FIEEEERBUNOEREAER - S&ES
B RHRESOTBNERNRANER L -
EEMTRAREER N AGHERSKTINE
A MITERBBHARBERBNRANT #IL
HEBHTAZEE - FFMTESR B
TEFAIRERSMREERER X EE
BREENRH - REATISH AR B EFHA
AMELER - AARBAEELHREME
EENHEEREERE  UBRNMEINEM
E I

A B R 3|

B ENITIIFNTEEAS EBRIER

B URBRES T{E R A B EMERE - s
REERAKEEBLEREERRNOBN -

E=genitr RETEZSARNER

EXZEEHN EFNREREE - GBX
BHER  BET_HAEEEREEFEZE
EHNERCHREHNIARERERENHEM
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Pursuant to the Code Provision A.6.5 of the Code, all Directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure their contribution to the Board
remains informed and relevant. During the Year, all Directors had participated
in appropriate continuous professional development activities by ways
of attending training and/or reading materials relevant to the Company’s
business or to the Directors’ duties and responsibilities.

The company secretary of the Company maintains records of training
attended by the Directors. The training attended by each Director during the
Year is tabulated as follows:

RIBTRAIGXEALSK  2REREDER
EHEEEI > UNERREHES 2 MBI
BE o WL IRRESEBTABZEEMRIS
BENEATHESSFLER - FR > 28
ERNA2HEGEZHEERRREY 81
HEERARRESREERE MBE RS
e, ABEEREER o

ARRABZRAIMERFERHFERIZCH -
RER  SERHERIZBERESTINT

Training Records Bollrt ek

Name Type of trainings Training matters

24 3ERIE R - [
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(fF&EL) (fF5E2)

Executive Directors BiTESE

Mr. LIU Hongwei (Chairman) RIS (£E) a,b i, i, dii, iv

Mr. SUN Jinli ReitE a, b i, i, i, iv

Mr. XIE Wen #OXEE a, b i, i, i, iv

Non-Executive Directors EMITESE

Mr. LI Huizhong S S a,b i, ii, iil, iv

Mr. CAO Zhirong BELEE a, b i, i, v

Independent Non-Executive Directors ~ BIIFHITES

Dr. WANG Ching T =g+ a, b i, i, i, iv

Mr. YICK Wing Fat, Simon SIKEE A a, b i i, i, v

Mr. CHENG Jinshu BeltE a, b i, i, dii, iv

Note 1: FeEEL -

a attending seminar or training session a TR gSEIgH

b self-development and updates relating to general economy, business b EBEREFNMERARELE XB8R -EF

development, director’s duties and responsibilities, etc.

Note 2:

i corporate governance

ii regulatory compliance

iii finance

iv management and operation

MBEMERES -

MRE2 -

i TEER

i ERRE

ii BF 1%

iv BEIE N B
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. Liu Hongwei, the Chairman of the Group, is responsible for the leadership
and effective running of the Board, ensuring that all material issues are
decided by the Board in a conducive manner. Mr. Liu Hongwei is also
responsible for running the Group’s business and effective implementation
of the strategies of the Group. The Company is aware of the requirement
under paragraph A.2.1 of the Code that the roles of chairman and Chief
Executive Officer should be separated and should not be performed by the
same individual. Nevertheless, the Board considers that the combination of
the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer will not impair the balance
of power and authority between the Board and the management of the
Company as the Board will meet regularly to consider major matters affecting
the operations of the Group. The Board is of the view that this structure
provides the Group with strong and consistent leadership, which can facilitate
the formulation and implementation of its strategies and decisions and enable
it to grasp business opportunities and react to changes efficiently. Moreover,
the Board considers that the sufficient measures have been taken and it will
not impair the balance of power and authority between the Board and the
management. As such, it is beneficial to the business prospects of the Group.
Therefore Mr. Liu Hongwei is performing the roles of both Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All independent non-executive Directors of the Company possess a wealth
of professional and industry expertise and management experience and
have provided their professional advices to the Board. They have played a
significant role in the Board by virtue of their independent judgment and
their views carry significant weight in the Board’s decision. In particular, they
bring an impartial view on issues of the Company’s strategy, performance and
control. The Board also considers that independent non-executive Directors
provide independent advice on the Company’s business strategy, results and
management so that all interests of shareholders of the Company are taken
into consideration, and the interests of the Company and its shareholders
are taken into account in all business decisions. The Company has received
the annual confirmation signed by each independent non-executive Director
to acknowledge their respective independence. After prudent enquiry, the
Board is of the view that each of Mr. YICK Wing Fat, Simon, Mr. WANG Ching,
and Mr. CHENG Jinshu maintains the independence as required by Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules.
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All independent non-executive Directors of the Company will review, on an
annual basis, any decisions in relation to new business opportunities referred
to the Company. As at the date of this report, there is no new business
opportunity introduced to the Group.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY
INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to indemnify
its Directors and officers in respect of legal actions against the Directors.
Throughout 2015, no claim had been made against the Directors and the
officers of the Company.

APPOINTMENTS, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL OF
DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors of the Company has entered into a service
contract with the Company for a specific term of three years commencing
13 January 2012, and will be automatically renewed for another three years
upon expiry.

Mr. Cao Zhirong and Li Huizhong, the non-executive Directors of the
Company, had entered into service contracts with the Company for a specific
term of three years from 1 September 2012 and 1 July 2011, respectively.
Their service contracts will be automatically renewed for another three years
upon expiry.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors were appointed for a term
of three years from 19 December 2008. Their service contracts will be
automatically renewed for another three years upon expiry.

All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years and in accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES
Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee pursuant to a resolution of
the Directors passed on 19 December 2008 in compliance with Rules 3.21 to
3.23 of the Listing Rules and paragraph C.3 of the Code. The primary duties
of the Audit Committee are to oversee the financial reporting process and
internal control procedure of the Group, to review the financial information
of the Group and to consider issues relating to the external auditor. The
Audit Committee consists of the three independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Dr. Wang Ching, Mr. Yick Wing Fat, Simon and Mr. Cheng Jinshu,
Mr. Yick Wing Fat, Simon is the Chairman of the Audit Committee. The Audit
Committee has reviewed the Group’s consolidated financial statements for
the six months ended 30 June 2015 and for the year ended 31 December
2015, the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and the

system of internal control.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Audit Committee held
2 meetings.

The following table shows the attendance of members of the Audit

Committee’s meetings:

ARREST ETHRANE321 £3.23 16 R T8
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No. of Audit Committee
meetings attended/held:

Directors: HE  LBiITExEEeE
BEE: ERHREL :
YICK Wing Fat, Simon (Chairman) SKEE(FE) 2/2
WANG Ching F = 2/2
CHENG Jinshu k| 2/2

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources to perform its
duties. Latest terms of reference of the Audit Committee can be viewed on
the website of the Company and the website of the Stock Exchange.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee pursuant to a
resolution of the Directors passed on 19 December 2008 in compliance
with paragraph B.1 of the Code. The primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee are to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy for remuneration of Directors and senior management and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on
such remuneration and for fixing the remuneration packages for all Directors.
The Remuneration Committee consists of four members, including three
independent non-executive Directors and the Chairman of the Board, namely,
Mr. Cheng Jinshu, Mr. Yick Wing Fat, Simon, Mr. Wang Ching and Mr. Liu
Hongwei. The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Mr. Cheng Jinshu.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Remuneration Committee
held 1 meeting to assess individual performance of the Directors and review
the remuneration packages and overall benefit of the Directors.

The following table shows the attendance and members of the Remuneration
Committee during the year ended 31 December 2015:
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No. of Remuneration Committee
meetings attended/held:

Directors: HE BITHEMEEE
EE: BREARE] :
CHENG Jinshu (Chairman) Bel(FmE) 1/1
YICK Wing Fat, Simon ZKE 1/1
WANG Ching F X 1/1
LIU Hongwei BT 4 1/1

The Remuneration Committee is provided with sufficient resources to perform
its duties. The current duties and responsibilities of the Remuneration
Committee are more specifically set out in its latest terms of reference, details
of which can be viewed on the website of the Company and the website of
the Stock Exchange.
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Nomination Committee

The Company established a Nomination Committee pursuant to a resolution
of the Directors passed on 19 December 2008 in compliance with
Recommended Best Practices of paragraph A.5 of the Code. The primary
duties of the Nomination committee include reviewing the structure, size and
composition of the Board on a regular basis and making recommendations
to the Board regarding any proposed changes. The Nomination Committee
consists of five members, including three independent non-executive
Directors and two executive Directors, namely Mr. Liu Hongwei, Mr. Xie
Wen, Mr. Wang Ching, Mr. Yick Wing Fat, Simon and Mr. Cheng Jinshu. The
Nomination Committee is chaired by Mr. Liu Hongwei.

Nomination procedures include identification and acknowledgement of
qualified individuals by the Nomination Committee and review and approval
of such nomination by the Board, The Nomination Committee will evaluate
potential candidates by considering factors such as professional expertise,
relevant experience, personal ethics and integrity.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Nomination Committee held
1 meeting. The following table shows the attendance and members of the
Nomination Committee during the year ended 31 December 2015:
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XIE Wen # X 1/1
WANG Ching T = 1/1
YICK Wing Fat, Simon SoxEE 1/1
CHENG Jinshu 2o 11

The Nomination Committee is provided with sufficient resources to perform its
duties. The current duties and responsibilities of the Nomination Committee
are more specifically set out in its latest terms of reference, details of which
can be viewed on the website of the Company and the website of the Stock
Exchange.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) is
responsible for keeping detailed minutes of each meeting of the Board or
the Board committees including any dissenting views expressed by the
Directors, which should be available to all Directors for inspection. He is also
responsible for ensuring that the Board procedures comply with all applicable
laws, rules and regulations and advising the Board on corporate governance
matters. All agenda, relevant materials and document are required to be
sent out at least 3 days prior to the intended dates of the Board meetings or
meetings of the Board committees. It is the responsibility of the Company
Secretary to send the draft minutes of the meetings of the Board or the Board
committees to all Directors for comments within a reasonable time after the
aforesaid meetings. Final versions of minutes of meetings of the Board or the
Board committees are also required to be sent to all Directors for record. All
Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary to
ensure that the Board procedures and all applicable laws are followed.

Moreover, the Company Secretary is responsible for keeping all Directors
updated on the Listing Rules, regulatory requirements, as well as internal
codes of conduct of the Company.

During the Year, the Company Secretary had confirmed that he had taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

FINANCIAL REPORTING AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Financial Reporting

The Board, supported by the Finance Department, is responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements of the Company and the Group. In
the preparation of financial statements, International Financial Reporting
Standards have been adopted and the appropriate accounting policies,
disclosure requirements under Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the
Listing Rules have been consistently used and applied. The Board aims to
present a clear and balanced assessment of the Group’s performance in the
annual and interim reports to the shareholders of the Company, and make
appropriate disclosure and announcements in a timely manner.
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Auditor’s Remuneration

The audit committee of the Board is responsible for making recommendation
to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the
authorized external auditors and to approve the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditors, and any questions of resignation or
dismissal of the external auditors. The Company engaged Ernst & Young as
its external auditors, and also engaged Ernst & Young in connection with the
comfort letters and other assistance in respect of the issue of senior notes
and convertible bonds. Details of the fees paid/payable to Ernst & Young
during the year ended 31 December 2015 are as follows:
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Audit service ZH AR RMB9,109,000
AER#9 109,000 7T

Non-audit services IERZERTS
— Tax service — TSRS HK$122,500
122,500 77T,

Internal control

The Group appointed Shinewing Risk Services Limited to review the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system for the year ended
31 December 2015. The Group is also in the process of improving and
establishing the internal control manual to further enhance its internal control
system.

The Board acknowledges that it is the responsibility of the Board for the
Group’s system of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness, and,
in particular, considering the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting function,
and the training programmes and budget. The Board will conduct periodic
review on the progress of the improvement and endeavor to enhance the
internal control measures of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY ON THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2015, which were prepared in
accordance with applicable accounting standards.
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The reporting responsibility of the external auditor of the Company on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group are set out in the independent
auditor’s report on pages 67 to 68.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Communication with Shareholders

The Board recognises the importance of effective communications with
shareholders and continues to act in the best interests of the Company and
its shareholders. The Company keeps shareholders and investors informed of
its business performance and strategies by adopting a transparent and timely
disclosure policy which complies with the Listing Rules and provides all
shareholders equal access to such information. The Company also publishes
all documents on the Company’s website.

The annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”) also provides a
forum for the Board to dialogue and interact with the Shareholders directly.
The Directors and the committee members are available to answer questions
during the AGM. Notice of AGM, annual report, financial statements and
related papers were posted to shareholders of the Company for their
consideration at least 20 clear business days prior to the AGM.

AGM proceedings of the Company are continually reviewed in the light of
corporate governance best practices.

Shareholders’ Rights

Set out below is a summary of certain rights of the shareholders of the
Company as required to be disclosed pursuant to the mandatory disclosure
requirements under Paragraph O of the Code which is effective from 1 April
2012.

(a)  Convening of general meeting on requisition by shareholders

Members holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times
have the right, by written requisition to the Company’s registered
office in Bermuda at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton,
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HM11, Bermuda and its principal office in Hong Kong at Unit 3108,
31/F, China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught
Road Central, Hong Kong for the attention of the Board or the Secretary
of the Company, to require a special general meeting to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within three (3) months
after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of
such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the
requisitionists themselves may do so in accordance with the provisions
of Section 74(3) of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at a Shareholders’ meeting

Pursuant to the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, either any number
of the shareholders holding not less than one-twentieth (5%) of the
total voting rights of all the shareholders of the Company, or not less
than one hundred of such shareholders, can request the Company
in writing to (a) give to shareholders entitled to receive notice of the
next general meeting notice of any resolution which may properly be
moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting; and (b) circulate
to shareholders entitled to have notice of any general meeting any
statement of not more than one thousand words with respect to
the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the business
to be dealt with at that meeting. The requisition signed by all the
requisitionists must be deposited at the Company’s registered office
in Bermuda at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton, HM11,
Bermuda and its principal office in Hong Kong at Unit 3108, 31/F,
China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road
Central, Hong Kong for the attention of the Board on the secretary of
the Company, with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s
relevant expenses and not less than six weeks before the meeting in
case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution and not less than
one week before the meeting in the case of any other requisition.
Provided that if an annual general meeting is called for a date six
weeks or less after the requisition has been deposited, the requisition
though not deposited within the time required shall be deemed to have

been properly deposited for the purposes thereof.
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(c)  Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may put forward enquiries to the Board in writing to
the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the
Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office
specifying the objects of the enquiries.

INVESTOR RELATION

During the period under review, there had been no significant change in the
Company'’s constitutional documents.

GOING CONCERN

There are no material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that cast
significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE ENHANCEMENT

The Company has been introducing, and continues to introduce, measures to
comply with the former and revised Corporate Governance Code. Enhancing
corporate governance is not simply a matter of applying and complying with
the Corporate Governance Code of the Stock Exchange but about promoting
and developing an ethical and healthy corporate culture. During the period
under review, the Board considered the following corporate governance

matters:
(i) review of the compliance with the Code; and

(i) review of the effectiveness of the internal controls and risk management
systems of the Group through the Audit Committee.

We will continue to review and, where appropriate, improve our current
practices on the basis of our experience, regulatory changes and
developments. Any views and suggestions from our shareholders to promote
and improve our transparency are also welcome.
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Since its inception, the Group has been committed to becoming a green
enterprise model leveraging its advantages and characteristics in the
development of renewable energy business, especially in the field of solar
photovoltaic/thermal system and intelligent micro-grid, the Group also hopes
that the application of solar energy can be widely promoted in Mainland
China. At the same time when we develop our business, we have embraced
our philosophy of “Giving back to the society” and actively participated
in solar energy related social responsibility projects, in order to promote
environmental awareness. In addition, employees are particularly important
for long-term development of the Group, therefore we are committed to
provide safe and good working environment and assist our staff in developing
their potentials.

STAFF CULTURE

In order to enrich cultural life of staff and enhance everyone’s cultural
awareness, our company in Hunan has set up a staff library in April this
year. The library collection currently has hundreds of book, with categories
including literature, fiction, history, philosophy, etc., and there are also work-
related skill guidance reference books and magazines. It receives wide
acclaim among staff.

STAFF TRAINING AND EDUCATION

During the year, the Group held photovoltaic knowledge training activities in
the Group’s headquarter located in Jin Ding, Zhuhai. Over 30 colleagues from
the technical engineering center, marketing department and other sectors
attended the training. The highlights of the training included two aspects,
the design knowledge of photovoltaic system and the photovoltaic policies
of each region and reporting process. The training was interactive, with
questions could be answered immediately during the course, thus obtained a
good training result.

In addition, on 19 October 2015, engineering management training course
in Singyes College was completed. 27 engineering management personnel,
drawn from project sites throughout China, received comprehensive seminars
and training. In order to meet the growing demand for project management,
the Group hopes to train a number of project management personnel
mastering site management, market demand and actual operations, with
good professional ethics and team spirit in the next 3 to 5 years.
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The training course is a full-time course for a period of 8 days, with the main
themes of pre-project management, construction process, settlement and
clearing and other management aspects. 12 project managers with extensive
front-line experience explained technology, materials, construction, safety,
quality, cost and other aspects of practical knowledge to the students. During
the course, instructors and students interacted actively, creating a lively
learning atmosphere through case studies, role-playing, group discussions
and various ways of study. Eventually, all students were divided into 3 mock
project divisions. They had to complete the management situation of the
mock projects as their major examination results for graduation.

PHOTOVOLTAIC POVERTY ALLEVIATION

Over the years, the Group has sponsored and supported the construction of
photovoltaic power station projects in different areas proactively. Leveraging
its extensive experience in the photovoltaic system integration area, the
Group contributed for the development of photovoltaic industry in Mainland
China.

In May 2015, the Group participated in the construction of 3KW household
photovoltaic power plant project of Hefei “2015 Poverty Alleviation Project
by Introducing Photovoltaics to the Countryside”. The project covered a wide
range of towns and villages, with each household built a distributed grid
connection power generation system using polysilicon solar battery elements.
The anti-poverty project will benefit nearly 200 village households, as they
can enjoy the convenience brought by new energy technology, the effective
solutions and improvement of rural lighting.

In addition, the Group participated in the “Photovoltaic Road Lamp
Engineering Construction Project in Liugang Village, Pomian Town,
Yangchun” of “2015 Corresponding Assistance Project of Supporting and
Donating to Zhuhai People’s Congress”, and the related construction project
was completed in June this year. The successful completion of the project will
effectively improve the road lighting situation of Liugang village, thus improve
the local construction of infrastructure. As such, on behalf of villagers of
Liugang village, Officers of Zhuhai People’s Congress delivered a copper
plaque for gratitude.

AHEFIAZE B FIRE - S8 RMRER
AABRAHERE  HIBRE HERKS
ERREATH 12 AEFLEE —RERY
HEEEABRBEFIEETBM - 7 - it
T 22 mE RAZZEHTENERM
B REL - ENEBEREGED  BBEY
DN - AEHE  NMERWRESEIREET
EREBHRRAE REEBEEEH A3
BEEMER  BEUTKERERNERS

FERZEE

ZER - AEEBETREER L AEIRIE
B BHEELKAGEREENEELR &
PREIARRECREXZNBRBO TR

—T-RFHA - AREZ2EERAET =
TR THRETIZ | Z 3KWHKANRAE
WEER - WHRBRENESERE  8PEYD
MALREERG - MAEZRYW RGBT
o LERRE TRRIHEI 200 PR RES -
BRI SRAER] - WA A AR
B R IRAA -

BEoh - AREELET [ ZT-REEETEA
AMBEHOEXRESR] PO [BEDREEAN
MACREETRERER]  HEERTE
ERAFRNART - thBRNIBFZRK - 885
RE B E NN BB RABR - TEE
ERRIZR o Bt TREMARKBEETER
RN REMRIR - X KEBUARH -



—S-EEER TEERXABariersran (25

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
TEHEET

ENERGY CONSERVATION AND EMISSION ENEEIRHE
REDUCTION

As at the end of December 2015, the Group had constructed over 300 BE_ZT—AF+-AK A£EBEBE&RES
domestic and overseas photovoltaic projects with an accumulative power 300IEE AINELIKTHE - BEtsENRE 1]
output exceeding 1.1GW and an annual electricity output of approximately TR FEEELRTHNIO7TEETRE -
1,097 million kWh. These projects have helped to save 285,220 liters of A] & W H 285,220 /A F 8k £ & 12 2 /5 395,000
fuels or 395,000 tones of standard coals. In other words, it means that the WE - BB R E D BRI 1,003,700 HEH) — &1L
emission of CO2, SO2, and nitrogen oxides will be cut by approximately fix ~ 13,000 WEH) — | bW An4, 717 S L -
1,093,700 tones, 13,000 tones and 4,717 tones, respectively. Meanwhile, [ B Rk A R K D 35 B8 EE AR Y 298,400 R EE -
298,400 tones of dust will be reduced during the thermal power generation, B149 4,388,000 AFHFEK o

thus saving about 4,388,000 liters of water.
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW

We are a professional renewable energy solution provider and building
contractor. Our main businesses are design, fabrication and installation
of conventional curtain walls and solar projects. Solar projects included
Building Integrated Photovoltaic System (“BIPV”) system, roof top solar
system and ground mounted solar system (collectively “Solar EPC”); we also
engaged in the manufacturing and sale of renewable energy goods. Our
BIPV system involves (i) the integration of photovoltaic technology into the
architectural design of buildings and structures and (ii) conversion of solar
energy into electricity for use. Our system allows the electricity generated
from solar panels to be connected to the power grid of a building and the
electricity generated from sun power will be consumed simultaneously. No
extra electricity storage cost is required. In addition, we also engage in the
production and sale of renewable energy goods, including smart grid system
and solar thermal system. In 2011, we also started a new business called
Indium Tin Oxide (“ITO”) business or “New material” business. Leveraging
on our track record and extensive experience in our curtain wall business, we
will further strengthen and develop our renewable energy business in respect
of BIPV systems and renewable energy goods. Apart from the above, we also
provide engineering design services and engage in the sale of curtain wall
materials. Our Group will endeavour to continue our focus on solar business.
In the long run, we will aspire and strive to grow into an enterprise with a

focus on renewable energy business.
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FUTURE PLAN AND STRATEGIES
Curtain wall and green building business

The revenue from curtain wall and green building business dropped mainly
because of the unfavorable construction industry environment in China. At
the same time, curtain wall business in the overseas market recorded growth
in revenue as compared to the previous year. In 2016, the domestic market
is expected to remain stable while strong demand is expected in the overseas
market.

Solar EPC business

We are a one-stop solution provider in Solar EPC, despite the lower-than-

expected demand, our gross margin remain strong.

Nonetheless, the solar industry in China has been facing challenges arising
from two major issues. Firstly, there was significant delay in the settlement
of the government subsidies. Secondly, curtailment issues were noted for
solar power stations in provinces in the northwest region in China. Therefore,
potential investors have been more cautious in investing in solar projects in

China, and this has in turn affected our solar EPC business.

In 2016, our focus would be in those regions where curtailment is less
significant, such as provinces in Southern and Eastern part of China.

Development of renewable energy goods

Apart from solar EPC, we also produce different kinds of renewable energy
goods. Renewable energy goods include solar photovoltaic materials and
solar thermal products. Solar thermal products include air-source heat
pump, solar heat collectors and solar heating system. Our long-term strategy
is, through our innovative research and development team, to diversify the
application of solar, and to widen the solar application in different area, like
rural application and irrigation.
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Self-developed solar projects

At 31 December 2015, the Group had around 207MW of grid connected
solar projects, of which 85MW projects are under the Golden Sun Pilot
Projects Program and the remaining 122MW projects are ground-mounted
solar farm. The Group also has approximately 99MW projects awaiting for grid
connection, while 81.5MW are grand-mounted solar farm and the remaining
17.5MW are reef-top projects.

Solar power generation business recorded gross loss mainly because of the
curtailment issues for solar energy power stations in provinces in northwest

region in China as mentioned above.

Overseas business opportunities

Revenue outside China accounted for approximately 6.6% of our total
revenue in the year 2015 (2014:0.8%). We anticipate contribution from the
overseas market (including Hong Kong, Macau and Malaysia) will be growing
if the construction progress of the sizeable contracts is on schedule.

In the meantime, we keep looking into opportunities in solar EPC projects in
the overseas market.

BEXIEREEE
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BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The following table set out the breakdown of revenue:

EB R AT DIRE
LN

TRIRKRAD IR :

2015 2014
—E—RF ZE—F
RMB million RMB million
ARBEET AREBEHET
Curtain walls and green buildings Bt RirBEE
— Public work — RHETE 292.9 335.7
— Commercial and industrial — I 781.5 1,076.9
— High-end residential — SEF=E 206.1 258.2
1,280.5 1,670.8
Solar EPC KFZ8E EPC
— Public work — NETRE 0.2 49.7
— Commercial and industrial — I 1,467.5 2,014.7
1,467.7 2,064.4
Total construction contracts BESRBEE 2,748.2 3,735.2
Sale of goods HEhmiHE
— Conventional materials — EHME 282.4 186.3
— Renewable energy goods — A EARERE M 1,022.4 1,015.6
— New materials — ¥R 60.3 44.8
Total sale of goods BmiHE AT 1,365.1 1,246.7
Rendering of design and other services R ET R E MRS 8.0 9.8
Sale of electricity, including tariff adjustment & #H% @ BIREEmEL 118.1 51.4
4,239.4 5,043.1
Tariff adjustment BEHA (57.4) (31.7)
Total revenue FEV PN 4,182.0 5,011.4

29
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Gross profit and gross profit margin EMRENZE
2015 2014
—E—hF —E—NFE
RMB million %  RMB million %
ARBEERT ARBEETT
Construction contracts EEAR
— Curtain walls and green buildings ~— — EiE MA@ EE 177.0 13.8 255.5 15.3
— Solar EPC — KF58EEPC 397.1 27.1 550.3 26.7
574.1 20.9 805.8 21.6
Sale of goods EmigE
— Conventional materials — EHEME 53.0 18.8 31.3 16.8
— Renewable energy goods — A BARERER 235.4 23.0 191.6 189
— New materials — MR 23.7 39.3 145 324
312.1 22.9 237.4 19.0
Rendering of design and T &
other services EM AR 6.5 81.3 7.5 76.5
Sale of electricity, including BHHEE - B
tariff adjustment EEMEL 49.1 41.6 30.0 58.4
Total gross profit and gross profit BEFRENE
margin including tariff adjustment BIEEERRL 941.8 22.2 1,080.7 214

The Group’s revenue (including electricity tariff adjustment) dropped by
RMB803.7 million or 15.9%, from RMB5,043.1 million in the year 2014 to
RMB4,239.4 million in the year 2015. Gross profit (including electricity tariff
adjustment) decreased by RMB138.9 million, from RMB1,080.7 million in
the year 2014 to RMB941.8 million in the year 2015.

AEBHOBA(BREEEHM) B —NO
F iy A R #5,043,100,0007T & 2 A R #&
803,700,000 78, 15.9% E - E—HEMNAR
#5 4,239,400,000 7t « EF| (B IEE(EHHAL) B
—ZT—Fm AR 1,080,700,000 T 2 A
R#¥ 138900000t ZE - E—HEMNARKE
941,800,000 7T °
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1)

2)

Curtain wall and green building

The Group’s revenue from curtain wall and green building business
dropped by RMB390.3 million or 23.4% because of the reduced
building construction activities in China. Owing to the fact that low
gross profit margins were recorded for overseas projects, gross margin
decreased from 15.3% in the year 2014 to 13.8% in the year 2015.

The management expected the low margin for overseas business
was temporary, the progress in 2015 was slow but significant amount
of costs were incurred and hence the gross margin in 2015 was
deteriorated, the gross margin in 2016 is expected to be strong after
the progress of the overseas project can be fastened.

Since 2013, the Group adapted to the foreseeable downturn in the
construction industry in China and has allocated resources to develop
the overseas market, mainly focusing in Hong Kong, Macau and South-
east Asian countries. With accumulated experience in markets outside
China and certain sizeable projects in progress, we believed that the
contribution from overseas market will become more significant in the
year 2016.

Solar EPC

Revenue from solar EPC decreased by RMB596.7 million or 28.9%
while gross margin for the sector remained strong at 27.1% (2014
26.7%).

Tariff cut announced by the National Energy Administration of China
will become effective from 1 July 2016, we therefore expect second
quarter in 2016 will be the peak season for installation and potential
new order will come. The outlook for our solar EPC business of the
Group remains positive in future.

1)

2)
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3)

i

Sale of goods

(M)

(iii)

(iv)

Sale of conventional materials increased by RMB96.1 million or
51.6%. Growth of RMB47.9 million and RMB48.2 million was
recorded in export sales and domestic sales, respectively. To
mitigate the impact from the slowdown in construction sector in
China, the Group has shifted part of its resources from curtain
wall construction business to sale business.

Sale of renewable energy goods maintained at a steady level of
RMB1,022.4 million (2014: RMB1,015.6 million) while gross
margin improved from 18.9% in the year 2014 to 23.0% in
the year 2015. Despite the fact that the solar industry in China
has been facing challenges, as discussed above, demand for
solar goods remained strong as the market was still growing,
considering the national installation target reached 17.8GW for
the year 2015.

New materials represented an electricity-conductive material
called ITO and it will become transparent when electricity is
connected, we also expanded its usage into outdoor advertising
activity. Revenue from sale of new materials grew by RMB15.5
million or 34.6% and gross margin was 39.3% (2014: 32.4%).

Sale of electricity, including tariff adjustment, increased by
RMB66.7 million or 129.8% to RMB118.1 million in the year
2015. As at the end of 2015, the Group has 85MW of Golden
Sun Pilot Projects and 122MW of ground-mounted solar farm in
operation. The Group has 7.5MW of Golden Sun Pilot Projects,
10MW of distributed solar projects and 81.5MW of ground-
mounted solar farm awaiting for grid connection as at the date
of this announcement. Revenue from sale of electricity was
negatively impacted by the curtailment problem in the northwest
part of China.

(iii)

(iv)

BEHREMBEERENARYE
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RETREEHERHBAREF

Revenue and gross profit contribution from different business
sectors

WA (B EIEFR)

Revenue split (including tariff adjustment)

2015 2014
—E—-hF —ZE—OF
RMB million %  RMB million %
ARBEERT ARERBET

Conventional business! B! 1,570.9 37.1 1,866.9 37.0
Renewable energy business? Al AEREIREES? 2,608.2 61.5 3,131.4 62.1
New material business R E 60.3 1.4 44.8 0.9
4,239.4 100.0 5,043.1 100

Gross profit split (including tariff adjustment)

EFFD (B EEHR)

2015 2014
b ke 3 —ZmE
RMB million %  RMB million %
AREBEET AREBET
Conventional businesst [EEES 236.5 25.1 294.3 27.2
Renewable energy business? Al AEREIR TS 681.6 72.4 7719 715
New material business R EEE 23.7 2.5 145 1.3
941.8 100.0 1,080.7 100.0
L Included curtain wall and green building construction contracts, sale of L BIEEBRFECEESR - HEEHMB R

conventional materials and rendering of design and other services.

sale of electricity and tariff adjustment.

Included Solar EPC construction contracts, sale of renewable energy goods and

B R R EAL AR -

BIEKGEEEPCEEAR
MIEEE N REE M -

CHEMEERE M
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Other income and gains

Other income and gains mainly represented deferred income released,
interest income on retention money, gain on disposal of property, plant and
equipment and bank interest income. Major reason for the decrease was the
deferred income released in the year 2015 amounted to RMB77.2 million
compared to RMB155.7 million in the year 2014. Apart from that, bank
interest income increased because of the growth in average bank deposits
balance, and interest income on retention money increased due to early
collection of retention money of certain projects. Also, RMB12.3 million (2014
Nil) of gain on disposal of solar farm was recognised during the year.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses increased by RMB19.3 million or 21.7%.
The increase in selling and distribution expense was mainly caused by the
increase in staff costs, and other business related expenses. The increase
in staff costs was because of the increase in salary and bonus. The levels of
changes in other items were consistent with our business development.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses increased by RMB115.3 million or 42.6%. The
increase in administrative expenses was mainly driven by the impairment loss
of trade receivables and goodwill, the increase in staff costs, depreciation,
business tax provisions, research expense and other business related
expenses.

Other expenses

The drop in other expenses was mainly because fair value losses and a loss
in settlement of interest rate swap contracts, less on disposal of a 25MW solar
farm project, and issue expense of convertible bonds were recognised during
the year 2014 and no similar item was recorded during the year.
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Finance costs

The Group’s finance costs increased by RMB79.0 million or 33.2%. While
the interests on bank and other loans and discounted bills receivables
dropped by RMB19.1 million comparing with previous year; the increase in
overall finance costs was due to the interest incurred on convertible bonds
and senior notes, being RMB100.6 million (2014: RMB37.8 million) and
RMB67.3 million (2014: RMB5.3 million) respectively.

Income tax expense

Income tax expense during the year included RMB91.5 million of taxation
charge and RMB1.6 million of deferred tax credited to profit or loss during
the year. For the year 2014, it included RMB125.1 million of taxation charge
and RMB11.0 million of deferred tax credit.

The taxation charges mainly represented the income tax provision for
subsidiaries inside Mainland China. During the year, deferred tax credited to
profit or loss of RMB1.6 million (2014: RMB11.0 million) was mainly due to
deferred tax effect of government grants and discount in retention money.
No deferred tax charges on dividend withholding tax based on 5% of the
net profits in the operating subsidiaries located inside Mainland China were
provided for both years.

Healthy current ratio

The current ratio being current assets over current liabilities, was 2.21 as at
31 December 2015 (2014: 1.58).
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Trade and bills receivables/trade and bills payables turnover
days

FEW S SR IA R KRR A E SR
IHRREMAEREAEH

At 31 December At 31 December

2015 2014

RIE—A%E RZF—F

+=A=+—H +-A=+—8

Turnover days Days Days
AR H H
Trade and bills receivables FEWWE 5 78 Kk RN R & 192 142
Trade and bills payables JEFTE 5 50E kB RIR 119 117

Trade and bills receivables turnover days is calculated based on the average
of the beginning and ending balance of trade and bills receivables, net
of impairment, for the year divided by the revenue during the year and
multiplied by the number of days during the year. Trade and bills receivables
turnover days at 31 December 2015 was 192 days. Trade and bills payables
turnover days is calculated based on the average of the beginning and ending
balance of trade and bills payables for the year divided by the cost of sales
during the year. Trade and bills payables turnover days at 31 December 2015
was 119 days.

Liquidity and financial resources

The Group’s primary source of funding included receivables from
construction contracts and material sale, as well as income from electricity
sale. In order to meet the expanding plan, the Group has completed certain
fund raising activities during the year.

The Group’s strategy is to maintain the gearing ratio at a healthy level in
order to support the growth of our business. Gearing ratio, represented by
consolidated net borrowings (total of bank and other loans, bank advances
for discounted bills, convertible bonds and senior notes minus cash and cash
equivalents and pledged deposits) to total equity at 31 December 2015 was
75.3% (2014: 48.4%).
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With the existing cash resources and available banking facilities obtained
from its bankers, the Group has sufficient financial resources to meet its
commitments and working capital requirements.

Capital expenditures

Capital expenditures of the Group amounted to RMB552.7 million for the
year (2014: RMB1,060.8 million) and were mainly for the construction of
self-invested solar farm, factory premises and plant and machinery.

Borrowings and bank facilities

The outstanding borrowings comprised bank and other loans of RMB2,582.7
million with effective interest rates ranging from Hong Kong Inter Bank
Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) + 0.95% to HIBOR + 4% for property mortgage
loan and revolving loans in Hong Kong and London Inter Bank Offered Rate
(“LIBOR") + 2.75% to LIBOR + 3.75% for syndicated loan and term loans
in Hong Kong. Interest rates for domestic loans inside Mainland China were
ranging from 4.30%-9.41%.

Apart from the bank and other borrowings, the Group also issued RMB930
million of convertible bonds with coupon rate of 5% per annum, RMB560
million and HKD250 million of senior notes with coupon rate of 7.875% and
7.75% per annum respectively. All of them are unsecured.

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s principal businesses are located in the PRC and most of the
transactions are conducted in RMB and most of the Group’s assets are
denominated in RMB. On the other hand, part of the loans of the Group are
raised in Hong Kong and they were denominated in USD or HKD, mainly
included USD110 million of syndication loans, HKD250 million of senior
notes and other bank loans in Hong Kong.
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Any material fluctuation between HK$, USD and RMB may bring significant
impact to the Group’s financial position and hence the management may use
different kind of hedging products to hedge the foreign currency risk.

Credit risk

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, pledged deposits, trade
and other receivables, and other financial assets represent the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets. Substantially
all of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents are held in major financial
institutions located in Mainland China and Hong Kong, which management
believes are of high credit quality.

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is
the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are
subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are
monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not
significant.

As at the end of the report period, the Group had certain concentration of
credit risk as 4.3% and 28.2% (2014: 13.7% and 44.5%) of the Group’s
trade and bills receivables were due from the Group’s largest customer and
five largest customers, respectively. All of these customers have good credit
quality by taking into account of their credit history, a long-term business
relationship has been established by both parties. The Group has delegated
a team which is responsible for determination of credit limits and monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up actions will be implemented to recover
overdue debts.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring liquidity
planning tool. This tool considers the maturity of both its financial instruments
and financial assets (e.g., trade receivables) and projected cash flows from
operations.
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The liquidity of the Group is primarily dependent on its ability to maintain a
balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the settlement
from customers and the payment to vendors.

Dividend

The Directors of the Company proposed a final dividend of HK$0.03 per
share (2014: HK$0.09 per share). The actual dividend payout ratio in each
year will depend on the actual performance of the Group, the general industry
and economic environment.

Closure of register of members

The register of members will be closed from Tuesday, 24 May 2016 to
Thursday, 26 May 2016, both days inclusive. In order to entitle to the
attendance of the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, all
share transfers documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office
in Hong Kong, namely Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level 22, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Monday, 23 May 2016.

The Company’s register of members will be closed from Thursday, 2 June
2016 to Friday, 3 June 2016 (both days inclusive), during which period no
transfer of shares of the Company will be effected. In order to qualify for the
proposed final dividend, all duly completed transfer forms accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
share registrars and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services
Limited, at Level 22 Hopewell Centre 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for
registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 1 June 2016.
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Cheques for final dividend (subject to approval in the annual general meeting
mentioned above) will be dispatched to the shareholders of the Company on
or before Friday, 15 July 2016.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had about 2,700 employees. Employee
salary and other benefit expenses increased to approximately RMB268.0
million in 2015 from approximately RMB190.0 million in 2014, which
represented an increase of 41.1%. The main reason for the increase was
because of the RMB10 million of share option expense recognised during
the year and the general increase in staff salaries and bonus. The Group’s
remuneration policies are formulated on the performance of individual
employees, which will be reviewed regularly every year. Apart from provident
fund scheme (according to the provisions of Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes for Hong Kong employees) or the state-managed retirement
pension scheme (for Mainland China employees) and medical insurance,
discretionary bonus are also awarded to employees according to the
assessment of individual performance.
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The table below sets forth information regarding our Directors:

TRENBEEENER

Name Age Position 21 Fih 52

Liu Hongwei 52 Chairman and executive Director BATHE 52 FRERPTES
Sun Jinli 52 Deputy Chairman, and executive Director FaeE  525% BIERERHITES
Xie Wen 50 Executive Director # X 50K BITEE

Li Huizhong 66 Non-executive Director Tgh 665k IEMITESR

Cao Zhirong 42 Non-executive Director BEL 425 HHITES

Wang Ching 61 Independent non-executive Director F R 6l BUIERITES
Yick Wing Fat, Simon 58 Independent non-executive Director K% B8 BN IERITES
Cheng Jinshu 63 Independent non-executive Director Bel 635 BIERITES

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Liu Hongwei aged 52, is the Chairman and an executive Director of our
Company.

He joined our Group since August 1995. He is responsible for the formulation
and execution of our Group’s overall business strategies and policies as well
as the overall management of our Group. Mr. Liu has more than 12 years’
experience in the glass manufacturing sector and more than 16 years’
experience in the curtain wall engineering sector. After obtaining a bachelor’s
degree in engineering in July 1986 from Wuhan Industrial University, now
known as Wuhan University of Technology, majoring in inorganic materials
engineering, Mr. Liu worked at a state-owned glass manufacturing enterprise,
Shaanxi Glass Factory, as a technician until 1989. From 1989 to 1991, Mr.
Liu was the director of production department at another glass manufacturing
enterprise, Zhuhai Glass Factory. From 1991 to 1995, Mr. Liu Hongwei was
the manager of the operation department of Zhuhai Singyes Safety Glass.
In 1995, Zhuhai Singyes Safety Glass jointly established Zhuhai Singyes
Green Building Technology Co., Ltd. (“Zhuhai Singyes”, formerly known as
Zhuhai Singyes Curtain Wall Engineering Co., Ltd) with Zhuhai City Township
Enterprise. Since November 2003, Mr. Liu has been an executive Director
of our Company. From August 1995 to October 2007, Mr. Liu was appointed
as Zhuhai Singyes’s general manager, taking charge of general supervising
and controlling on technologies. In December 2000, Mr. Liu was certified as
a Level 1 Project Manager by the Guangdong Province Construction Bureau.
In January 2001, Mr. Liu was certified as a Senior Engineer in respect of
construction materials by the Guangdong Province Personnel Bureau.
In 2003, Mr. Liu became an adjunct professor of Wuhan University of

PITES
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Technology. In August 2004, Mr. Liu was appointed as one of the experts to
the Standardisation Technical Committee of the PRC Ministry of Construction
for Curtain Walls, Doors and Windows. Mr. Liu is currently a member of the
Standing Committee of the Zhuhai Municipal People’s Congress of the PRC
Mr. Liu is also a director of Strong Eagle Holdings Ltd. which is the controlling
shareholder of the Company.

Sun Jinli aged 52, is our Deputy Chairman and an executive Director.

He joined our Group in August 1995. He is responsible for formulating the
overall sales and marketing strategies of our Group. Mr. Sun has more than
nine years’' experience in the glass manufacturing sector and more than
16 years’ experience in the curtain wall engineering sector. After obtaining
a bachelor’s degree in engineering in July 1986 from Wuhan Industrial
University, now known as Wuhan University of Technology, majoring in
inorganic materials engineering, Mr. Sun worked at Beijing Electronics
Factory as a technician until 1989. From 1989 to 1995, Mr. Sun was the
manager of the production department of Zhuhai Singyes Safety Glass. From
August 1995 to January 2001, Mr. Sun was a project manager of Zhuhai
Singyes, responsible for the development and management of business
projects. From January 2001 to October 2007, Mr. Sun was the deputy
general manager of Zhuhai Singyes, responsible for planning the overall sales
and marketing strategy of Zhuhai Singyes and our Group. Since March 2005,
Mr. Sun has been an executive Director of our Company. Since 2007, Mr. Sun
has also been working as the general manager of Singyes Renewable Energy.
In December 1994, Mr. Sun was certified as an engineer by the Guangdong
Province Zhuhai Designation Reform Committee In March 2002, Mr. Sun was
certified as a Level 1 Project Manager by the PRC Ministry of Construction. In
December 2007, Mr. Sun was registered as a constructor by the Ministry of
Construction. Mr. Sun is also a director of Strong Eagle Holdings Ltd. which is
the controlling shareholder of the Company.
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Xie Wen aged 50, is our executive Director.

He joined our Group in August 1995. He is responsible for supervision at
our work-sites and research and development of BIPV technologies. Mr.
Xie has more than 16 years’ experience in curtain wall engineering sector.
Mr. Xie graduated from Zhengzhou Textile Engineering College majoring in
mechanical engineering (textile machinery) in 1987. From 1987 to 1994,
Mr. Xie worked at the Equipment Energy Team in Hunan Shaoyang No. 2
Textile Machinery Factory. Mr. Xie joined Zhuhai Singyes in August 1995
as a project manager, responsible for the development and management
of business projects of Zhuhai Singyes. From January 2003 to September
2007, Mr. Xie was the deputy general manager of Zhuhai Singyes, in charge
of technical guidance and supervision at various worksites. In October 2007,
Mr. Xie became the general manager of Zhuhai Singyes. In December 2002,
Mr. Xie was certified as a Level 1 Project Manager by the PRC Ministry of
Construction. In June 2004, Mr. Xie was certified as a senior engineer in
respect of machinery by the Guangdong Province Personnel Bureau. In
February 2008, Mr. Xie was registered as a constructor by the PRC Ministry
of Construction. Mr. Xie is also a director of Strong Eagle Holdings Ltd. which
is the controlling shareholder of the Company.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Li Huizhong, aged 66, was appointed as non-executive director of our
Company on 1 July 2011. Prior to this appointment, he was a vice general
manager of Zhuhai Singyes Green Building Technology Co., Ltd (“Zhuhai
Singyes”), a subsidiary of the Company and retired from his position
in Zhuhai Singyes in year 2010. Mr. Li obtained a bachelor’s degree in
Economics from Heilongjiang Radio and Television University in July 1986.
Prior to joining the Group in year 2000, Mr. Li was the general manager of the
Zhuhai office of Daging Petroleum Administrative Bureau.

Cao Zhirong aged 42, is our non-executive Director. He joined our group
in September 2009. Currently Mr. Cao is Director of BNP Paribas Equities
(Asia) Limited Shanghai Representative Office. Previously he worked at ICEA
Capital Limited and Wing Lung Finance Limited and has approximately 15
years of experience in investment bank. Mr. Cao obtained a master degree in
business administration from Shanghai University of Finance and Economics.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Wang Ching, aged 61, was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of our Company in December 2008. Dr. Wang has near 20 years’
managerial experience in investment banking, securities, treasury and asset
management in the United States, Hong Kong, Taiwan and the PRC. He
was the president of Investment and Proprietary Trading Group for Jih Sun
Financial Holding Co. Ltd. in Taiwan, the managing director of JS Cresvale
Securities International Limited, the managing director of SinoPac Securities
Asia Ltd. in Hong Kong, SEVP of SinoPac Securities Co. Ltd. in Taiwan, the
director of Investment Banking Department at Standard Chartered Bank
Hong Kong and the associate director of Bear Stearns & Co. Inc., New York
and Hong Kong. Dr. Wang currently is the managing director of Shanghai
International Asset Management (HK) Co. Ltd., a licensed corporation
registered with Honk Kong Securities and Futures Commission. He is also
the executive director of Shanghai International Shanghai Growth Investment
Limited, an investment fund company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 770). Dr. Wang obtained his master degree in business administration
from the University of Houston and Ph.D. in finance from Columbia University
in the city of New York.

Yick Wing Fat, Simon, aged 58, is our independent non-executive director
and chairman of the audit committee. Mr. Yick holds a Bachelor’s degree in
Business Administration from the Chinese University of Hong Kong, majoring
in Accounting. He is a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Chartered Association of Certified Accountants in
England. Mr. Yick has over 30 years of experience in audit, direct investment,
investment banking and corporate advisory services.

Mr. Yick also serves as an independent non-executive director and chairman
of the audit committee of Shenzhen Neptunus Interlong Bio-technique Co.,
Ltd. and Shanghai International Shanghai Growth Investment Limited (both
are listed on the Stock Exchange). Since August 2015, Mr. Yick has been
appointed as independent non-executive director, convener of the nomination
committee and member of the strategy committee and the audit committee of
Chengdu Xingrong Environment Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange.
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Cheng lJinshu, aged 63, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of our Company in December 2008. Mr. Cheng is the professor
director of Science and Technology Division and director of the Green
Construction Material & Manufacture Project Research Institute of Ministry
of Education of Wuhan University of Technology. He was the vice-dean
of Material Project Department, vice-dean of Material College and vice-
director of Silicate Material Project, key laboratory of the Ministry of
Education of Wuhan University of Technology. Mr. Cheng graduated from
the Hubei Construction Industry College, now known as Wuhan University
of Technology, majoring in glass fiber in September 1976. Mr. Cheng has 34
years’ education and academic research experience relating to construction
materials.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Xiong Shi, aged 52, is the Chief Engineer of our Group. He is responsible
for the research and development of technology. He has more than 12
years’ experience in the glass manufacturing sector and more then 16 years’
experience in the curtain wall engineering sector. Mr. Xiong joined our Group
as a project manager in August 1995. From November 2001, Mr. Xiong
assumed the position of Chief Engineer of Zhuhai Singyes until August 2007.
Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Xiong was the manager of the quality testing
department at Zhuhai Singyes Safety Glass from 1988 to 1995. Mr. Xiong
also worked as a technical officer at a state-owned glass manufacturing
enterprise, Xiangfan City Glass Factory, from 1986 to 1988. Mr. Xiong was
certified as a Level 1 Project Manager by the PRC Ministry of Construction
in December 2000. Mr. Xiong was certified as a senior engineer in respect
of construction materials by the Guangdong Province Personnel Bureau in
December 2001. Mr. Xiong obtained a bachelor’s degree in engineering from
Wuhan Industrial University, now known as Wuhan University of Technology,
majoring in inorganic materials engineering in July 1986. In December
2007, Mr. Xiong was registered as a constructor by the PRC Ministry of
Construction.
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Zhuo Jianming, aged 55, is the deputy general manager of Zhuhai Singyes.
He has approximately 14 years’ experience in the curtain wall engineering
sector. He joined our Group as project manager in February 2000. From
January 2001, Mr. Zhuo assumed the position of deputy general manager
of production of Zhuhai Singyes. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Zhuo was
certified as a Level 1 Project Manager by the PRC Ministry of Construction
in March 2002. Mr. Zhuo obtained a bachelor’s degree in engineering and
construction from Xi’an Jiaotong University in 1983.

Zhao Feng, aged 50, is the deputy general manager of Zhuhai Singyes since
August 2007. He is also a director of Zhuhai Singyes. He joined our Group
as a sales and marketing manager in December 2002. He has approximately
12 years of experience in the construction sector and approximately 11
years’ experience in the curtain wall engineering sector. Prior to joining
our Group, Mr. Zhao worked as an engineer of Hubei Province Shashi
Construction Materials Scientific Research Institute from 1987 to 1995. Mr.
Zhao was certified as a Senior Engineer in respect of construction materials
by the Guangdong Province Personnel Bureau in December 2004. Mr.
Zhao obtained a bachelor’s degree in Engineering from Wuhan Industrial
University, now known as Wuhan University of Technology, majoring in
materials science in July 1987. Mr. Zhao became the general manager of
Zhuhai Singyes Renewable Energy Co., Ltd, and responsible for managing its
daily operation.

Wang Zhijun, aged 40, is the chief financial officer of our Company since
May 2008. He has 15 years of experience in financial accounting. He joined
Zhuhai Singyes as a financial accountant in September 1998 immediately
after he graduated from Qingdao University. From 2002 to 2006, Mr. Wang
acted as the chief accountant of the accounting department of Zhuhai
Singyes and became the financial manager of Zhuhai Singyes in June 2006.
Mr. Wang qualified as a registered assistant accountant in the PRC in August
1999.
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Zhang Chao, aged 43, is the operating general manager of Zhuhai Singyes.
Mr. Zhang joined our Group in December 2002 as the manager of the
business department of Zhuhai Singyes. He has approximately 12 years of
experience in the construction sector and approximately 11 years’ experience
in the curtain wall engineering sector. Mr. Zhang graduated from Qigihaer
Railway Transportation Employee University majoring in industry and civil
construction in July 1995. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Zhang worked as a
construction budgeteer at Heilongjiang Province Hei He City Railway (Group)
Company from 1995 to 2002. In January 2006, Mr. Zhang was certified as
a constructor by the Guangdong Province Personnel Bureau. Mr. Zhang
was also certified as a National Construction Appraiser by the Construction
Department in 2003 and construction engineer by Zhuhai Personnel Bureau
in 2005. In December 2007, Mr. Zhong was registered as a constructor by
the PRC Ministry of Construction.

Luo Duo, aged 37, is the chief engineer of Zhuhai Singyes. She joined
our Group as a designer in July 2001. She has approximately 12 years of
experience in the curtain wall engineering sector. Ms. Luo worked as the
vice-director of design institute of Zhuhai Singyes from November 2004 to
December 2006 and the director of design institute from January 2007 to
January 2008. In February 2008 she was appointed as the chief engineer
of Zhuhai Singyes. Ms. Luo was certified as a Class 2 Registered Structural
Engineer by the PRC Ministry of Construction in January 2005. Ms. Luo
was certified as a Plan-Design Engineer by the Zhuhai Personnel Bureau
in February 2008. Ms. Luo obtained a bachelor’s degree in Construction
Engineering from Qingdao Construction Engineery College in July 2001.
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Liang Binggiang, aged 38, is the deputy general manager of Zhuhai Singyes
and responsible for the development of the overseas market. He has more
than 13 years of experience in the curtain wall engineering sector. He joined
our Group as a designer in April 2002. Mr. Liang worked as the director
of design department of Zhuhai Singyes Beijing representative office from
July 2004 to July 2006 and he worked for Zhongshan Shengxing Curtain
Wall Company Ltd from August 2000 to March 2002. In August 2006, he
was appointed as the manager of the photo-electricity business department
of Zhuhai Singyes. In April 2008, he was appointed as the deputy general
manager of Singyes Renewable Energy. Mr. Liang was certified as an
Assistant Engineer by the Zhongshan Personnel Bureau in October 2001.
Mr. Liang was certified as a Construction Design Engineer by the Zhuhai
Personnel Bureau in January 2006. Mr. Liang obtained a bachelor’'s degree
in construction engineering from Tianjin Institute of Urban Construction in
July 2000.

YU Chon Man, aged 38, was appointed as the financial controller, qualified
accountant and company secretary of our Company in June 2008. He
is responsible for financial reporting and general investor affairs of our
Company. He has approximately 16 years of experience in financial
accounting. Mr. Yu is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. Prior to joining us, he had approximately seven years of working
experience with international audit firms and was mainly responsible for
financial auditing, internal control reporting and compliance advisory. He
graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a bachelor’s
degree (Hons) in accountancy in 2001.

Mr. Yu also serves as an independent non-executive director and chairman of
audit committee of Time2U International Holding Limited (stock code: 1327),
and the independent non-executive director of Winto Group (Holding) Limited
(stock code: 8238).

COMPANY SECRETARY

YU Chon Man, is our company secretary. For further details regarding Mr.
Yu, please see the paragraph headed “Senior Management” above.
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The directors (the “Directors”) of China Singyes Solar Technologies Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) have pleasure to present the annual report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2015.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda on 24 October 2003 as an
exempted company with limited liability. The registered office of the Company
is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda.
The Company has established a principal place of business in Hong Kong
at Unit 3108, 31st Floor, China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 168-
200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong, and was registered with the
Registrar of Companies in Hong Kong as an oversea company under Part
Xl of the Companies Ordinance on 29 August 2008. Mr. Yu Chon Man has
been appointed as the authorised representative of the Company for the
acceptance of service of process and notices on behalf of the Company in
Hong Kong.

As the Company is incorporated in the Bermuda, the operation of the
Company is subject to the Companies Law and to its constitution comprising

a memorandum of association and the bye-laws.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The Group is a
professional renewable energy system integrator and building contractor, it is
principally engaged in the design, fabrication and installation of conventional
curtain walls and solar projects. Solar projects included building integrated
photovoltaic (“BIPV”) system, roof top solar system and ground mounted
solar system (collectively “Solar EPC”). The BIPV system involves (i) the
integration of photovoltaic technology into the architectural design of buildings
and structures and (ii) conversion of solar energy into electricity for use. In
addition, the Group also engages in the production and sale of renewable
energy goods, including smart grid system, and solar thermal system. The
Group’s principal operating market is in Mainland China.

Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 17 to the financial statements. There were no significant changes in the
nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year.

PRI ARG RERMER AR AR ([ ARF )
EX((EF ) MARZEARRAREKBERA
(h [AEE]) 2 FRERBE_T—RF
T-A=Z+—RLEFENEERSEEVBER
=

FEEEMHE

RRARR_BZE=ZF TR THHRBRE
AR ARREBRETAR - AARF
¥t =gz A& Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda ° NARIAE BT
FEEHR168ZE 2005k FR P OBl B AR ES3]
B3I ER VBB ETZLEMI WHR =T
ZNAENAZT N BRIEA G ZEX R
EBNREMEERELABINAF - RIEH
FECDRBZARARRIEERE  REARQA
EEBERERRBE

RRAR R B REEMAS - FtE2ER
RRAREREARER (REAREREAE R
ABRI) PTALAR ©

FEEH

ARBRREZERARTR] - AEBEEXENAH
EREREGERE MEEARRE  TERER
it BUERLKEGREIAMGEER - K5
BEIR B BRI EE B ([eREE—
e ) R BEIRRGRRASNIMEAGEE
uh (R [ RFGREEPC]) « SIRRE—#1L
RS R(OBFTREERMAERMERER
PR — R R () B RSB BRI A ERE -
AN - AEEE RS A A A AR EE AR AR EE 3K
% BREEEERAGRKGRELRRS - KN
SENETRELTIHESBEAME -

BB A TR BRI SRR RN
17 ARENTEEGHERFRNLRE
KD -



50

China Singyes Solar Technologies Holdings Limited Annual Report 2015

N’

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFEREE

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group’s top five customers are the main contractors of various public
or commercial BIPV or curtain wall or solar form investors. In aggregate, the
largest and top five customers contributed approximately 12.4% and 39.4%
of the Group’s total revenue in 2015 respectively.

The Group currently outsources part of the construction works for various
sub-contractors in the PRC, as well as sourcing PV penal, aluminium and
glass from suppliers inside the PRC. In 2015, the top five suppliers include
material suppliers and sub-contractors, sub-contracting fees paid or material
purchase to its largest and five largest suppliers were about 13.3% and
29.1% of the Group’s total cost of sale in 2015 respectively.

At no time during the year have the Directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any interest in these
major suppliers and/or customers.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries which principally affect
the results as at 31 December 2015 are set out in note 1 to the financial
statements.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND DIVIDENDS

The profits of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015 and the
Company'’s and the Group’s financial positions as at the same date are set out
in the financial statements on pages 69 to 232. The Directors recommend
the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2015 of
HK$0.03 per share (2014: HK$0.09 per share).

There was no arrangement under which a shareholder of the Company has
waived or agreed to waive any dividends.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserve of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
page 199 of the annual report and in note 35 to the financial statements
respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Final dividend amounting to RMB17,469,000 was declared by reduction
in distributable reserve. As at 31 December 2015, the Company's reserves
available for distribution calculated in accordance with the provisions of the
applicable law of Bermuda, amounting to RMB21,057,000.

INTEREST BEARING BANK LOANS

Particulars of interest bearing bank loans of the Group as at 31 December
2015 are set out in note 28 to the financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of acquisitions and other movements in property, plant and equipment
are set out in note 13 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the year
are set out in note 33 to the financial statements. Save for the issue of
HKD250 million senior notes, the repurchase of face value of RMB6,000,000
convertible bonds for a consideration of USD837,000 and the repurchase
of 1,369,000 shares of the Company within prices ranging from HK$4.33 to
HK$4.55 per share in the open market, the Company and its subsidiaries
did not purchase, sell or redeem any listed securities of the Company. The
Company also issued 384,000 shares at the exercising price of HK$3.58 per
share and 650,000 shares at the exercising price of HK$2.78 per share on
exercise of share options.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY LEMBRE
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for AEBBEREMBFEENEEANEERSA
the last 5 financial years is set out on page 4 of the annual report. BEOME - SIRAFHRELIE -
DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE EEREERBEY
CONTRACTS
The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of this report were: AP BREFEREEAREBHILENESNT :
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. LIU Hongwei RIAT M
Mr. SUN Jinli BB hE
Mr. XIE Wen WX kE
Non-Executive Directors FRITES
Mr. LI Huizhong eREE
Mr. CAO Zhirong BRSNS E
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIAHPITES
Dr. WANG Ching T RiEL:
Mr. YICK Wing Fat, Simon GBS E
Mr. CHENG Jinshu BefkE
In accordance with Bye-law 87 of the Bye-laws of the Company, Mr. Sun Jinli, BEARNTZBANES7 & HeBkE &

Mr. Cao Zhirong and Dr. Wang Ching are required to retire by rotation at the FEREERTRIETRERRRBFRAE LA
forthcoming annual general meeting. Each of the above Directors will offer WERA - S ESHREERRAFTRKE

themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting. RS -
REMUNERATION POLICY FriM Bk

The remuneration policy for the Directors and senior management members AEBZEERERERENKE 2K
of the Group was based on their individual performance as well as market REHEBERRRULTSEBE LEHFIUNE
trends and practices. Details of the remuneration of the Directors are set out e BERZHMETIBEERN RS VIS MERM T
in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements. 8 °
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The emoluments paid to the senior management (excluding the Directors)
during the year ended 31 December 2015 were within the following bands:

Bands EE

REBE-Z-—RAFTA=+—HILFE - X
NeRERRE(TEREES) 2HMN FRIA
THE

Number of
Senior Management

BRTEERE

RMB500,001 to RMB1,000,000
RMB1,000,001 to RMB1,500,000
RMB2,000,001 to RMB2,500,000

AR 500,001 ;T ZE AR 1,000,000 7T
AER# 1,000,001 oE AR 1,500,000 7T 2
AR 2,000,001 7TE AR 2,500,000 7T

Total: A&t

12

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
the Company for a term of 3 years, which is renewable automatically for
successive terms of 3 years each commencing from the day immediately
after the expiry of the then current term of the appointment unless terminated
by not less than 3 months’ notice in writing served by either party. Each of
the non-executive Directors were appointed for a term of three years, which
is renewable automatically for successive terms of 1 year each commencing
from the day next after the expiry of the then current term of the appointment
unless terminated by not less than 2 months’ notice in writing served by either
party. Each of the independent non-executive Directors were appointed for
a term of three years which is terminable by either party by giving the other
party not less than 2 months’ prior notice in writing. None of the Directors
has a service agreement with the Company which is not determinable by
the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

The remuneration of directors are determined by the remuneration committee
of the Company and by reference to the remuneration policies of other
companies in similar capacity and the experience of the directors.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 19 December 2008, the Company adopted a share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”). Under the Share Option Scheme, the board of
Directors (the “Board”) may at its discretion, offer eligible persons (being any
Director or employee (whether full-time or part-time), consultant or advisors
of the Group who in the sole discretion of the Board has contributed or will
contribute to the Group) (the “Eligible Persons”) who the Board may in its
absolute discretion select to subscribe for such number of Shares as the
Board may determine at a subscription price determined in accordance with
the Share Option Scheme.

Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide incentive or reward
to Eligible Persons for their contribution to, and continuing efforts to promote
the interests of, the Group and for such other purposes as the Board may
approve from time to time.

Total number of Shares available under the Share Option
Scheme

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme is 16,974,000 shares,
representing 2.44% of the Company’s issued share capital as at the date of
this report. The Company granted 30,816,000 options with exercise price of
HK$3.58 per share on 23 July 2009, 7,200,000 options with exercise price
of HK$2.78 per share on 27 May 2010, 7,200,000 options with exercise
price of HK$2.68 per share on 11 October 2011 and 6,000,000 options with
exercise price of HK$11.70 per share on 22 May 2015, respectively. Options
quantity and exercise prices were adjusted pursuant to an announcement
of the Company dated 27 July 2012. Please refer to note 34 of the financial
statement, for the year ended 31 December 2015 for details of the options
granted.
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Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Participant

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option scheme(s) of the Company (including exercised, cancelled
and outstanding options) to each Eligible Person in any 12-month period up
to the date of grant shall not exceed 1.0% of the shares in issue as at the
date of grant. Any further grant of options in excess of this 1.0% limit shall
be subject to the issue of a circular by the Company and the approval of our
Shareholders in general meeting with such Eligible Persons and his associate
(as defined in the Listing Rules) abstaining from voting and the number and
terms (including the subscription price) of such options being fixed before
such general meeting and other requirements prescribed under the Listing
Rules from time to time.

Time of exercise of option

There is no general requirement that an option must be held for any
minimum period before it can be exercised but the Board is empowered to
impose at its discretion any such minimum period at the time of grant of any
particular option. The Board is currently unable to determine such minimum
period. The date of grant of any particular option is the date on which the
offer relating to such option is duly accepted by the grantee in accordance
with the Share Option Scheme. An option may be exercised according to the
terms of the Share Option Scheme and the offer in whole or in part by the
grantee (or his personal representatives) before its expiry by giving notice
in writing to our Company stating that the option is to be exercised and the
number of Shares in respect of which it is exercised provided that the number
of Shares shall be equal to the size of a board lot for dealing in Shares on
the Stock Exchange or an integral multiple thereof. Such notice must be
accompanied by a remittance for the full amount of the subscription price for
the Shares in respect of which the notice is given. The period during which
an option may be exercised will be determined by the Board at its absolute
discretion, save that no option may be exercised more than 10 years from
the date of grant. No option may be granted more than 10 years after the
date of approval of the Share Option Scheme. Subject to earlier termination
by the Company in general meeting, the Share Option Scheme shall be valid
and effective for a period of 10 years from the date of adoption of the Share
Option Scheme by Shareholders by resolution at a general meeting.
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Price of Shares

The subscription price for a share in respect of any particular option granted
under the Share Option Scheme (which shall be payable upon exercise of
the option) shall be such price as the Board shall determine, save that such
price must not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of offer
to grant option, which must be a business day; (ii) the average of the closing
prices of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of offer to grant
option (provided that the new issue price shall be used as the closing price
for any business day falling within the period before the listing of the shares
where our Company has been listed for less than five business days as at
the date of offer to grant option); and (iii) the nominal value of a Share. A
consideration of RMB1.00 is payable on acceptance of an offer of the grant
of an option.

Remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

The Company, by resolution in general meeting, or the Board may at any
time terminate the operation of the Share Option Scheme and in such event
no further option will be offered but in all other respects the provisions of
the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and effect and options
granted prior to such termination shall continue to be valid and exercisable in
accordance with the Share Option Scheme.

During the year, 384,000 shares were issued at HK$3.58 each on exercise of
share options granted on 23 July 2009 and 650,000 shares were issued at
HK$2.78 each on exercise of share options granted on 27 May 2010. Save
as disclosed above, there was no exercise of any conversion or subscription
rights under any convertible securities, options, warrants or similar rights
issued or granted at any time by the Company or any of its subsidiaries
during the year ended 31 December 2015.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 8 August 2014, the Company issued 930 units of 5% convertible bonds
due 8 August 2019 with a nominal value of RMB930,000,000. The Company
repurchased face value of RMB6,000,000 of CB for a consideration of
USD837,000 during the year.
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The salient terms and conditions of the CB are as follows:

()

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Interest rate

The Company shall pay an interest on the CB at 5.0% per annum.

Conversion price

The CB will be convertible into the Company’s ordinary shares at the
initial conversion price of HK$16.11 per share, subject to adjustments.
Amongst others, consolidation, subdivision or reclassification of shares,
capitalisation of profits or reserves, capital distribution, rights issues of
shares or options over shares, rights issues of other securities, issues at
less than the current market price, other issues at less than the current
market price, modification of rights of conversion etc., other offers to
shareholders, change of control and other usual adjustment events.
The conversion price may not be reduced so that the conversion
shares would fall to be issued at a discount to their par value.

Maturity

Unless previously redeemed, converted, or purchased and cancelled,
the Company will redeem each of the CB at the US Dollar equivalent of
the RMB principal amount on 8 August 2019.

Redemption at the option of the Company
The Company may:

(1) Upon giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice to
the bondholders, at any time after 8 August 2017 but not less
than 14 days prior to the maturity date redeem the bonds in
whole but not in part at a redemption price at the US Dollar
equivalent of the RMB principal amount plus accrued and
unpaid interest to such date; provided that no such redemption
may be made unless the closing price of the shares (translated
into RMB at the RMB:HK$ fixed rate as set out in the terms and
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(v)

(vi)

conditions of the CB) for 20 out of 30 consecutive trading days
ending on a date which is no more than three stock exchange
business immediately prior to the date upon which notice of
such redemption is given, was at least 130%. of the conversion
price then in effect (translated into RMB at the RMB:HK$ fixed
rate as set out in the terms and conditions of the CB); or

(2)  Upon giving not less than 30 nor more than 90 days’ notice
to the bondholders and the Trustee (which notice will be
irrevocable), the Company may at any time redeem all, but not
some only, of the bonds for the time being outstanding at the US
Dollar equivalent of the RMB principal amount plus accrued and
unpaid interest to such date provided that prior to the date of
such notice at least 90%. in RMB principal amount of the bonds
originally issued have already been converted, redeemed or
purchased and cancelled.

Redemption at the option of the holders

The Company will, at the option of the holder of any CB, redeem all
or some only of such holder's CB on 8 August 2017 at the US Dollar
equivalent of the RMB principal amount.

Redemption of delisting or change of control

Following the occurrence of a change of control (means when Mr.
Liu Hongwei cease for any reason to be the majority shareholder of
the Company or any other events lead to the significant change of
the ownership structure of that the Company, “Change of Control”)
or delisting of the Company (including suspension of trading of the
Shares on the stock exchange for a period equal to or more than
20 consecutive trading days) (the “Relevant Event”), the holder will
have the right to require the Company to redeem all, or but not some
only, of such holder’s CB at the US Dollar equivalent of the RMB
principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest to the date fixed for
redemption.

(v)

(vi)
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

None of the Directors or their respective associate (as defined under the
Listing Rules) was granted by the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, any
rights or options to acquire Shares or debentures during the year ended
31 December 2015.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Save for the issue of HKD250 million senior notes, the repurchase of
face value of RMB6,000,000 convertible bonds for a consideration of
USD837,000 and the repurchase of 1,369,000 shares of the Company within
prices ranging from HK$4.33 to HK$4.55 per share in the open market, the
Company and its subsidiaries did not purchase, sell or redeem any listed
securities of the Company during the year.

INTEREST AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
DIRECTORS AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVES OF THE
COMPANY IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2015, so far as the Directors are aware, the Directors
and chief executives of the Company and their associates had the following
interests in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
and its associated corporations (within the meaning of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) which (i) were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein; or (iii) were required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange:
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Company/name
of associated

corporation Number of Approximate %
Name AT HEE Capacity Type of interest shares of shareholding
i EEETE St R BRZEE REBAE 9L
Mr. Liu Hongwei Company Interest of a controlled Long 246,603,078 35.48%
2UATHESTHE ViN/NE] corporation ! A
SN
Company Beneficial interest ? Long 1,380,000 0.20%
AT fay ok &E
Sub-total: Long 247,983,078 35.68%
2 K&
Mr. Sun Jinli Company Beneficial interest 2 Long 1,380,000 0.20%
Relit ZAN/NG| B 2 RE
Mr. Xie Wen Company Beneficial interest 2 Long 1,380,000 0.20%
@ Xk AE RAT] Bt ? rA
Mr. Li Huizhong Company Beneficial interest 2 Long Nil Nil
XSt AT B 2 RE i i
Mr. Wang Ching Company Beneficial interest 2 Long 120,000 0.02%
T REE RAT] Bt 2 rA
Mr. Yick Wing Fat, ~ Company Beneficial interest 2 Long 240,000 0.03%
Simon Wi N/NE] B 2 kA
GBS
Mr. Cheng Jinshu Company Beneficial interest 2 Long 240,000 0.03%
e RAT] Bt 2 rAE
Notes: FIE

il These 246,603,078 Shares are held by Strong Eagle Holdings Ltd. whose share 1.
capital is 53% owned by Mr. Liu Hongwei. Mr. Liu Hongwei is deemed to be
interested in these Shares by virtue of the SFO.

2 Such interests represent the options of the Company held by the relevant 2

% 246,603,078 % %17 i Strong Eagle Holdings
Ltd. $F & - if1 2 4T # 5t 4 % B Strong Eagle
Holdings Ltd. & A2 53% * RIFEH R PE
BBl B ERRARZERD P HE
R o

ZEER DA HEEMRENAREIRBAE -
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INTEREST AND SHORT POSITIONS OF FERFRIG - HEEKR D RE
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES, SRS RER

UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2015, so far as the Directors are aware, save as disclosed R-ZT—FAF+-A=1+—H  BEEmRmEK
above, the persons or corporations (not being a Director or a chief executive B X BEEN - UTATSOER (WIERD
of the Company) who have interest or short positions in the shares and AIESREZTHAR) RAR R KR
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be BDF - BB REARIEE S RS EDIE
kept under section 336 of the SFO or have otherwise notified to the Company 36 IFBEFEMNECHOERIEE + HIRE
pursuant to the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or who BHERHAEBGHIEXVEE 2 K3 D& 2 H3E
were, directly or indirectly, interested in 10% or more of the nominal value RARARHEEZERIOAR + KEZESEEE
of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at BN AT ERER TEASE A HAA
general meetings of any other member of the Group and the amount of each KB AR ZRERE LR 2 EAERIIRAE
of such persons’ interest in such securities, together with any options in BE10% sk A FHEsm - URZFEALTEBRZ

respect of such capital, were as follows: EEHUE R E  ERBAZERAY
K2 RS AREA T

Capacity/nature Approximate %

Long/short of interest Number of shareholding

Shareholder position S/ of shares BHERE LY

BxE R &8 R KRBEE =574

Strong Eagle Holdings Ltd. ! Long position Beneficial owner 246,603,078 35.48%
®AE EmBAA

1. Strong Eagle Holdings Ltd. is owned by Mr. Liu Hongwei, Mr. Sun Jinli, Mr. Xie 1. Strong Eagle Holdings Ltd. % Bl B3 £ 4T 4 5t
Wen, Mr. Xiong Shi, Mr. Zhuo Jianming and Mr. Li Huizhong, as to 53%, 15%, g BeBEAE - BIXSE - BRREEE
11%, 8%, 9% and 4% respectively. BREENTEHEILEHEBS3% 15%

11% ~ 8% ~ 9% K4 % KRR -
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NON-COMPETITION

The Directors confirm that they have no interest in any business (apart from
the Group’s business) which competes or is likely to compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the Group’s business.

The interested Director shall abstain from the meeting where there is actual
or potential conflict in interest.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance to which the Company, its holding company, or
any of its fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries was a party subsisted at the end
of the year or at any time during the year ended 31 December 2015.

No contract of significance in which a Director is or was materially interested,
either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year ended 31 December 2015.

No contract of significance for the provision of services to the Company or
any of its subsidiaries by our controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year ended
31 December 2015.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

No transactions as set out in the “Related party transactions” in note 39 to
the financial statements are subject to the reporting, announcement and/or
independent shareholders’ approval under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Byelaws,
or the law of Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which the Company is
incorporated.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listing Issuer as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as
the code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors. Upon
the enquiry made by the Company all Directors confirmed that they had
complied with the Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2015.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are set
out in the Corporate Governance Report contained in this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee on 19 December 2008 with
terms of references adopted on 19 December 2008 in compliance with the
Code set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. The members of the audit
committee are the three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Yick
Wing Fat, Simon, an independent non-executive Director, is the Chairman
of the audit committee. The audit committee is to serve as a focal point for
communication between other directors, the external auditor and the internal
auditor (where an internal audit function exists) of the Company as regards
their duties relating to financial and other reporting, internal controls, external
and internal audits and such other financial and accounting matters as the
Board determines from time to time. The audit committee is to assist the
Board in providing an independent review of the effectiveness of the financial
reporting process, internal control and risk management system of the Group,
overseeing the audit process and performing other duties and responsibilities
as may be assigned by the Board from time to time. The audit committee has
reviewed the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2015, including the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group. For further details of the audit committee and other
committees of the Board, please refer to the section headed “Corporate
Governance Report” from pages 8 to 22.
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KEY FINANCIAL AND BUSINESS PERFORMANCE
INDICATORS

The key financial and business performance indicators comprise profitability
trend and gearing ratio. Details of profitability analysis are shown in
“Management Discussion and Analysis” section of this annual report. Details
of gearing ratio analysis are shown in Note 45 (Financial Risk Management
Objectives and Policies) to the Financial Statements in this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

The Group is committed to contributing to the sustainability of the
environment and maintaining a high standard of corporate social governance
essential for creating a framework for motivating staff, and contributes to the
community in which we conduct our businesses and creating a sustainable
return to the Group.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group has implemented energy saving practices in its offices and
premises where applicable. The Group also plans to upgrade its air-
conditioning and electricity systems to achieve the energy saving and
provision of clear air to workplace where possible.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The Group also understands that it is important to maintain good relationship
with its suppliers and customers to fulfil its long-term goals and development.
To maintain its brand competitiveness and market status, the Group
aims at delivering consistently high standards of quality in the service to
its customers. During the year ended 31 December 2015, there was no
material and significant dispute between the Group and its suppliers and/or

customers.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group has compliance and risk management policies and procedures,
and members of the senior management are delegated with the continuing
responsibility to monitor adherence and compliance with all significant legal
and regulatory requirements. These policies and procedures are reviewed
regularly. As far as the Company is aware, it has complied in material aspects
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
business and operation of the Company and its subsidiaries.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The Group’s success also depends on the support from key stakeholders
which comprises employees, customers and shareholders.

Employees

Employees are regarded as the most important and valuable assets of
the Group. The objective of the Groups’ human resource management
is to reward and recognize performing staff by providing a competitive
remuneration package and implementing a sound performance appraisal
system with appropriate incentives, and to promote career development and
progression by appropriate training and providing opportunities within the
Group for career advancement.

Customers

The Group has the mission to provide excellent and creative customer service
whilst maintain our long-term profitability, business and asset growth. Various
means have been established to strength the communication between the
customers and the Group in the provision of quality customer service towards

market penetration and expansion.

Shareholders

One of our corporate goals of the Group is to enhance corporate value to
shareholders. The Group is poised to foster business developments for
achieving the sustainability of earnings growth and rewarding shareholders by
stable dividend payouts taking into account capital adequacy levels, liquidity
positions and business expansion needs of the Group.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFEREE

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, the Company has maintained the prescribed
public float of not less than 25% of the issued share capital of the Company
pursuant to the Listing Rules and as agreed with the Stock Exchange, based
on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-Executive
Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules and considers all the Independent Non-Executive Directors
to be independent.

AUDITOR

The financial statements of the Company for the year have been audited by
Ernst & Young which will retire, and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

A resolution for the re-appointment of Ernst & Young as auditor of the
Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

By order of the Board
LIU Hongwei

Chairman
Hong Kong, 30 March 2016
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

B A2 E RS

e
EY:

To the shareholders of China Singyes Solar Technologies Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Singyes
Solar Technologies Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
set out on pages 69 to 232, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2015, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Ernst & Young
22/F, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue
Central, Hong Kong

Tel: +852 2846 9888
Fax: +852 2868 4432
www.ey.com
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E5E: +852 2846 9888
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

B AZHEN RS

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries as at 31
December 2015, and of their financial performance and cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

30 March 2016
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

%Zr/\ |:|\/

Year ended 31 December 2015 Eki_ z

Hft 2 E W @R

—hFEtZA=t—RHILFE

2015 2014
—¥-1F —aE
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BaE AREFT ARETT

REVENUE 9N 4 4,182,049 5,011,426
Cost of sales $HE A (3,297,666) (3,962,402)
Gross profit EF 884,383 1,049,024
Tariff adjustment EEFE 4 57,387 31,734
Other income and gains E A A Rz 5 172,210 201,887
Selling and distribution expenses HE MO HEAX (108,290) (88,988)
Administrative expenses 1TBAX (385,984) (270,689)
Other expenses HEAx (13,067) (101,851)
Finance costs A& R AR 6 (316,911) (237,923)
Share of losses of associates PMEHE N REE (5,944) -
Fair value gains on conversion AR & H i

rights of convertible bonds B~ FE M 29(b) 163,586 115,719
PROFIT BEFORE TAX g aedl 7 447,370 698,913
Income tax expense FriSHiZ 10 (89,924) (114,074)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR SE R F 357,446 584,839
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS: Hit 2 EES :
Other comprehensive loss to be eRBERFEENSEE

reclassified to profit or loss in BamEMtMEmEESE

subsequent years:
Available-for-sale investments: AMEHERE

Changes in fair value NEEEE) (5,228) -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

relEmRkHEMEERER

Year ended 31 December 2015 HEZ =T —AF+=-A=+—HILFE

2015 2014
—E—hF ZE—F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BaE AREFT ARETT
Other comprehensive loss not to be TanEEFEEE
reclassified to profit or loss in FoEEEEN
subsequent years: Hiv 2 MRS
Exchange differences on translation of BB EERER A
financial statements MEH Z%E (53,041) (4,388)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS XEFHMG2EEBE
FOR THE YEAR (58,269) (4,388)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AEE2EILEEEEE
FOR THE YEAR 299,177 580,451
Profit attributable to: LA AT =F)
Owners of the Company AKRRER A 355,986 584,269
Non-controlling interests IR AE RS 1,460 570
357,446 584,839
Total comprehensive income attributable to: A ™ AL &L 2 U EE%E ¢
Owners of the Company PANCIEZS N 297,717 579,881
Non-controlling interests AR AE RS 1,460 570
299,177 580,451
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE FAFEERELSFEA
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF FEiEERET
THE COMPANY AT
Basic R 12 RMB0.512 RMBO0.842
AR¥0.5127T AR#0.842 T
Diluted e 112 RMBO0.376 RMBO0.687
AR¥0.376 ¢ AR#0.687 T
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
PR

31 December 2015 —Z—HF+=-A=+—8H

2015 2014
—T-4f —T—mE
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
k3 ARETR ARBFIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FERBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - BEMRE 13 3,835,238 3,455,071
Prepaid land lease payments TER AR EFIE 14 96,136 97,513
Intangible assets EREE 15 3,486 1,594
Payments in advance Jaft A 16 30,137 193,224
Goodwill EES 17 - -
Investments in associates REEE R RIRE 18 (4,744) -
Deferred tax assets FEREFIAE E 31 34,107 32,508
Available-for-sale investments AMEHERE 19 51,000 12,258
Total non-current assets IRBEERE 4,045,360 3,792,168
CURRENT ASSETS mENEE
Inventories TE 20 93,171 114,586
Construction contracts BEAR 21 927,498 284,485
Trade and bills receivables W B 5 58 e R 22 2,292,195 2,160,501
Prepayments, deposits and FERFIE - FIe Rk
other receivables E e GRIE 23 652,390 455,266
Pledged deposits TR 24 376,055 500,327
Cash and cash equivalents BeKReEEY 24 1,265,303 901,417
Total current assets REEERE 5,606,612 4,416,582
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade and bills payables BN E S FE R ENEE 25 903,503 1,284,332
Other payables and accruals H A EAS 508 K ERT RRIR 26 331,289 314,354
Derivative financial instruments PTESmIT A 27 = 3,042
Bank advances for discounted bills BHIRZR ZIRTTER 42(a) 251,699 184,378
Interest-bearing bank and other loans g 2 ERIT R EME R 28 1,040,777 987,521
Tax payable FEAS PSR 12,747 17,628
Total current liabilities RENE EEE 2,540,015 2,791,255
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e AR R

31 December 2015 —Z—HF+=-A=+—8H

2015 2014
—E—hF ZE—F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BaE ARBTR AREEFTT
NET CURRENT ASSETS RENEEFE 3,066,597 1,625,327
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEEERREEE
LIABILITIES 7,111,957 5,417,495
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRENEE
Convertible bonds AR &S 29 697,569 816,269
Senior notes BREE 30 746,692 542,822
Interest-bearing bank and other loans M BIRITREMERK 28 1,541,906 391,679
Deferred tax liabilities FEREFIEAE 31 86,860 86,360
Deferred income IRIE Wz 32 537,807 439,273
Total non-current liabilities JEmBBERE 3,610,834 2,276,903
Net assets EESE 3,501,123 3,140,592
EQUITY i
Equity attributable to owners XA AEILHER
of the Company
Issued capital BEITIRA 33 46,443 46,466
Reserves B 35 3,378,179 3,093,520
3,424,622 3,139,986
Non-controlling interests e R 76,501 606
Total equity HER4EE 3,501,123 3,140,592
Mr. Liu Hongwei Mr. Xie Wen
Bl kA Bk
Director Director
=2 2
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

REREmEER

Year ended 31 December 2015 HEZ =T —AF+=-A=+—HILFE

Atributable to owners of the Company

KRATERARE
Diference
arising from
acquistion
Safety of non-
fund confroling
Share Statutory Enterprise Share surplus Exchange Inferests* Non-
Issued premium fesene expansion option resene”  fluctuation e controling
capital account® — Contrbuted fund* fund* Tesere” Fea Teserie” Retained R inferests Total
B¥f i surpus* isd i3 BRE  HeRR Ef i BREEE Todl #ik equity
& HEE  SAR%  HEES  ERES: G GE FEEE  REETN LEE ) B BRSE
RMBO00 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMBI000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMBO00 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
ARETT  ARETr  ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR AR
(note 33) (note35(@)  (note 330 (noe35(c)  {note 35(d)
(F33) (W) (sn) (s ()
At T January 2014 HoT-RE-F-4 iy 678,024 10,194 718 8778 28168 - 318 1731325 102 259,076 % 259,112
Proftfor the year FERER - - - - - - - - 584269 - 584,260 570 5818
Other comprefensive loss TEEEMAEEE:
forthe year:
Fichange diferences on BEMRERIELES
ranslation of financial statements - - - - - - - (4388) - - (4388) - 4388)
Totel comprehensive ncome for teyesr  REE 2N ALE - - - - - - - (43%9) 584,269 - 519881 570 580451
Erercie o shae aptions ik 209 9415 - - - - - - - - 9634 - 9631
Tensler o share opton resenve upon 7B EE SRS
the evercse of shre options ERiERE - 4430 - - - (4430 - - - - - - -
Equi-setle share option Rt EsRE ()
arrangements (note 34) - - - - - 1109 - - - - 1109 - 1109
Tansfer from retained profs SHaREE - - - 62111 3105 - - - 93167 - - - -
Tansferoconributed supls™® — EBZEAREH - 50000) 50,000 = = = - = - - - . -
Etablishment for safey fund RFURELRUGE
surplus resene N R E - - . 3448 - (73448) F . - -
Utlisaion of sefey fund surplus resene. - B %224 RH5E L = = = = = (73.448) - 73448 - - - -
Final 2013 dividend declared BER-T-E58Re - 5 (49714) 2 = = = S = - (49714) = (49714)
At 31 December 2014 WE-RETZAZ1-B 4od6 641,869 10480 13429 59,834 U817 - (1250) 220821 1021 3139986 06 3140592
#

i Retained profits have been adjusted for the proposed final 2014 dividend in

accordance with the current year’s presentation, which is described in note 2.4

to the financial statements.

BRERFBHREM T 24 PR A FEN 2R
A RBEENERBRE - —NERBRS
e FHZE -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

GAEREDR

Year ended 31 December 2015 HEZ =T —AF+=-A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FATHAARL
Difference
arising from
change
Available- Safety of non-
forsale fund controlling
Share investment ~ Statutory  Enterprise Share surplus Exchange interests* Non-
Issued  premium revaluation resene  expansion option reserve*  fluctuation i controlling
capitl  account* Contributed  reseve* fund* fnd*  resenve* %2 resene®  Refained FER interests Total
BEf Bt suplst THEERE E b2 BRE  EeER B pofis  EREE Total #k equity
ke ERR BARR  EGEE  RESS  BRAS B i RBRE  REEAT  2E it B EheE
RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARRTL ARBTR ARRTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARBTR  ARRTR  ARRTR  ARRTR
(note 34) (note 35(a)) ~ (note 35(b)) (note 35(c)) ~(note 35(d))
(hit34) (HiEE35(a)) (W35(e)) (BEE35ic))  (HEE3s()
At 1January 2015 Ro5-15-f- 46,466 641,869 10,480 - 134292 59,834 24847 - (1,250) 2,222,427 1,021 3,139,986 606 3,140,592
Profitfor the year HERER - - - - - - - - - 355,986 - 355986 1460 357,446
Other compreensive loss for the year: ~ ZEEEL2EER:
Changes in fai vaue of avalable- IHHERENATE
for-sale investments, net of tax 25 T - - - (52 - - - - - - - (52) - (528)
Eichange diferences on BENBARIEREE
translation of financial statements - - - - - - - - (53,041) - - (53,041) - (53,041
Total comprehensive income fo the year  ZEE2ENAEEE - - - (528) - - - - (53041) 355986 -9 1460 299,177
Acaquistion of non-controling YERRLAT
inerests ofsubsiciries FiERER - - - - - - - - - - (551)  (51) (3572 (35123)
Shares repurchased B (87 (4980 - - - - - - - - - (5067) - (5067
Beercise of share options fiRERE 64 2468 - - - - - - - - - 25 -5
Transferof share option resene upon - 1 (EE i8S
the exercise of share options - 127 - - - - (1,207) - - - - - - -
Equity-setled share option st v
anangements (note 34) (Hz) - - - - - - 10415 - - - - 1045 - 10415
Transfer from reained profts EeREE - - - - 47088 2159 - - - (68682) - - - -
Transfer to confrbuted surplus* N - (60,0000 60,000 - - - - - - - - - - -
Debt-for-equity conversion ERERAES - - - - - - - - - - - - 8020 28020
Capital cotribution from G
non-controling Shareholders REmLE
of a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - 903 29,013 80,987 110,000
Establishment for safety fund RURRESRUHE
surplus reseve - - - - - - - 83163 - (43163) - - - -
Utlisaton of safey fund surplus resene. - BIRZ2 B4 BobE - - - - - - - @3163) - Be s - 3 =
Final 2014 dividend declared ASR-E-MERERE - - (49423 - - g o o - - - (49423 - (49423
At 31 December 2015 RoE-RE-A=1-8 46443 580,564 21,057 (5228 181380 81428 3405 - (54201) 25509731 29483 3,424,622 76,501 3,501,123
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of i RIZEMBHRRARA  ZERBERERSE
RMB3,378,179,000 (2014: RMB3,093,520,000) in the consolidated statement AR 3,378,179,000 7L (=T — U4 :
of financial position. AFR# 3,093,520,0007T) °

A Pursuant to a resolution passed at the general meeting held on 27 May 2015, an
amount of RMB60,000,000 was transferred from the share premium account
to the contributed surplus. Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, a
company may make distributions to its shareholders out of the contributed
surplus under certain circumstances.

BER-_Z-—AFAA-_t+ERABTZRK
RAEBBZ-—HRBR 2B ARE
60,000,000t B B E EREBE ZMAR
#e RE-NN\—FAREREDE - 2AIA
EETIEATRBARSBT RAEBRRIELD
I °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
mEESRER

Year ended 31 December 2015 HEZ =T —AF+=-A=+—HILFE

2015 2014
—E—hF —E—E
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
iz AREFT ARETTT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING EEIRDELANBESRE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax BB AE N 447,370 698,913
Adjustments for: FATIEE fER A%
Depreciation e 13 134,489 110,910
Amortisation of prepaid land AN HAEE
lease payments FRIE 5 14 2,252 2,183
Amortisation of intangible assets B EERE 15 1,013 687
Impairment loss on property, Yz - BE R
plant and equipment RAEREEE 13 - 6,747
Impairment loss on trade receivables JEWE 5 BB 1B 22 26,771 278
Impairment loss on other receivables E b EUGRIE B B 18 23 2,485 1,693
Impairment loss on goodwill [EEGAEY 5! 17 9,783 -
Share of losses of associates DLEE SRR EE 18 5,944 -
Loss on settlement of HEETESMT A
derivative financial instruments HE 18 7 4,813 -
Fair value loss on derivative PTHESRIT AN
financial instruments NYEEE 27 - 3,042
Fair value gains on conversion rights of AR E S E R
convertible bonds NFEMWEE 29(b) (163,586) (115,719)
Equity-settled share option expense MR MEE  BERR R S 7 10,415 1,109
(Gains)/losses on disposal of items of HEME - BEMEE
property, plant and equipment E B/ (Yzs) EiE 7 (12,332) 72,747
Gain on disposal of an available-for-sale HEHESERARE
equity investment Eoples 5 - (1,315)
Unrealised foreign exchange gains, net REIRINE W5 FEB 6,284 447
Interest income FEUA 5 (44,948) (23,713)
Issue expenses of convertible bonds B =IBRA AR
charged to profit or loss REFEITHRX 7 - 10,102
Deferred income released to profit or loss ~ #ZE 18z MIRERA 5 (77,190) (155,685)
Finance costs BhE AN 6 316,911 237,923
670,474 850,349
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERAD, (M) 21,415 (37,957)
Increase in construction contracts LSRG (632,583) (166,615)
Increase in trade and bills receivables FEUNE 551 TE K FE U SR IR N (122,445) (346,900)
Increase in prepayments, deposits TERFIE -~ 518 REMER
and other receivables FRIEHE N (131,895) (237,271)
Decrease in trade and bills payables FERTE S8 RIENFEERR D (384,923) (8,629)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables E Ath A FRE K FERTFRIE
and accruals #n, Ond) (17,046) 31,351
Income tax paid ETFTER (96,893) (140,732)
Net cash flows used in operating activities @& /&R & HFEE (693,896) (56,404)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
an\ EE%/}H:E%%

Year ended 31 December 2015 HEZ =T —AF+=-A=+—HILFE

2015 2014
—E-AF ZE—F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B aE AREFT ARET T
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING BEEEHRaRY B8
ACTIVITIES
Purchase of items of property, BEYXE BB REKEEE
plant and equipment (436,661) (1,184,040)
Purchase of intangible assets REBFEE (2,905) (609)
Increase in prepaid land lease payments TR AR & FRIEHE AN (19,644) -
Payment for acquisition of non-controlling ~ BLUEEMIE R B FEIEAR
interests of subsidiaries 2R (42,923) -
Acquisition of a subsidiary YeiE— R B A 36 3,533 -
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—BREAR 37 25,938 -
Proceeds from disposal of an e SR
available-for-sale equity investment REFTE50E - 18,475
Purchase of available-for-sale investments BB AJ{EHERE (43,234) -
Purchase of equity interest in an associate & —[EHi & A AR IR A E R (1,200) -
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, HEWZ - BFE L& &
plant and equipment FriS 50 63,005 99,711
Settlement of derivative financial instruments & TE ST E (7,855) -
Receipt from maturity of pledged deposits ~ #E#17 Z B BIFT 1S 5/ 18 1,468,242 1,341,101
Placement of pledged deposits FABRFR (1,343,970) (1,494,906)
Interest received BUFI & 18,168 11,097
Receipt of government grants related L ER B8 EE AR A B BUS # B
to assets 175,724 39,914
Net cash flows used in investing activities & /&EB)IR R HIFRE (143,782) (1,169,257)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING MEEHEANESRE
ACTIVITIES
Net proceeds from issue of BITOMRESRFIE
convertible bonds SRIEFEE - 902,597
Net proceeds from issue of senior notes BITEAERBAEHIIEFERE 182,492 542,327
Payment for repurchase of IBE A MRES IR
convertible bonds (5,297) -
Repurchase of shares B A% 17 (5,067) -
Capital contribution from non-controlling MR B EERR RN E
shareholders of subsidiaries 110,000 -
Increase in an amount due to FES —EIM B A R IR
a non-controlling shareholder [ R FRIEIE A0
of a subsidiary - 17,153
Proceeds from exercise of share options ITE B AR FT1S 5 2,532 9,634
Proceeds from bank and other loans fETT&,ﬁ\’rlﬂféf?ﬁﬁ?%?ﬁ 2,220,649 1,252,620
Repayment of bank and other loans RITREMERZEE (1,070,347) (1,464,614)
Proceeds from bank advances BRI EIRIRTTE R ATS R
for discounted bills 251,699 234,378
Repayment of bank advances for BRIRERIRITERZEE
discounted bills (184,378) (50,000)
Payment of other financing costs STE MR E R A (4,989) (6,845)
Dividends paid BERIE (49,423) (49,714)
Interest paid BT E (245,332) (159,031)
Net cash flows from financing activities RMEEDRE KA FEE 1,202,539 1,228,505




“R-AFFR PEAXKHERMERER AR

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
an\ EE%/)H:E%%

Year ended 31 December 2015 & Z=—

E-RAF+A=+—RHILFE

2015 2014
—E—hF —EE
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BaE AREFT ARET T
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND RE&RFSEEMHEINFE
CASH EQUIVALENTS 364,861 2,844
Cash and cash equivalents at FUZREe MRS EEYD
beginning of year 897,473 894,732
Effect of foreign exchange rate [EXESHHTE  FH
changes, net 2,969 (103)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZIERFALEEY
AT END OF YEAR 1,265,303 897,473
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND R&RIR&EHEY
CASH EQUIVALENTS ES R
Cash and bank balances B MIRITET 24 1,265,303 901,417
Cash and cash equivalents as stated inthe BT R ATILER & 2
statement of financial position ReEEY 1,265,303 901,417
Bank overdrafts RITEX 28 - (3,944)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the REMEXRMAIRE K
statement of cash flows REEEY 1,265,303 897,473

Major non-cash transaction

FEFRERSH

On 30 October 2015, a balance due to a non-controlling shareholder of RZZBE—RFE+A=1TH  EN—HNBEAH
a subsidiary amounted to HK$34,200,000 (equivalent to approximately FE42R A% A% 3R 45 #2 34,200,000 7T (FEE R A
RMB28,020,000) was capitalised as share capital of that subsidiary. R#28,020,00070) Jh & Az B A a2 K&

7N o
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. ATSREEEH
China Singyes Solar Technologies Holdings Limited (the “Company”) RS KSR R TR AR A E] ([
was incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability in RARZZEE=F+AZ+WERE
Bermuda on 24 October 2003. The registered office of the Company REAMKLABRREREET AR °
is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, N A B 8 5F 9% 5 B #h 4k /% Clarendon
Bermuda. The principal place of business of the Company is located at House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM
Unit 3108, 31st Floor, China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Center, 168- 11, Bermuda ° N2 Al B & E U7
200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong. NEE T ET 168-2005 5= H 03

PRAE31#E 3108 % °

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively FRN - AREIREWBAR (FEA K
referred to as the “Group”) were principally engaged in the design, EE )T ENEERE/R I NIREE—
manufacture, supply and installation of conventional curtain walls and B RAERA - BiE - HERTE I
building integrated photovoltaic systems, as well as the manufacture MAGREMMENEE - FR - A&
and sale of solar power products. There were no significant changes in BEEEXBHMELEEREE o

the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year.

In the opinion of the directors, the parent and the ultimate holding BEERR ARAMNE QR REEE
company of the Company is Strong Eagle Holdings Limited, which is BRARAREBE XS FMAILA

incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. Strong Eagle Holdings Limited °



“R-AFFR PEAXKHERMERER AR

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
IR MY et

31 December 2015 —Z—HF+=-A=+—8H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.
(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

AT REEEH (E)

AEMBATZEH

RRAREBMBRRZFHEWAT :

Percentage
Place of of equity
incorporation/ Nominal interests
registration and value of attributable to
business paid-up the Company  Principal
Name B3l share capital AATIEIE  activities
& BAREEME BERFEE BEEstt BB
%
Directly held:
HERH:
Singyes Engineering Hong Kong HK$1 100%  Design,

(H.K.) Co., Ltd. 6 187 manufacture,
(“Singyes Engineering”) supply and
EREETIEBRAR installation of
([HETRE]) curtain walls

At~ B
MR TR RIE
Indirectly held:
R
Macao Singyes Renewable Energy Macau - 100%  Design,
Technology Co., Ltd. JBFT manufacture and
(“Macao Singyes”) assembly of
BPEEN R ER AR solar and
(MRPIEEEZE ) wind products
RET - BUER
BN ESE
[RBEEm
Zhuhai Singyes Green Building Mainland China US$ 100%  Design,
Technology Co., Ltd.@ e N73 49,000,000 manufacture,
(“Zhuhai Singyes”) 49,000,000 37T supply and

WEEEFEEENK
ARARC ([RERE])

installation of
curtain walls and
photovoltaic
power station
wat s
HERZERR
HRE
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

AT REEEH (B)

AEFAMBATZEH ()

ARREEZMBRARZFBEWT : (B)

(Continued)
Percentage
Place of of equity
incorporation/ Nominal interests
registration and value of attributable to
business paid-up the Company  Principal
Name AL share capital AATIEM  activities
&% B REEE BERFEE #nEatt IEER
%
Indirectly held: (Continued)
Mg (B
Zhuhai Singyes Renewable Mainland China us$ 100%  Research,
Energy Co., Ltd.® R A 28,125,000 development
(“Singyes Renewable Energy”) 28,125,000 37T manufacture and
WEEENERERAR® sale of photovoltaic
(=<0 products
e - BIE - BER
HEXRRER
Zhuhai Singyes Xinye Electricity Mainland China RMB 100%  Development of
Technology Co., Ltd.® PR B A 3 20,000,000 new energy
(“Singyes Xinye”") AR 20,000,000 7T materials, and
HEEXBENRBARARO development of
=70 marine biology
technology
FERTRE IR L
FEEF YR
Zhuhai Singyes Applicable Mainland China RMB 100%  Research,
Materials Co., Ltd.® AR EI A 50,000,000 manufacture
(“Singyes Applicable Materials”) AR 50,000,000 70 and sale of
KBEEERAMEREBRAT® photovoltaic film
(TREERTE]) - BER
HERKHER
Hunan Singyes Solar Mainland China RMB 100%  Research,
Technology Co., Ltd.@ PRI A 410,143,000 development,
(“Hunan Singyes”) AE# 410,143,000 7T manufacture and

R R AP RERHR
ARRAE (MHRHEE])

sale of solar
products

7 - FIE - BUER
HEAGEEER
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. ASIREESEHE(E)

(Continued)
HFEMBATZEH (8)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

AREEEZMBARZFBWT : ()

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(Continued)
Percentage
Place of of equity
incorporation/ Nominal interests
registration and value of attributable to
business paid-up the Company  Principal
Name MR share capital KATIME  activities
&% B REEME HERFEE EnEstt TEEB
%

Indirectly held: (Continued)

Mg (B)

Singyes Energy-saving Mainland China US$ 100%  Research and
Technologies Co., Ltd.® PRI A 65,000,000 development of
(“Singyes Energy-saving”) 65,000,000 37T energy-saving

EE SRR BR AT products
MERFEEEER® MERAEEEER
([ %ErRE )

Xinjiang Singyes Renewable Energy Mainland China RMB 92%  Research,
Technology Co., Ltd.© PRI A 438,270,000 design and
(“Xinjiang Singyes”) AR 438,270,000 7T investment of

B EEERERAR @ solar power projects
(FFrsEz]) M - Btk

HEKZEEIEE

Hunan Singyes Green Energy Mainland China RMB 92%  Research
Technologies Co., Ltd.® PRI A 911,803,130 and development
(“Hunan Green Energy”) AR#911,803,1307T of electricity and

R E R R new energy
BRAFC([HmiEesR]) MEKFAEBNR

Gl

Gansu Singyes Green Energy Mainland China RMB 92%  Research,
Technology Co., Ltd. R A 74,000,000 construction and
(“Gansu Singyes”) AR 74,000,000 7T operation of solar

HEEEZCORRRR power station
BRAR ([HBEE]) o Bk

LR BT
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

AT REEEH (B)

AEFAMBATZEH ()

ARREEZMBRARZFBEWT : (B)

(Continued)
Percentage
Place of of equity
incorporation/ Nominal interests
registration and value of attributable to
business paid-up the Company  Principal
Name AL share capital AATIEM  activities
&% B REEE BERFEE #nEatt IEER
%
Indirectly held: (Continued)
Mg (B
Wuwei Dongrun Solar Energy Mainland China RMB 92%  Research,
Development Co., Ltd.© PRI A 5,000,000 construction and
(“Wuwei Dongrun”) AR# 5,000,000 7T operation of solar
REFBAGRERE power station
BRARO(TRERE]) 7 gk
KONGRS
Gansu Singyes Solar Mainland China RMB 100%  Research,
Technologies Co., Ltd. [=eiiToNp i 20,000,000 development,
(“Gansu Technologies”) AE# 20,000,000 7T manufacture
EEEEINCEZ and sale of
BRAR([HERHL]) solar products
M B 2ER
HERGREER
Yangjiang Singyes Green Energy Mainland China RMB 92%  Research,
Technology Co., Ltd. B A 184,080,000 design and
(“Yangjiang Singyes”) AR 184,080,000 7T investment of
([ I&%]) solar power
projects
H% - BB
BEKRGED
Singyes Engineering (M) Malaysia MYR 99.9998%  Design,
Sdn. Bhd.© BRAE 1,000,000 manufacture,
(“Malaysia Singyes”) 1,000,000 supply and
([FSRPAR A ) & installation of
curtain walls

Ra - BUE - RER
ZEBR
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31 December 2015 —Z—HF+=-A=+—8H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.

(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:
(Continued)

Notes:

(a) These subsidiaries were registered as Sino-foreign equity joint venture
enterprises under PRC law.

(b) These subsidiaries were registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises
under PRC law.

(c) During the year, the Group acquired 99.99% equity interest in Singyes
Malaysia Singyes by way of capital injection of Ringgit Malaysia
(“MYR")999,998 into the issued capital of Malaysia Singyes. Further
details of this acquisition are included in note 36 to the financial
statements.

(d) As at 31 December 2015, the Group’s equity interests in these
companies were pledged as collateral for the Company’s bank loan with a
principal of RMB699,950,000.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year or
formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result
in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries has material non-controlling interests.

AT REEEH (B)

AEAMBATZEH ()

AREEEZMBARZFBEWT : (B)

(a) ZEMBARREHEEEIMAS
IEERE -

(b)  HEWBR AR KRR ER A
EEECK -

() FRN AEEBBASRAREED
B 1T B AR AP JE B 999,998 A 7 gn Ak
FR (TSR D) 2 77 U hE 5 ok PE g
2R 99.99% IR HE - AR RUEE
HE—PRHE YRR B TSR R I 36 ©

(d) ZE-RAF+ZA=+—8 &%
RZERTNRAERDER - F
BARRN R A S AR 699,950,000 7T
MIRITERMIERS -

B 3
@

ERIFEEMRARIBHEREEF
ERENMERAEEEEFEERED
MARRIMEBAR - ERRA - RZHE
M B AR ZFBERERFBBRIT
£ o

HENE AR EAE NI
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION 2.1 tRREAE

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”), which comprise
standards and interpretations approved by the International Accounting
Standards Board (the “IASB”) and International Accounting Standards
(“IASs”) and Standing Interpretations Committee interpretations
approved by the International Accounting Standards Committee that
remain in effect and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for derivative financial instruments, conversion
rights of convertible bonds, and certain available-for-sale investments
which have been measured at fair value. These financial statements
are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December
2015. A subsidiary is an entity, directly or indirectly, controlled by
the Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current ability to
direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority
of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power

over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the

investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

AP BRERNBHELERERITERE
28 (R RE R ) - EP e
RERE LR ES ([ER e ER
BEE])HENERRREREBEK
SRR S eiE B MR EER
S EA(TERGHEL ) REBKR
BZEenRBREB QRN IE
B o REMB IR TR L K AME R
wmE MITESRMIA - TRRESRD
B R A SR EE TRAFER
B - BRAATHIN  AEMBHRHUA
RE (AR 2REMEEEDTE
AAEREAH TR ©

HFAMBHRREBART REKE AR
RBE-T-RF+-A=1+—BL#F
EOMBE®mE - HEBRARARNRREE
HEEEFINER - EAKREH2EE
BHSREBNIPOREAERRRES
HEMIA KB BEIREHRHE N (I
AEEREBRTRAEINTEREY
FEMASNELFREN) FEZZE R
iy o BIERISHZR B -

HARRERAREEER I NEREHR
RZBURESALER ER) - AIARE
R HEEERHEHREHRIEN
BeZE—HEEERER 8

() BEEEHREMREFAEANAG
Iz

(b) EMENRBPIELNERN @ &

() BEENKEENRBEERSEE -
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date
that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the non-
controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the
three elements of control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the
assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the
carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative
translation differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the
fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any
investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit
or loss. The Group’s share of components previously recognised in
other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained
profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

2.1 RBEE(E)

HERE(E

ME A RMNMERRDIREARFRER
RIS IR A — SR BORRH - KB
NAFEAAKE IS HIEZ AR
BAR - URESGE AREER LR
TR B AL

BEakHEMEERENRIRERBAEE
SRREAA RIS - AE%E
REGHOFERE R AR IR EAL -
AEEKERARANZ ZHEBOMEE
BREENRAE - BRHE - W Xk
REMERER S AR 20 -

68 F 8 RIERBR EXFrat =18 5
AEPA-AXZBELBRE - RIAE
EeERFEERREREHRERE
- MM B AR A EERDIRE
b ERBRKESE - BIEARIIE

R -

il A S [ 2k = 3 — R Y B 8 R RO 4% )
R RIEERR () ZMBARMNEE
(BREEE) RAE - () EMFHERERE
) B T M B (i) IO A 2 D R 8RO R AT IE
SER  WHEROMERENATE -
(i) B EFRE M A FE RGBSR
R EAE S EE RN R EBAL - A&
B SRR E Aty 2 W s FERR Y BD
SIREMBNAEEERHERBEEE
KB ERENERERE  RERBRE
MoRERERRELER
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2.2 SEtBUREE RIEE

DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised standards for the first
time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions

Annual Improvements 2010-2012 Cycle

Annual Improvements 2011-2013 Cycle

The adoption of the above revised standards has had no significant
financial effect on these financial statements.

In addition, the Company has adopted the amendments to the listing
rules issued by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (the “HKSE”) (the
“Listing Rules”) relating to the disclosure of financial information with
reference to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) during
the current financial year. The main impact to the financial statements
is on the presentation and disclosure of certain information in the

financial statements.

RE R AR 195K ERT SRR

EJF%J: giﬁ#
ZE—FFR T ZF A
FE#E
—E——FR T =F A
FEHHE

PR _E IS RTE R SR % B T 4R
RELERMERMBEZE

PEoN - AR B BR AT BF ERAES
Bh6 22 5 P ([ BB AT ) 845 8 BT
BEREER ETRAI LR DE
A (BEBRBLRANEHI(F622F)) o ¥
HBERENEZHEERVBHRRASE
TERMEY| RH#EE -
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs 2.3 EfE#1E i) R E NI EPREL

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs,

that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial

statements.

IFRS9
Amendments to IFRS 10,
IFRS 12 and IAS 28

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28

Amendments to IFRS 11

IFRS 14

IFRS 15

IFRS 16

Amendments to IAS 1
Amendments to IAS 7
Amendments to IAS 12

Amendments to IAS 16
and IAS 38
Amendments to IAS 16
and IAS 41
Amendments to IAS 27
Annual Improvements
2012-2014 Cycle

Financial Instruments®
Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation
Exception*

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture®

Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint
Operations'

Regulatory Deferral Accounts®

Revenue from Contracts with Customers®

Leases*

Disclosure Initiative!

Disclosure Initiative *

Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised
Losses?

Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation
and Amortisation*

Agriculture: Bearer Plants'

Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements*
Amendments to a number of IFRSs!

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

o Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

2 Effective for an entity that first adopts IFRSs for its annual financial

statements beginning on or after 1 January 2016 and therefore is not

applicable to the Group

& No mandatory effective date yet determined but is available for adoption

B

7S B RN AR S R R A T
B 5 B4R A AR PO 8T BB (T B B
e CELIR

ERBEEEARIR  2ETA°

ERUBREENE 0% KERE EHAGHL
ERABREEAS 125 R
AR ERIE 8L

ARMBREEAR 0% AEFEEESL T
AREEARERRET  AELEZAWAE

HET IR
ERUBREENS 1R UBAAL DY

EitkE
ARBHEENE LT EEEUESC
ARMBREEAR ISR REERPANINAS

ARNBaSENE 163 g
RETENEIRET  KEAH
EREENRTRET  KEAH
BREENZ 1256 BIAREERNEL

RERE
BREENR 168N RN EREH %

REEAERRLT  HFF
AR ERE 165N BE LEWED
Bl -RESIEb )
BREENRNRET  BUAFAALOERT
TECEETR-ME SEERGREAEN
BHMERLE HET

! RZZ—RFE—A - B2 &RAKRN
FEPRER

2 R-Z—tF— A - B2 RRAKN
FEHREER

3 R-Z—N\F—H—-BHZRRAKRN
FEHREER

4 R-Z—NF—HA—-BHZERAKN
FEHREER

X HRR_T—ARF—HA—BRZERS
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs 2.3 EfE#1E s R E B EPREL

(Continued)

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is as follows:

In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9, bringing
together all phases of the financial instruments project to replace IAS
39 and all previous versions of IFRS 9. The standard introduces new
requirements for classification and measurement, impairment and
hedge accounting. The Group expects to adopt IFRS 9 from 1 January
2018. The Group expects that the adoption of IFRS 9 will have an
impact on the classification and measurement of the Group’s financial
assets. Further information about the impact will be available nearer
the implementation date of the standard.

IFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model to account for revenue
arising from contracts with customers. Under IFRS 15, revenue is
recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an
entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or
services to a customer. The principles in IFRS 15 provide a more
structured approach for measuring and recognising revenue. The
standard also introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative
disclosure requirements, including disaggregation of total revenue,
information about performance obligations, changes in contract asset
and liability account balances between periods and key judgements
and estimates. The standard will supersede all current revenue
recognition requirements under IFRSs. In July 2015, the IASB issued
an amendment to IFRS 15 regarding a one-year deferral of the
mandatory effective date of IFRS 15 to 1 January 2018. The Group
expects to adopt IFRS 15 on 1 January 2018 and is currently assessing
the impact of IFRS 15 upon adoption.

BHREER (8)

FRRERRARENBERMERE
QM E—FERIT ¢

R-ZF—MFLAH  BERGTEANES
SRR IS ERE IRARE
A - BERTRBEBENMAERERESD
E—RAREER G EAFE IR K
P RIARA R BRI SRS 2ERIZE9
5% o ZEASIAD B NGTE - RE RS
HEFTRENRE - AREREHA =
T N\F—HA-ARRBBERS GRS
HERF O o AN & B TR B IR A B PR A 75
BERMNEIREHAEESREEN
DREFEBELAVE - AT ENE—
FERGREIZERNEE B B
o

BIR B 7% i &5 E RIS 15 5% 2 52 — (A%
WEFRN  URERBTEFANEL
B o IRIBBEIR I WG ERIE 15
5 WS RERRERERNRBRAR
FEZEMXRGEMERESHRES
HHER - BRI BRELELE 155RR
A A5t 8 MR W AR E R L
Tk o BRI ARRZNEE R EE
BRERTE RO FKEERE  BRE
TEME  TRAPRZEAEHNEENREE
R B R B B A I X B BT e (bR
B o R BB BRI IR E 2R
BTHERBKEERNRE - R-F
—RFEA - BEReHERAEEERM
—IRHERPEREEAE ISROE
7] HEIFRIF RS 2RI 155k A952
AEMBERER—FE_T-N\F—H—
H - AEEBHR=-_F—N\F—HA—H
RN IR ELERISE 1558 - BATLE
AHE SR AN BIRR B 5 S 2 RSB 15 SRR
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs

(Continued)

In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16 which requires lessees
to recognise assets and liabilities for most leases. Under the new
standard, a lease is a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the
right to use an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. A contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset if, throughout the period of use, the customer has the
right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of
the identified asset and direct the use of the identified asset. Lessees
are required to initially recognise a lease liability for the obligation
to make lease payments and a right-of-use asset for the right to use
the identified asset for the lease term. Subsequently, lessees accrete
the lease liability to reflect interest and reduce the liability to reflect
lease payments made. The related right-of-use asset is depreciated
in accordance with the depreciation requirements of IAS 16 Property,
Plant and Equipment. For lessors, there is little change to the existing
accounting in IAS 17 Leases. The Group expects to adopt IFRS 16 on
1 January 2019 and is currently assessing the impact of IFRS 16 upon
adoption.

Amendments to IAS 1 include narrow-focus improvement in respect
of the presentation and disclosure in financial statements. The
amendments clarify:

(i)  the materiality requirements in IAS 1;

(i) that specific line items in the statement of profit or loss and the
statement of financial position may be disaggregated;

(i) that the entities have flexibility as to the order in which they
present the notes to the financial statements; and

(iv)  that the share of other comprehensive income of associates
and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method must
be presented in aggregate as a single line item, and classified
between those items that will or will not be subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs 2.3 ENR#{E R ERBIEFREL
(Continued) B E#ER (8)
Furthermore, the amendments clarify the requirements that apply AN R B R]E R R AR R &
when additional subtotals are presented in the statement of financial BaRANZHEINNEFTATEANESK -
position and statement of profit or loss. The Group expects to adopt the AEBEFEHER - —RF—F—HEH
amendments from 1 January 2016. The amendments are not expected MZBNEE] - ZSBRIEATSHASE
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements. BRI SRR EETMEATE
In January 2016, the IASB published Amendments to IAS 7. The RZZT—RF—H  BEEgHENESE
amendments require an entity to provide disclosures that enable users SREMBEBFESHENE7RIEFTAR - %
of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from FERTERBRIELEE - EPBER
financing activities, including both changes arising from cash flows KHFERE T ERE TSI BNE
and non-cash changes. The amendments are not expected to have B - BRERESMIIBE(LRIER
any significant impact on the financial position or performance of the @b BHZEBIRNZE—tF—
Group upon adoption on 1 January 2017. A—BERME T2 EREB NS ERR

ARAELEMNEATE -

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 clarify the principle in IAS 16 B e ERIE 1657 R BB & 54 RIZE
and IAS 38 that revenue reflects a pattern of economic benefits that IS E BRI 2R R 1697
are generated from operating business (of which the asset is part) MBI ERIFE 385 A R A - Bl
rather than the economic benefits that are consumed through the ERBEEERE(EREERS—59) A
use of the asset. As a result, a revenue-based method cannot be EENKENZER - MARERBERA
used to depreciate property, plant and equipment and may only be BEMBEEMNLENZ - Bt - Wa%
used in very limited circumstances to amortise intangible assets. The TEERRITEYE - BE R&HE - ME
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The amendments are not EJE?E%EKEE’\T%%T?H DA SRR &
expected to have any impact on the financial position or performance E o ZEBERERNER - BRAE
of the Group upon adoption on 1 January 2016 as the Group has not lﬂ?ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂlﬁij&ﬁ:ﬁ/ﬁjﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
used a revenue-based method for the calculation of depreciation of its E  MZEBIIR_E—X~F—A—
non-current assets. AERME - FBE I SHAEENITB

RN EBEEFATE -
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES
Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest of
generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over which it
is in a position to exercise significant influence. Significant influence is
the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee, but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The Group’s investments in associates are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at the Group’s share of net assets under
the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates is included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there has been a change
recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the Group recognises
its share of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting
from transactions between the Group and its associate are eliminated
to the extent of the Group’s investments in the associates, except
where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the
assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates is
included as part of the Group’s investments in associates.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured. Instead,
the investment continues to be accounted for under the equity
method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant influence over the
associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group measures
and recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any difference
between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of significant
influence and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds

from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition
date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of
assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling
interests in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the event
of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as

incurred.

2.4 FEEFTBOREE (/8)
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

2.4 FEEFTBOREE (/8)

POLICIES (Continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured and
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate
of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised for non-
controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s previously held
equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items
is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference
is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs
its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the
Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units,
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which the
goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for

goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or group
of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is
included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these
circumstances is measured based on the relative value of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

2.4 FEEFTBOREE (/8)
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Fair value measurement

The Group measures its derivative financial instruments, certain
available-for-sale investments and conversion rights of convertible
bonds at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is
the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer
a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in
the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market
for the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market
must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability
is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants
act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in
the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant

to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for

identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is

observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is

unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements
on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have
occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

2.4 FEEFTBOREE (/8)

POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment
testing for an asset is required (other than inventories, construction
contract assets and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s
or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset
does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment
loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than
the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any
depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 TEEBEERBE(E)
POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties FHER
A party is considered to be related to the Group if: EUATERT - — AR AEAEER
RaET
(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family (@) BEAFA—RBZALTEZALZE
and that person BERUKREKE - Mz AT

() has control or joint control over the Group; (i) T2l ok A R A

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (il HAREBEBEAFE L

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the (i) AAEESASETARN
Group or of a parent of the Group; FEEBABMESR—FK

g8
or B4
(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions (b) ZAREBEEMMSGE TNIEM—IA
applies: 1|75zk1¢ .
() the entity and the Group are members of the same group; () ZEREASEBR—5E
ZKERF]

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other (il ZEBRE —REBMEE
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the ANEIKEERE (LS K
other entity): BRG] - HBARH

BRHEBAR])

(i)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same (i) HEBEASHEHYAR—F
third party; =HREERE

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other (iv) ZEBAF-FEEMNAE
entity is an associate of the third entity; ¥ ME—REBRARZ

FZHEBRMNEL NG
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FEFE
POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties (Continued) REESR (
(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions (b) #%

applies: (Continued)

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit (v)

of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the

Group;

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person (vi)

identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence (vii)

over the entity or is a member of the key management

personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,

provides key management personnel services to the Group

or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress,
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment

(viii)

st BURIE (8)
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losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises —IEYE -

its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the HEBE

asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have
been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally
charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure
for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the
asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced as intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and

depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost
of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual value (nil
to 5% of cost) over its estimated useful life. The estimated useful lives

of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Land and buildings 50 years
Plant and machinery

Motor vehicles 5 years
Office equipment and furniture 3-5 years
Photovoltaic power station 25 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis
among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual
values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and

adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

5-10 years

2.4 FEEFTBOREE (/8)
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

2.4 FEEFTBOREE (/8)

POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or
loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the
asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents property, plant and equipment
under construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment losses,
and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction
and capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowing funds during the
period of construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when completed
and ready for use.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset
may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method
for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.

Software purchased is stated at cost less any impairment losses and is
amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of five

years.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)

Operating rights represent rights to operate solar power water heating
systems granted by certain schools and are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis over

their estimated useful lives of 7 to 10 years.

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the
technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will
be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability
to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic
benefits, the availability of resources to complete the project and the
ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the development.
Product development expenditure which does not meet these criteria

is expensed when incurred.

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of
assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating leases.
Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases,
net of any incentives received from the lessor, are charged to profit or

loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially stated
at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line basis over the

lease terms.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 TESTBHREME (8)

POLICIES (Continued)
Operating leases (Continued)

When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between the
land and buildings elements, the entire lease payments are included in
the cost of the land and buildings as a finance lease in property, plant
and equipment.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables and available-
for-sale financial investments, as appropriate. When financial assets
are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value plus transaction
costs that are attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets,
except in the case of financial assets recorded at fair value through
profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less any
allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into
account any discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees or
costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in other income and gains in profit
or loss. The loss arising from impairment is recognised in profit or loss

in finance costs for loans and in other expenses for receivables.

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative financial
assets in unlisted equity investments and other financial investments.
Equity investments classified as available for sale are those which are
neither classified as held for trading nor designated as at fair value
through profit or loss. Other financial investments in this category are
those which are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time and
which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in response to
changes in market conditions.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

2.4 FEEFTBOREE (/8)

POLICIES (Continued)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments (Continued)

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments are
subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised gains or losses
recognised as other comprehensive income in the available-for-sale
investment revaluation reserve until the investment is derecognised,
at which time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
in other income, or until the investment is determined to be impaired,
when the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from the available-
for-sale investment revaluation reserve to profit or loss in other
expenses. Interest and dividends earned whilst holding the available-
for-sale financial investments are reported as interest income and
dividend income, respectively and are recognised in profit or loss as
other income in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue

recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot be reliably
measured because (a) the variability in the range of reasonable fair
value estimates is significant for that investment or (b) the probabilities
of the various estimates within the range cannot be reasonably
assessed and used in estimating fair value, such investments are

stated at cost less any impairment losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell its
available-for-sale financial assets in the near term are still appropriate.
When, in rare circumstances, the Group is unable to trade these
financial assets due to inactive markets, the Group may elect to
reclassify these financial assets if management has the ability and
intention to hold the assets for the foreseeable future or until maturity.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

2.4 FEEFTBOREE (/8)

POLICIES (Continued)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments (Continued)

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-sale category,
the fair value carrying amount at the date of reclassification becomes
its new amortised cost and any previous gain or loss on that asset that
has been recognised in equity is amortised to profit or loss over the
remaining life of the investment using the effective interest rate. Any
difference between the new amortised cost and the maturity amount
is also amortised over the remaining life of the asset using the effective
interest rate. If the asset is subsequently determined to be impaired,

then the amount recorded in equity is reclassified to profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part
of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised (i.e., removed

from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset, or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash
flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the
Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the

asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

2.4 FEEFTBOREE (/8)

POLICIES (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates
if and to what extent it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership
of the assets. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the
asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the
extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that

the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there
is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets
is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more events that occurred
after the initial recognition of the asset have an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial
assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may
include indications that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation and observable data indicating that there
is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as
changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

RIS SRIEE (8)

HAREEERNEERIR S REM
RANKTIEF 28 AFEBESR
BAEMEENER K EH R RENE
B o HARE L EERKREEENR
REb B K @5 - TR & A2
# AIZEEEERAEENFE2 M
RERER - E&BERT  ARETER
HREE EEREERARAEER
AEEFRE RN MR EHOEESE

PEEEERERTANFEZE L&
ERRmEEAEE AR EREEDN
ERAESETHREESE -

EMEERE

EEEREHRE  AEEFEEE

FEERERACREER—HEREE
BIE - BEENIRHERREEN 1T
SHEMHHRRETEMENSREER—
HEREENBHARREREELY
2 HepEE—HMeREERRR
BE - REEERREERETRRAR
AR —HEBALELEEANTBE
B BORERNBHAE - FHEAR

SRRRSRE Y THE TR TRE
BUR - IIUE DA IR TR
L -

107



108

China Singyes Solar Technologies Holdings Limited Annual Report 2015

N’

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BAFEERAR MY RE

31 December 2015 —Z—HF+=-A=+—8H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses
whether impairment exists individually for financial assets that are
individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not
individually significant. If the Group determines that no objective
evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial
asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of
financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively
assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for
impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be,

recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value
of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have
not yet been incurred). The present value of the estimated future cash
flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate

(i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an
allowance account and the loss is recognised in profit or loss. Interest
income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount
using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for
the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables
together with any associated allowance are written off when there is no
realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realised

or has been transferred to the Group.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 TESTBHREME (8)

POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment
loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss
is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-
off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to other expenses in
profit or loss.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at fair
value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, or on a
derivative asset that is linked to and must be settled by delivery of such
an unquoted equity instrument, the amount of the loss is measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market
rate of return for a similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these
assets are not reversed.

Available-for-sale financial investments
For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses at the

end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that
an investment or a group of investments is impaired.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

2.4 FEEFTBOREE (/8)

POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (Continued)

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising
the difference between its cost (net of any principal payment
and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment
loss previously recognised in profit or loss, is removed from other
comprehensive income and recognised in profit or loss.

In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale,
objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged decline in
the fair value of an investment below its cost. “Significant” is evaluated
against the original cost of the investment and “prolonged” against the
period in which the fair value has been below its original cost. Where
there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss — measured as
the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value,
less any impairment loss on that investment previously recognised in
the statement of profit or loss — is removed from other comprehensive
income and recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Impairment
losses on equity instruments classified as available for sale are not
reversed through the statement of profit or loss. Increases in their fair
value after impairment are recognised directly in other comprehensive

income.

The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires
judgement. In making this judgement, the Group evaluates, among
other factors, the duration or extent to which the fair value of an

investment is less than its cost.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, and loans and borrowings,
as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the
case of loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable transaction
Costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and bills payables,
other payables, derivative financial instruments, bank advances for
discounted bills, convertible bonds, senior notes and interest-bearing
bank and other loans.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings (including senior notes)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued)

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds issued by the Company that contain both a
liability and embedded derivatives are classified separately into these
respective items on initial recognition. Conversion rights that will
be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or
other financial assets for a fixed number of the Company’s shares
are derivative financial liabilities, which are bifurcated from the
host contract and are accounted for separately. Redemption rights,
conditional call options and put options which are closely related to the
host contract are accounted for together with the host contract as a
liability component.

At the date of issue of the convertible bonds, the derivative component
of the convertible bonds is measured at fair value and presented as
part of derivative financial instruments. Any excess of proceeds over the
amount initially recognised as the derivative component is recognised
as the liability component. Transaction costs are apportioned between
the liability and derivative components of the convertible bonds based
on the allocation of proceeds to the liability and derivative components
when the instruments are initially recognised. The portion of the
transaction costs relating to the liability component is recognised
initially as part of the liability. The portion relating to the derivative
component is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the convertible
bonds is carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Conversion options accounted for as derivative financial liabilities are
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 TESTBHREME (8)

POLICIES (Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued)
Convertible bonds (Continued)

The liability component and the related embedded derivative of the
convertible bonds are presented as a separate line item on the face of
the statement of financial position under non-current liabilities, unless
the convertible bonds become mature or redeemable by the holder in
the next twelve months.

If the bonds are converted, the respective conversion options
accounted for as derivative financial liabilities, together with the
carrying value of the liability component at the time of conversion, are
transferred to share capital and share premium as consideration for
the shares issued.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing
liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification
is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition
of a new liability, and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the

liabilities simultaneously.

Derivative financial instruments

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as interest
rate swaps, to hedge its interest rate risk. Such derivative financial
instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured
at fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is

positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the weighted average basis and, in the case of
work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable
value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to

be incurred to completion and disposal.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

2.4 FEEFTBOREE (/8)

POLICIES (Continued)
Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and
short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three months
when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a
provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period of the
future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.
The increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the
passage of time is included in finance costs in profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to
items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or

loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on
tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in which the

Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting

puUrposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary

differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill on an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects

neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and associates, when the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it
is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the

foreseeable future.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused
tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred tax assets
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary

differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax

asset to be recovered.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally
enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and
the same taxation authority.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods
that the costs, which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a
deferred income account and is released to profit or loss over the
expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits
will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be measured reliably,
on the following bases:
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

(a)

from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and rewards of
ownership have been transferred to the buyer, provided that the
Group maintains neither managerial involvement to the degree
usually associated with ownership, nor effective control over the
goods sold;

from construction contracts, on the percentage of completion
basis, as further explained in the accounting policy for
“Construction contracts” below;

from sales of electricity, is recognised in the accounting period
when electricity is generated and transmitted.

from tariff adjustment, tariff adjustment represents subsidy
received and receivable from the government authorities
in respect of the Group’s solar power plant business. Tariff
adjustment is recognised at its fair value where there is a
reasonable assurance that the additional tariff will be received
and the Group will comply with all attached conditions, if any.

from the rendering of services, when the services is rendered.

interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective interest
method by applying the rate that discounts the estimated future
cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument to
the net carrying amount of the financial asset; and

dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive
payment has been established.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Construction contracts

Contract revenue comprises the agreed contract amount and
appropriate amounts from variation orders, claims and incentive
payments. Contract costs incurred comprise direct materials, the
costs of subcontracting, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of

variable and fixed construction overheads.

Revenue from fixed price construction contracts is recognised using
the percentage of completion method, measured by reference to the
proportion of costs incurred to date to the estimated total cost of the

relevant contract.

Provision is made for foreseeable losses as soon as they are anticipated
by management. Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised
profits less recognised losses exceed progress billings, the surplus is
treated as an amount due from contract customers. Where progress
billings exceed contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits
less recognised losses, the surplus is treated as an amount due to

contract customers.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute
to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees (including
directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-
based payments, whereby employees render services as consideration

for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

2.4 FEEFTBOREE (/8)

POLICIES (Continued)
Share-based payments (Continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by
reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The
fair value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial model.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at
the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within the
grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but
without an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-
vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value
of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless

there are also service and/or performance conditions.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-
vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of
whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that

all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total fair
value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the

employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had
vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised
for the award is recognised immediately. This includes any award
where non-vesting conditions within the control of either the Group or
the employee are not met. However, if a new award is substituted for
the cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement award on
the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated
as if they were a modification of the original award, as described in the

previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional

share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 TESTBHREME (8)

POLICIES (Continued)
Other employee benefits

Pension scheme

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland China are
required to participate in a central pension scheme operated by
the local government. These subsidiaries and their employees are
required to make monthly contributions calculated as a percentage
of the employees’ wages and salaries, subject to certain ceilings and
local practices set by the relevant local governments, to the central
pension scheme. Other than the central pension scheme, the Group’s
subsidiaries in Mainland China have no legal obligation for retirement
benefits beyond the contributions made. Contributions to these plans
are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension scheme.

In addition to the above, the Group also participates in a defined
contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for its employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently administered
fund.

Contributions to an accommodation fund administered by the Public
Accumulation Funds Administration Centre are charged to profit or loss

as incurred.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation
of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure
on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised.
All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an
entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by
the shareholders in a general meeting. In prior years, final dividends
proposed by the directors were classified as a separate allocation of
retained profits within the equity section of the statement of financial
position, until they have been approved by the shareholders in a
general meeting. Following the implementation of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), proposed final dividends are
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because
the Company’s memorandum and articles of association grant the
directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently,
interim dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when they
are proposed and declared.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currencies

The financial statements are presented in RMB. The functional
currency of the Company is HK$. The Company’s presentation
currency is RMB because the Group’s principal operations are carried
out in Mainland China. Each entity in the Group determines its own,
functional currency and items included in the financial statements
of each entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional
currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are

recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates
of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in
line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of
the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain
or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss,

respectively).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

The functional currencies of certain companies within the Group are
currencies other than the RMB. As at the end of the reporting period,
the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB at
the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and
their profit or loss are translated into RMB at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year. The resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that particular

foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any
fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign

operation and translated at the closing rate.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected

in the future.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below.

Percentage of completion of construction contract works

The Group recognises revenue according to the percentage of
completion of individual contracts of construction works, which
requires estimation to be made by management. The stage of
completion is estimated by reference to the actual costs incurred over
the total budgeted costs, and the corresponding contract revenue
is also estimated by management. Due to the nature of the activity
undertaken in construction contracts, the date at which the activity
is entered into and the date at which the activity is completed usually
fall into different accounting periods. Hence, the Group reviews and
revises the estimates of both contract revenue and contract costs in
the budget prepared for each contract as the contract progresses.
Where the actual contract revenue is less than expected or actual
contract costs are more than expected, an expected loss may arise.
The expected loss recognised during the year ended 31 December
2015 was RMB1,486,000 (2014: Nil)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Corporate income tax (“CIT”)

The Group’s operating subsidiaries in Mainland China are subject to
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) CIT. As a result of the
fact that certain matters relating to PRC CIT have not been confirmed
by the relevant local tax authorities, objective estimates based on
currently enacted tax laws, regulations and other related policies are
required in determining the provision for PRC CIT to be made. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
originally recorded, the differences will impact the income tax and
tax provision in the period in which the final outcome is determined.
The carrying amount of PRC CIT payable at 31 December 2015 was
RMB11,348,000 (2014: RMB17,628,000).

Impairment of receivables

The provision policy for impairment of receivables of the Group is based
on ongoing assessment of the recoverability and the aged analysis
of the outstanding receivables and on management’s judgement. A
considerable amount of judgement is required in assessing the ultimate
realisation of those receivables, including the creditworthiness and
the past collection history of each customer. If the financial conditions
of the customers of the Group were to deteriorate, resulting in an
impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances
might be required. At 31 December 2015, impairment provision for
trade receivables and other receivables amounted to approximately
RMB27,427,000 and RMB4,578,000 (2014: RMB2,833,000 and
RMB2,093,000), respectively. Further details are given in notes 22 and
23 to the financial statements, respectively.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment

In determining the useful lives and residual values of items of property,
plant and equipment, the Group has to consider various factors, such
as technical or commercial obsolescence arising from changes or
improvements in production, or from a change in the market demand
for the product or service output of the asset, expected usage of the
asset, expected physical wear and tear, the care and maintenance
of the asset, and legal or similar limits on the use of the asset. The
estimation of the useful life of the asset is based on the experience
of the Group with similar assets that are used in a similar way. The
depreciation amount will be adjusted if the estimated useful lives
and/or the residual values of items of property, plant and equipment
are different from the previous estimation. Useful lives and residual
values are reviewed at each financial year end date taking into account
changes in circumstances.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for all non-financial assets at the end of each reporting period. Non-
financial assets with definite lives are tested for impairment when
there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-
generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of
its fair value less costs of sell and its value in use. The calculation of
the fair value less costs of sell is based on available data from binding
sales transactions in an arm'’s length transaction of similar assets or
observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the
asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken, management
must estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or
cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal. These estimates are based on the current
market condition and the historical experience of selling products of a
similar nature. It could change significantly as a result of changes in
customers’ interests or competitor actions. Management reassesses
these estimates at the end of each reporting period. There was no

impairment provision for inventories as at 31 December 2015.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets should be recognised when it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which the deferred tax assets
can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised,
based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together
with future tax planning strategies. The carrying value of deferred
tax assets at 31 December 2015 was RMB34,107,000 (2014:
RMB32,508,000). Further details are given in note 31 to the financial

statements.

FEEHE ()

fEETRERE (&)
TR TRFFE

FEZAERFEDENBEESBIZ
RZIERHEE - R R ERELE
ZIEFRTRAR o ZFAEHTIRIBIRIT IR
FMHERUTEERZBERR - B
AEPRBYURFETHEPGAREE
8o EEEREREPRENTEZE
fEt - RZF—HAF+-A=+—RH"
WEBFERIERE -

BEFIREE

i 1% 2R AT B 845 FE R Tt i ) LA HRUR AE
MBEEE BREAECHBEE - &
FAMRBR AR FERT i ) 89 A] s e 2
HEURRRBERERBIELEXR
HET - BTN FRANELEHIEE
EtB R-_T—HF+-_A=+—
B BEERELSENEEOERAARKE
34,107000( =T —MWF: AR
32,508,0007T) - AR #E — B
AR SR ER MR 3L -



“R-AFFR PEAXKHERMERER AR

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
IR MY et

31 December 2015 —Z—HF+=-A=+—8H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities should be recognised for all taxable differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates except
(a) when the Company is able to control the timing of the reversal of
such temporary differences and it is probable that such temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Significant
management estimation is required to determine the amount of
deferred tax liabilities associated with the Company’s investments
in subsidiaries, based upon the likely timing of the reversal of such
temporary differences. The carrying value of deferred tax liabilities
associated with investments in subsidiaries at 31 December 2015 was
RMB8&6,860,000 (2014: RMB86,860,000). Further details are given in
note 31 to the financial statements.

Valuation of financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Where fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities cannot be
derived directly from active markets, it is determined using valuation
techniques. The inputs to these models are taken from observable
markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of
estimation is required in establishing fair values. The estimations
include considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and
volatility. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the
reported fair value of financial instruments.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Valuation of financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

(Continued)

Convertible bonds issued by the Company that contain both a
liability and embedded derivatives are classified separately into these
respective items on initial recognition. The derivatives are accounted for
an initial recognition as fair value through profit or loss and remeasured
to fair value through profit or loss in subsequent reporting periods.
The Group engaged an independent professional valuer to assist
in determining the fair value of the conversion rights of convertible
bonds. The fair value of the conversion rights of convertible bonds was
estimated by the independent professional valuer using the binomial
option pricing model and the estimation included some assumptions
not supported by observable market prices or rates such as the
discount rate, volatility, credit risk, and expected future cash flows,
and hence they are subject to uncertainty. Favourable or unfavourable
changes to these assumptions would result in significant changes in
the fair value of conversion rights contained in the convertible bonds
and the corresponding adjustments to the amount of gain or loss
reported in profit or loss. The fair value of the conversion rights of
convertible bonds at 31 December 2015 was RMB63,552,000 (2014
RMB227,138,000). Further details are given in note 29 to the financial

statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Valuation of financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as interest
rate swaps, to hedge its interest rate risk. Such derivative financial
instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured
at fair value. The Group engaged an independent professional valuer
to assist in determining the fair value of the interest rate swaps. The
fair value of the interest rate swaps was estimated by the independent
professional valuer using the discounted cash flow method and the
estimation included some assumptions not supported by observable
market rates such as credit risk, discount rate and expected future
cash flows, and hence they are subject to uncertainty. Favourable or
unfavourable changes to these assumptions would result in significant
changes in the fair value of the interest rate swaps. The fair value
of the interest rate swaps at 31 December 2015 was nil (2014:
RMB3,042,000). Further details are given in note 27 to the financial
statements.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION AND
REVENUE

Revenue represents an appropriate proportion of contract revenue
of construction contracts; net of business tax and government
surcharges; and the invoiced value of goods and electricity sold, and
net of value-added tax and government surcharges.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION AND 4. FEEFPEEBRUWN (E)
REVENUE (Continued)
The Group’s revenue and contribution to profit for the year were mainly AEENRARFREMEREERS
derived from construction and installation of curtain wall (including S (BEASEER) ERELTE A
solar power products), as well as operation and management of solar MARGaeABIBEE RERE - Wi
photovoltaic power station, which is regarded as a single reportable RBE—M 2RO ARAEBERE
segment in a manner consistent with the way in which information is BEMDEERREETEONIT 2R
reported internally to the Group’s senior management for the purpose BRI 5 o AEEFEAL
of resources allocation and performance assessment. In addition, the FEEEMMAPBRARE - At - BRIAR
principal assets employed by the Group are located in Mainland China. BAFR A RIEEN  MEZ2HFS B
Accordingly, no segment analysis is presented other than entity-wide o
disclosures.
Information about products and services FRAERRRBBEE
The following table sets forth the total revenue from external customers TRFILE @ MIRTEE D KR 5 oM
by product and service and the percentage of total revenue by product B MBI AL R AN F EIRE G &R
and service during the year: BINHBRIMAE A
2015 2014
—E-AF —E—NE
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
ARETR AREFIT
Construction contracts BEA[R 2,748,251 65.7 3,735,211 74.6
Sale of goods EmiEE 1,365,059 32.6 1,246,727 249
Rendering of design services HeftRET RS 8,056 0.2 9,810 0.2
Sale of electricity BHHEE 60,683 1.5 19,678 0.3
Revenue WA 4,182,049 100.0 5,011,426 100.0
Tariff adjustment* EEMEL 57,387 31,734

*

Tariff adjustment represents subsidy receivable from the government

authorities in respect of the Group’s solar photovoltaic power station

business.

* EEMMERAREZ KGR RE

BULTE BT R # A -
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION AND 4. FEFBERBEAN (E)
REVENUE (Continued)
Geographical information = & ¥
(a)  Revenue from external customers (a) KESIEIEFATA
2015 2014
—E-hF —ZT—E
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
ARETR ARETTT
Domestic — Mainland China* B - PEIKREE* 3,905,623 93.4 4,969,965 99.2
Malaysia 53R Paan 42,469 1.0 21,702 0.4
Macau SEPY 122,387 2.9 14,578 0.3
Hong Kong &% 111,570 2.7 5,181 0.1
4,182,049 100.0 5,011,426 100.0
* The place of domicile of the Group’s principal operating * AEFBTELENBRBINMAELA
subsidiaries is Mainland China. The principal revenues of the FEIAEE - REENFEWRAEEE
Group are generated in Mainland China. AR B RRE -
(b)  Non-current assets (b) ETEEE
2015 2014
—E-AF —E-F
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
AREFx AREETTT
Mainland China FR B K B 3,941,838 99.4 3,730,973 99.6
Hong Kong a5 22,770 0.6 16,429 0.4
Others EAh 389 0.0 = =
3,964,997 100.0 3,747,402 100.0
The non-current asset information above is based on the LI REBEEER VIREEMEE
locations of the assets and excludes financial instruments and 2o BUYTEESR T AERELERIE

deferred tax assets. BE -
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION AND 4. BEFEBER RN (E)
REVENUE (Continued)
Information about major customers FREEEFRINER
Revenue from each of the major customers, which amounted to 10% REZSEERS (HBIAR10% kA
or more of the total revenue, is set out below: )RR AFS AT ¢
2015 2014
—E—-AF —E—OF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T
Customer A ZEEA 518,861 *
Customer B ZFB 448,880 *
Customer C EFEC * 1,038,109

* Less than 10% * KR 10%
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5. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. HMUARUz=
An analysis of other income and gains is as follows: EMBA RSSO
2015 2014
—E-AfF —TmE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARSTT ARBEFTT

Deferred income released to profit BEBEEmMIEEEE (HFE32)
or loss (note 32):

Over the expected useful lives LA EEA R FAFH
of the related assets 32,985 24,459
Upon disposal of the related assets &0 & Efs 44,205 131,226
Total deferred income released BEBEENREN =B
to profit or loss 77,190 155,685
Bank interest income ER1TABULA 18,168 11,097
Interest income on retention money B {R& F BUWA 26,780 12,616
Government grants* BB * 12,620 19,692
Gain on disposal of items of HEME - BE&
property, plant and equipment BRI 12,332 -
Gain on disposal of an & AT HH B IR AR A B
available-for-sale equity investment - 1,315
Foreign exchange gains, net SN 7 SRR 22,657 -
Others HAth 2,463 1,482
172,210 201,887
= There were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these i E A % S B M R IER IRk

grants. NE -
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6. FINANCE COSTS 6. BIERE
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: REERRADHTAT ¢
2015 2014
—E—RF —E—E
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BsE AREFT ARETTT
Interest on overdrafts, B IRITREHAL
bank and other loans BEREFLE 125,085 126,601
Interest on discounted AR R IE RS
bills receivable 42 18,942 36,508
Interest on convertible bonds Al AR E ST B 29 100,610 37,762
Interest on senior notes BEZRERE 30 67,285 5,328
Imputed interest accelerated REEEREMERE
amortisation on an early BE RS R 8
redemption of other loans - 24,879
Others Hh 4,989 6,845
316,911 237,923
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7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 7. BBigniF
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): NEBBRFLATE R TAEFORR (A LA
T&IE :
2015 2014
—E—-RF —E-mEF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BaE AREFT ARETIT
Cost of construction contracts and RS [R KRR ETBRIG A AN
design services 2,175,804 2,931,638
Cost of inventories sold BEFERA 1,052,946 1,009,354
Cost of electricity sold BEEBEKAR 68,916 21,410
Depreciation e 13 134,489 110,910
Amortisation of prepaid land lease TR LT E IR
payments 14 2,252 2,183
Amortisation of intangible assets | EEEH 15 1,013 687
Total depreciation and amortisation ~ #7% K ## 54858 137,754 113,780
Employee benefit expense EERMFAX
(including directors’ and chief (BREEER
executive’s remuneration (note 8): TTEABEETN) (FI5E8)
Wages and salaries T& - e KiEEET
and relevant benefits 248,666 182,204
Pension scheme contributions RIRSET BN 8,899 6,693
Equity-settled share option expense R4 E 2 AR IER 10,415 1,109
267,980 190,006
Minimum lease payments under LEAE THRIE
operating leases HENHK 6,179 5,599
Research costs I A 16,189 20,016
Auditors’ remuneration ZEREM B & 9,109 7,001
Impairment loss on M - BB MR
property, plant and equipment BEEE 13 s 6,747
Impairment loss on goodwill B R EEE 17 9,783 =
Impairment loss on trade receivables fEUWNE ZKIBREEE 22 26,771 278
Impairment loss on other receivables b FEUFIE B E 1B 23 2,485 1,693
Loss on settlement of derivative EETEemMT A
financial instruments K& 18 4,813 3,551
Fair value loss on derivative PTHESRIAN
financial instruments NEEEE 27 = 3,042
Issue expenses of convertible bonds ~ FEEz= KR AY
charged to profit or loss AIRRRE AT TR = 10,102
Losses/(gains) on disposal of items of LEWIZ « BE K&
property, plant and equipment BABEE B () (12,332) 72,747

Exchange losses/(gains), net &5 g8, (e - 38 (22,657) 3,017
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EERITHBIEEMNE
REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed B IEE B A R EHI 5 383(1)() * (b)
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a),(b),(c) and (f) of O EOEERATI(BBRESN=ER)
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies HOIFE 2B BENFRNES RITHEH
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as e T
follows:
2015 2014
—T-4f —T—mE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBFT
Fees e 4,858 4,573
Other emoluments: HAbS -
Salaries, allowances and e EMREYAZE
benefits in kind 2,702 1,886
Pension scheme contributions RIREFTEIHK 131 36

7,691 6,495
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31 December 2015 =E—HF+=A=+—H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. ESERITHBUAHMN: (&)
REMUNERATION (Continued)
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme
in kind contributions Total
Fees ¥i& +#EBY BKEEE] remuneration
weE REDIGE 5N FrEMsEst
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRET ARETRT ARETR ARETR
2015 —T-REF
Executive directors: HITES
Mr. Liu Hongwei* BIAT 4 S A 1,508 980 36 2,524
Mr. Sun Jinli Redrs 1,257 791 36 2,084
Mr. Xie Wen B E 1,257 931 59 2,247
4,022 2,702 131 6,855
Non-executive directors: JEHMITES :
Mr. Cao Zhirong BEREAE 114 - - 114
Mr. Li Huizhong FEHEE 114 - - 114
228 - - 228
Independent non-executive directors: BV IFHITES -
Mr. Wang Ching TEREE 168 = = 168
Mr. Yick Wing Fat, Simon SIoKEET A 251 = = 251
Mr. Cheng Jinshu e bt 189 - - 189
608 - - 608
4,858 2,702 131 7,691
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EBERTHMAHNNE (B&)
REMUNERATION (Continued)
Salaries,

allowances Pension
and benefits scheme

in kind  contributions Total

Fees ¥4 - EBh BIRE5TE] remuneration

we  REYANR R Friaast

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREBTL AR®TIT AREBTT

2014 —F-F
Executive directors: WITES -
Mr. Liu Hongwei BT R - 1,420 706 12 2,138
Mr. Sun Jinli ReBhE 1,183 551 12 1,746
Mr. Xie Wen B E 1,183 629 12 1,824
3,786 1,886 36 5,708
Non-executive directors: EMITES :
Mr. Cao Zhirong BEREE 107 - - 107
Mr. Li Huizhong FEREE 107 - - 107
214 - - 214
Independent non-executive directors: BV IEHITES
Mr. Wang Ching ERE 158 - - 158
Mr. Yick Wing Fat, Simon SIKEBETEE 237 - = 237
Mr. Cheng Jinshu Bewits 178 = = 178
573 - - 57,3
4,573 1,886 36 6,495
% Mr. Liu Hongwei who acts as an executive director of the Company is also & BIAT A EEERRRIRITES - I
the chief executive officer of the Company. RARBTHARE -
There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief FRA BT E BRI TRABENEKR
executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year ERERENGFMcZH(ZE—MF :

(2014: Nil). ;) o
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9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. RfimEFH{ES
The five highest paid employees during the year included two directors FRN Al seFEEFEEMUES
and the chief executive (2014: two directors and the chief executive), RITBRBEH(ZZE—NF : MUESK
details of whose remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of ITHEBE)  BENHFMFBIEHR X
the remuneration for the year of the remaining two (2014: two) highest M8 R TMAL (=T —MWeE : Wfiz)
paid employees who are neither a director nor chief executive of the FARRNREFRIITRBHERTEE
Company are as follows: FAMFFBOT
2015 2014
—E-AF —T-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETIT
Salaries, allowances and benefits e ERLREYAIE
in kind 4,211 1,987
Pension scheme contributions RIREET IR 30 18
4,241 2,005
The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid THE N R N IEE E R IETT B &
employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as SEFEENEBENT -
follows:

Number of employees

EEHH
2015 2014
—F-4F —Z=—F
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 # 7T E 1,500,000 7T - 2
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7T £ 3,000,000 7T 2 =
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31 December 2015 —Z—HF+=-A=+—8H

10. INCOME TAX

10. Fr8#

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits arising
in or derived from the respective countries or jurisdictions in which
members of the Group are domiciled and operate.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Bermuda, Samoa and the
British Virgin Islands, the Group is not subject to any income tax in
Bermuda, Samoa and the British Virgin Islands.

No provision for Hong Kong, Malaysia, Singapore and Nigeria profits
tax has been made as the Group had no assessable profits derived
from or earned in Hong Kong, Malaysia, Singapore and Nigeria during
the year.

Mainland China profits tax has been provided at the respective CIT
rates applicable to the subsidiaries located in Mainland China as
determined in accordance with the relevant income tax rules and
regulations of the PRC for the year.

Macau profits tax has been provided at the applicable CIT rate of 12%
as determined in accordance with the Macau income tax rules for the

year.

The major components of income tax expense for the year are as

follows:

REBEREXE RBIMEMNELNE
BB Rk AR R A E 4 S REUA
o REREEIRAEH

REARE BEIMRBREZESE
BER  AEEBABMBRE  BEE
T REBRIE SRS

NEAXREELERES - FRAS
#03E K JE B A R A A S REVE AT ERR
B - A B - HIRAE: - #
I K fE B RIZE RS AT R B -

REAEMRSEHRYERPEAEMNER

AIEMANBREEMENE  RFAT
B2 BRMEBUAR KA PIE LB -

BN B IRAR B A G RIS TR B
EIRERBERMEHRE 12% B -

REEMEHAXEIEAIAT -

2015 2014
—E—hF ZE—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREET T

Current — Charge for the year EHFTEH - FARX
— Mainland China — B KRE 90,124 125,084
— Macau — JBP 1,399 =
Deferred (note 31) JRIE (BH5E31) (1,599) (11,010)
Total tax charge for the year FRFIEF T BT 89,924 114,074
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10. INCOME TAX (Continued) 10. Frig#i (&)
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax at NEEBRFINGET - ZEERT AT
the applicable tax rates for the countries or jurisdictions in which FrfE 2 BR sk RIA B #8[@ /38 R A SR 5T
companies within the Group are domiciled to the tax expense at the HEMBERY  RIEEEEEHRETE
Group’s effective tax rate is as follows: RIS - MELEREOT :
2015 2014
—E-AfF —TmE
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
PiEE ARETR ARBFIT
Profit before tax BRI A 447,370 698,913
At the applicable tax rates ZEAMETE (a) 76,647 108,637
Effect of tax holiday BB ERTE (4,964) -
Income not subject to tax BERIA (b) (38,317) (7,933)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR AR (c) 48,742 7,533
Tax losses utilised from VAR E R IERERR A
previous years HIBEENER (2,358) (2,296)
Tax losses not recognised RIEMEROTEEE 10,024 8,133
Effect of tax rate change RS-l 150 -

Tax charge at the Group’s effective AEBERBEEMNHERZ

tax rate 89,924 114,074
(@)  The applicable corporate income tax (“CIT”) rate for Mainland (@ HEAREMBARZ@EMERE
China subsidiaries is 25% except for certain subsidiaries that MERITEEMBHRDREXR
would be entitled to preferential tax rates as discussed below: 25% ' EX THEBHRE B
RAEBRIN :
For Mainland China subsidiaries which are qualified as High ERHBRMERER 2 BEAE
and New Technology Enterprises, they would be entitled to a ME LN FIREHAE R 15% 2 BEN
preferential tax rate of 15%. For subsidiaries engaging in the Ko NEEHAIGEELRAN
approved projects of solar power construction, they will be MEBAR BIEERSE 24
exempted from CIT for the first three years and are entitled to a ELERAFMBATFEER £
50% tax reduction for the subsequent three years (“=% =R£") —FER-FRBTECRXHAE
since their respective first revenue-generating year. Thereafter, B HE=ZFRFBREERS
they will be subject to CIT at a rate of 25%. M= m+¥) - & B#F

HRIZ 25% 2 R BT RIS
B e
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10. INCOME TAX (Continued)

(b)  Income not subject to tax mainly consists of unrealised foreign
exchange gain and the fair value gains on conversion rights of

convertible bonds.

(c)  Expenses not deductible for tax mainly consist of equity-settled
share option expenses and finance costs incurred in offshore
companies. These expenses are not expected to be deductible

10. Fi8#i (58)

(b) BERBUATEBEARERI)
FE U 2 A TR P $2 BB 50 R
AT -

(c) AAIERERASEIEBERA
HEBRERAXARBEFRRE
EZBERAE - ZERBHD

for tax. AIHLRAIE -
11. DIVIDENDS 11. g2
2015 2014
—E—RF —E—E
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBETIT
Proposed final — HK3 cents EFEAHIR S - SRR 3B
(2014: HK9 cents) (ZZ—PU4F - 97l
17,469 49,374

per ordinary share

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval
of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general

meeting.

REZ IR 2 RIS RBEARRRPIR
RIEERSBSE RS LHE -
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12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE

TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is based on
the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
Company, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
695,806,347 (2014: 694,193,675) in issue during the year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amount is based
on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
Company as used in the basic earnings per share calculation, adjusted
to reflect the interest on the convertible bonds and fair value gains on
the conversion rights of the convertible bonds, where applicable (see
below). The weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the
calculation is the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year, as used in the basic earnings per share calculation,
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed to have
been issued at no consideration on the deemed exercise or conversion
of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

12. XA BIERTAAE

i EF

BRERZFTIBIEARRD R ERRER
FAABGERGEFRENBEITER
A% 89 hn 4 F 15 £695,806,347 B ( = &
—PU4F : 694,193,6750% ) 58 °

BRESERNTREFESREARR
BB ARR L BRESRE ARG
FREANE - WIEHAR - URERA]
BB RN B R AR E S B
NP EWRE (ER) (RTFX) - 5HER
RAREBEIIEFHBRANFNET
VEBEINETFOEE (BRFAEER
EARN)  URBREME#HTEE
EBREARTTERE RS EBRIEE
EEITE BB ISR -
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12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are based on:

12. XA B BIERTAAE
iEEiRER ()

BREARREERNNAERE

2015 2014
—T-af —T—mE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBFT
Earnings ¥
Profit attributable to ordinary FTEEREARZT
equity holders of the Company RRRE B ER
used in the basic earnings BH AEEZF
per share calculation: 355,986 584,269
Interest on convertible bonds AR SR 100,610 37,762
Less: fair value gains on the B TR E R R
conversion rights of M A ERE
the convertible bonds (163,586) (115,719)
Profit attributable to ordinary MR AR ES B &
equity holders of the Company AR A B IR
before interest on convertible NHERGE AR T EE
bonds and fair value gains on &= E AR
the conversion rights of
the convertible bonds 293,010 506,312
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12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 12. KA LiBRERIEEAE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE EERER (E)
COMPANY (Continued)

Number of shares

38 E
2015 2014
—T-af —T—mE
Shares %15
Weighted average number of FTEESRERBN
ordinary shares in issue during FARETERRY
the year used in the basic N9 8L
earnings per share calculation 695,806,347 694,193,675
Effect of dilution — weighted average ~ #F#EF 2 - LB
number of ordinary shares: IR -
Share options fEhs 11,617,510 14,101,924
Convertible bonds AR ES 71,941,829 28,828,025

779,365,686 737,123,624
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. Y% - BERRE

Office
equipment
Land and Plant and Motor and fumiture Photovoltaic Construction
buildings machinery vehicles HAZE power station in progress Total
THRETF EEE) RE RERHR ftkEss ERIR it
31 December 2015 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
“E-5F+-R=1-H NREFT NREFT NRETT NREFT NRBFT AREIL  \RETR
Cost: 7
Atllaniay 2015  R-E-1%
-A-H 1,129,210 293,728 14,261 27,195 1,825,918 442,579 3,732,891
Addtions AE 452 39,793 2,580 9,162 54,151 442,735 548 873
Acquisition of a WE-HHB AR
subsidiary (note 36) ~~ (F36) 75 - 261 201 - - 537
Transfers EL] 141,584 1,661 - - 429,936 (573,181) -
Disposals LE - - (35) - (35,897) - (35,932)
Exchange realignment B 5% 1,051 - (20) 6 - - 1,037
At31 December 2015 R=F-%F
T-A=+-H 1,272,372 335,182 17,047 36,564 2,274,108 312,133 4,247,406
Accumulated RHERAE:
depreciation
and impairment:
At 1 January 2015 R=Z-1%-A-A 71,074 108,777 10,016 18,882 69,071 - 277,820
Depreciation provided ~ REEHERE
fortheyear (note 7). (HiEE7) 22,548 28,157 1,375 4,044 78,365 - 134,489
Acquistion of a WE-HHBAR
subsidiary (note 36)  (FizE36) 7 - 61 50 - - 118
Disposals HE - - (30 - (366) - (396)
Exchange realignment ~ [E 3 5% 133 - (5) 9 - - 137
At31 December 2015 R-F—HE
T-A=t-A 93,762 136,934 11,417 22,985 147,070 - 412,168
Net carying amount,  ARE(E :
At 1 January 2015 RZE-RF-A—H 1,058,136 184,951 4,245 8313 1,756,847 442,579 3,455,071
At31 December 2015 R-E-1%
t-A=t-A 1,178,610 198,248 5,630 13,579 2,127,038 312,133 3,835,238
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. Y% - RERRE (B)
(Continued)
Office
equipment
Land and Plant and Motor and furniture Photovoltaic Construction
buildings machinery vehicles VNS power station in progress Total
THREF KRR ol REREE KIREY fEIR )
31 December 2014 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
“E-PE+-A=1-A ARETT ARETT AREFT ARETT ARETT ARETT  ARETR
Cost: A
At 1 January 2014 RZE-ME-F-B 1062507 275,734 12,576 23,767 1,454,144 18118 2,846,846
Additions hE 2637 14,528 1803 3421 126429 906,247 1,085,071
Transfers #E 64,008 3,466 - - 414312 (481,786) -
Disposals i - - (118) - (1639%7) - (169.089)
Exchange realignment ~ [E33 8% 58 - - 1 - - 59

At31 December 2014 R-Z-IE
TZh=1-H 1,129210 293,728 14,261 27,195 1825918 442,579 3732891

Accumulated BRHERRE:

depreciation

and impairment:
At 1 January 2014 RZT-IE-F-8 47,207 71875 8,268 15716 17,566 - 166,632
Depreciation provided ~ AFEHERE

forthe year (note 7).~ (Bf3E7) 21617 26,398 1,748 3165 57982 - 110,910
Impairment provided ~ AEEHERE

fortheyear (ole 7). (FE7) 243 4504 - - - - 6,747
Disposals e - - - - (6477) - (6477)
Exchange realignment  TE 3 3% 7 - - 1 - - 8

At31 December 2014 R-E-IE
T-A=1t-8 71074 108777 10016 18,882 69,071 - 277820

Net carrying amount.  BREF(E :
At 1 January 2014 RZZ-IE-F-B 1015300 197,859 4308 8051 1,436,578 18,118 2,680,214

At31 December 2014 R=F-ME
T-h=1-H 1,058,136 184,951 4245 8313 1,756,847 442 579 3455,071
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Notes:

(a)

At 31 December 2015, certain of the Group’s buildings with a net carrying
amount of approximately RMB310,073,000 (2014: RMB315,170,000)
were pledged to secure bank and other loans granted to the Group (note
28(a)).

As at 31 December 2015, the application for the property ownership
certificates of certain buildings with a net carrying amount of
approximately RMB448,842,000 (2014: RMB275,844,000) was in
progress. Those buildings can only be sold, transferred or mortgaged
when their relevant ownership certificates have been obtained.

As at 31 December 2015, the rights on the annual return generated
from the photovoltaic power station with a net carrying amount of
approximately RMB31,200,000 (2014: RMB32,498,000) were assigned
to an independent third party for twenty years for a loan obtained by the
Group (note 28(b)).

As at 31 December 2015, certain of the Group’s photovoltaic power
stations with a net carrying amount of approximately RMB1,150,558,000
(2014: Nil) were pledged to secure bank and other loans granted to the
Group (note 28(c)).

As at 31 December 2015, certain of the Group’s buildings were
pledged as collateral for the Group’s bank loan with a principal of
RMB15,000,000. Such bank loan was repaid by the Company in August
2015 and the Group is still the customary procedure to discharge the
buildings mortgage.

i

R-ZZ—AF+=-A=+—8 K&
B AR EFE L = AR 310,073,000
T(ZZE—mF : AR 315,170,000
) ZEFEERTFRITRIEARLME
R TFAREE 2 BIR (M 28(@) °

RZZ—AF+=-A=+—8 K@
SFEEX B AR 448,842,000T (= F
—PO4E : AR#275,844,0007T) 25
TERFZYEERZZSIERFERRE
B - aSRBFERRSERBNE
EEER A LE - BiEsRS -

RZZE—RF+ZA=+—8 %
REUEENEAFEHOARE
31,200,0007C( = F— M4 : AR¥E
32,498,000 7T ) 2 4F € Bl WA A B 7
AEERSzFHA-TFNERE
ETENE=77 (MIEE28(b)) °

RZZ—HF+=-A=+—8 K@
SFEHARK1,150,558,000L(=F
—OF : 8) 2 AEEETHRERD
EHRFRITRIEAEMER R TAE
E 2 #ER (MIEE 28(c) °

R-_ZT—RF+=-A=+—8" &%
EETEFHEBEAAEEASEE
AR ¥ 15,000,000 TR 1T E R 2 K 3H
Mo ZEBRTERTAEARRR-E
—RAFNAEERAEENIRENE
Fr e BRIEFIRA -
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14. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS 14. AL HESKRIE

2015 2014

—E-RF —ZE-mF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT AREEFIT

Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BZEEE 97,513 94,608

Additions NE 875 5,088
Amortisation charged for the year AN (MRE7)

(note 7) (2,252) (2,183)
Carrying amount at 31 December R+-—A=+—HZEAE 96,136 97,513
At 31 December 2015, certain of the Group’s prepaid land RZE—RAF+_A=+—H ~%E
lease payments with a net carrying amount of approximately BREFEN AR 89,569,000t (==
RMB89,569,000 (2014: RMB91,555,000) were pledged to secure — & AR¥91,555,0007T) B FE S
bank loans granted to the Group (note 28(d)). THHEEREEEREAR T AREEN

RITERZ PR (M3 28(d)) °
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31 December 2015 =E—HF+=A=+—H

15. ML EE

Operating
Software rights Total
B4 B wst
31 December 2015 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
—E2-AE¥+=H=+—H AREFx ARTRT ARSBTRT
Cost: R :
At 1 January 2015 R-ZE—RF—HF—H 2,273 4,107 6,380
Additions NE 2,905 - 2,905
At 31 December 2015 R-E—FAF+-_A=+—H 5,178 4,107 9,285
Accumulated amortisation FMEERRIE
and impairment:
At 1 January 2015 R-E—RF—HA—H 1,151 3,635 4,786
Amortisation provided FNEERE (FIE7)
during the year (note 7) 541 472 1,013
At 31 December 2015 R-E—FAF+-_A=+—H 1,692 4,107 5,799
Net carrying amount: AREEE :
At 1 January 2015 R-E—HF—AF—H 1,122 472 1,594
At 31 December 2015 R-E—FHF+-_A=+—H 3,486 - 3,486
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15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

15. R EE (/B)

Operating
Software rights Total
g Ko HET
31 December 2014 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
—ET—NmNF+=-A=+—H AREFT ARETT ARETTT
Cost: AR :
At 1 January 2014 R-ZE—UF—H—H 1,664 4,107 5,771
Additions NE 609 - 609
At 31 December 2014 R-E—NF+—-_A=+—H 2,273 4,107 6,380
Accumulated amortisation Rt RRE
and impairment:
At 1 January 2014 R-ZE—WNF—HF—H 808 3,291 4,099
Amortisation provided FREHRE (HE7)
during the year (note 7) 343 344 687
At 31 December 2014 R-E—NF+=-_F=+—H 1,151 3,635 4,786
Net carrying amount: ARTEFE :
At 1 January 2014 R-ZE—UFE—/F—H 856 816 1,672
At 31 December 2014 R-E—NFE+-_A=+—H 1,122 472 1,594
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16. PAYMENTS IN ADVANCE 16. TEfIFIE

2015 2014

—E—hF —E—NE

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT AREFTT

Advance payments in respect of: LATIE B TR E0E

Land use rights b RE 21,131 2,486

Construction of fixed assets BTEERZR - 170,642

Purchase of machinery EEWRRE 9,006 19,307

Others Hitb - 789

30,137 193,224

17. GOODWILL 17. &8

2015
—E—AhF
RMB’000
AREFxT
At 1 January n—H—H -
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 36) U igE—rk B A A (FiFE36) 9,783
Impairment during the year FRRE (9,783)
At 31 December Rn+=—A=+—H -
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17. GOODWILL (Continued)

Goodwill, which arose from the acquisition of Malaysia Singyes on
29 June 2015, represented the excess of the cost of the business
combination over the Company’s interest in the fair value of Malaysia
Singyes’s net identifiable assets at the date of acquisition (note
37). Goodwill acquired through business combination is allocated
to the Malaysia Singyes cash- generating unit (“Malaysia CGU")
for impairment testing purposes. The Group performed its annual
impairment test as at 31 December 2015. The sharp fall in Malaysia
currency exchange rate against the major international currencies in
2015 and the ongoing economic uncertainty have led to the recognition
of expected losses for construction projects undertaken by Malaysia
Singyes during the year. As at 31 December 2015, Malaysia Singyes
has a net deficit position, the recoverable amount of Malaysia CGU
was assumed to be zero. Management has assessed that the fair value
of the Malaysia CGU approximates to the net carrying amounts of the
respective assets less liabilities of Malaysia Singyes largely due to the
short term maturities of these assets and liabilities. It was concluded
by management that the value in use did not exceed the fair value less
costs of disposal. As a result of this analysis, management has fully
impaired the goodwill of RMB9,783,000.

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

17. B8 (&)

PmEELEENR T —RAFAZTNA
We i 5 2R P an B - 45 UKHE B BRZE TS
S ZRARBHARA R SRR EE
FURREEZ AN FEZES 2D
(M¥5E37) - BBEBEHKBEZHE
PRESKATHEERSEEEN(H
RAGIREEAEEN]) LEREBER -
AEBR_Z—AF+-A=+—80%#
THFERENR - SRATERLE
DEREEERN - E—REKNR Nk
LA B AOE T BARA - St S RAE T
TR F NG 2 3R IE A BREHE
B-RZE—AF+_A=+—0" &
RPEE B E A FIRFRE - BARARR
CEABNZAIKNECEREAS - &
BECNEERATREEAEM A
FEEERADHEEEREEREE
ZEEMEEEE  TEARZEEE
MAaEz EEEIEEE - EREELZ
HwmAFERABELRBRATERDE
FRA - RIS - EREDHEEA
89,783,000 FT{EH AEZURE ©

18. NEtEATIRE

2015

—T—-RF

RMB’000

AREBTR

Unlisted investments, at cost JEETIRE B 1,200
Share of losses of associates DR N BB (5,944)

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s

investments in the associates BERE(E

REERBERTIRED

(4,744)
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18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 18. REtEATIRE (B)
The Group’s trade receivable and other receivable balances with the AEEBEBE NG BREFHRERE
associates are disclosed in note 41 to the financial statements. h FEUTFRIB A5 B8R T BA TS SRR P 52 41 #2
= o
In the opinion of the management, there were no material associates of FRERR  FANEBEWEEREE
the Group during the year. NG
The Group’s shareholdings in the associates are held through the AARREERARNRIESBAATE
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company. BB ARIREE -
The Group continued the recognition of its share of losses of associates BESMZEHEAREEEBELNER
despite the share of lossess of these associates exceeded the REZEHEAT 2w NEB DR
Group’s interest in these associates because the Group has a capital BRERES(RBEAREBE  REA
contribution obligation to these associates (note 40). EEHZEBEQAREHEET (M
40) °
19. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 19. o[t ERE
2015 2014
—E-AF —T-F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
PisE ARBTR AREEFIT
Unlisted equity investments, at cost: ~ FF ETIARAIE E AN -
Weihai China Glass Solar Co., Ltd. BTN EBERAF 12,614 11,878
Jiuhua New Energy Management NEFEIREEBRAR]
Co., Ltd. 380 380
Shanxi Singyes Solar Technology Pk 7 S 25 KPS REARHE,
Co., Ltd. BRAT] 7,600 -
Zhuhai Xinye Green Energy RGBS AR B R R
Technology Co., Ltd. BRAA 9,500 -
Others EAfth 5 -
30,099 12,258
Other investments, at fair value EMigE - BAFE 20,901 <
51,000 12,258
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19. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 19. oJHHERE (5B)

(Continued)

Notes: MosE

(@)  As at 31 December 2015, the equity investment listed above were (@ WMZE—RF+ZA=+—8" L7
stated at cost as the Group has no significant influence or control over BRI & THiR B AN BR - FE AN S B ¥
the entities. The unlisted equity investments represent the Group’s BRVESEAVESIEHE - L™
investments in enterprises domiciled in Mainland China. They are stated R EIEANEER R AR
at cost less impairment because the range of reasonable fair value & BERERK AR ERMET)
estimates is so significant that the directors are of the opinion that their i IEHEAEATEMGLFTCEEE
fair value cannot be measured reliably. The Group does not intend to K EBERAE  HAFEEEUSME
dispose of them in the near future. £ AEEESNIHRLEEHIRE -

(b)  Other investments at fair value at 31 December 2015 represented (b)) WRZE—RAF+ZA=+—HEQF

the cash surrender value (“CSV”) of the two life insurance contracts
(“Insurance Contracts”) entered into between the Company and an

EFIIRE MR E AN 78— R
RBARNR_ZE—RFE+ AR LWE

international insurance company in July 2015. The Company is the ASRBAEL (TR ﬁ’*\i\@l) o)k
policyholder and beneficiary of the Insurance Contracts. ([FFH2]) - ARRBRBRAEHRIK

The salient terms of the Insurance Contracts are disclosed as follows:

RARZEA o

RER A R E BIFRIRBELT ¢

Contract 1 Contract 2
&t &892
Life insured Liu Hongwei* Key mangement
ABRE BIAT 4~ FTEERE
Sum insured (US$'000) 10,000 5,000
Rz a8 (F57T)
Premium mode Single premium Single premium
REEELZNAR BHRE BHRE
Single premium (US$'000) 3,077 946
BHRE (F5=7T)
Effective date 20 August 2015 14 August 2015
AR A H —ZE-RFN\AZ+H —Z-RFEN\A+THEA

In accordance with the Insurance Contracts, upon giving a written
notice, at anytime, the Company has a right to surrender the Insurance
Contracts and receive a CSV for each insurance contract as quoted by
the insurance company.

ol Mr. Liu Hongwei is the chairman and chief executive of the
Company.

BREREEH - NMEAREREHER
BA - ARBBBRRIRRE
FREFWHREMRB A OUWEEL

A /\

. BT E R R R EEFRT
BB o



160

China Singyes Solar Technologies Holdings Limited Annual Report 2015

N’

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B35 ¥R AR Y et

31 December 2015 =E—HF+=A=+—H

19. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

19. ATt &4 E (45)

BaE - ()

(b)  (Continued) (by (&)

Total single premium sum of approximately US$4,023,000 (equivalent EHIR B 42 £ 58 494,023,000 % 7T (48
to approximately RMB26,129,000) has been fully paid by the Company ERHARY26,129,0007T ) B B A

at the inception of each of the Insurance Contracts. During the year, RAREHRBENRABREIAT -
a gross loss in respect of the Insurance Contracts recognised in other FR - BRBENBEEREMEZE
comprehensive income amounted to RMB5,228,000, representing the s R R AR 5,228,000 + A
difference between the CSV at 31 December 2015 and the total single T -AF+ZA=t+—H@®BHNEHE
premium sum paid by the Company at the inception of the each of ARNBREOREBEQORAB T EL

Insurance Contracts. REMBEERE -
20. INVENTORIES 20. &8

2015 2014

—E—hF —E—NE

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Raw materials R HL 73,928 73,669

Finished goods ER R 19,243 40,917

93,171 114,586
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21. CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS 21. BEER
2015 2014
—E—hF —E—E
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T
Contract costs incurred plus Frea R DN £ B R )
recognised profits less recognised Bie S BN R IBHIEE
and expected losses to date 3,368,845 1,347,162
Less: progress billings B IREEAE RS (2,441,347) (1,062,677)
927,498 284,485
Gross amount due from YA RRFPRFIEMEEE
contract customers 937,546 284,485
Gross amount due to EREREFPHFIEMEEE
contract customers (10,048) -
927,498 284,485
22. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 22. FEWGE S FTE R B SE R
2015 2014
—E—hF —E—E
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETTT
Trade and bills receivables FEUE 5508 & R =R 2,319,622 2,163,334
Less: impairment o ORE (27,427) (2,833)

2,292,195 2,160,501
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22. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Continued) 22. [EYG B S RIE R B E S

&)
As at 31 December 2015, trade receivables contained retention money R-E—RF+_A=+—8" JE
receivables of RMB273,088,000 (2014: RMB299,731,000). Retention WESRERERERERE ARE
money receivables are normally collected within one to five years after 273,088,000 c( ZE—MF : AR
the completion of the relevant construction works. 299,731,0007T) » FEWE R & —AHHE

MEETIRTRE - ERFRUKER -

Credit terms granted to the Group’s major customers are as follows: BEYASEXTZERFPHEEBRNT :
Construction contracts BEEH

The majority of the Group’s revenues are generated from construction AEBHNRBLWNBBAEEERE
contracts and are settled in accordance with the terms specified in A WIRREEHBARETENGRTF
the contracts governing the relevant construction works. The Group EEMNGRREE - ASEHABRTHE
does not have a standardised and universal credit period granted to ERERPZERG—WEER - @5
its construction contract customers. The credit period of individual EERBELPHEEREBRMmE - I
construction contract customers is considered on a case-by-case basis PIBAAZESRF (MEE) - W—I8E
and set out in the construction contracts, as appropriate. In the event BEHRTAEER - RIREBEMHED
that a project contract does not specify the credit period, the usual BRAFNT30HZE150 HMEEH -

practice of the Group is to allow a credit period of 30 to 150 days.

Sale of materials MHEEHE

For the sale of materials, the Group normally grants a credit period BMEEEmMS - ASKE—BETEE
ranging from three to six months to major customers. Trade receivables EENT=Z2XEANEES - kB
from small and new customers are normally expected to be settled A RFEEFHEKE S5 I8:H T8 H
shortly after the delivery of goods. No credit period is set by the Group EEBINER ELNEE - A5H
for small and new customers. KPR RIS R PR EEER -

Sale of electricity BENHHE

The Group’s trade receivables from the sale of electricity are mainly AEEREENHENERE SHFIEE
receivables from the State Grid Corporation of China (“State Grid”). ZEARKERREFARAR([HREH])
Generally, trade receivables are usually settled within one month from HE —mE  BKEBZHIE—MRE

the date of billing. EEBHEE —EANERE -
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22. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Sale of electricity (Continued)
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-interest-

bearing.

An aged analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at the end of the

22. FEWEE SRIE R FEWEHE

(#&)

ENHE(E)

REBY EL W E ST ERBER AT
AR SR E A S S INSR 6 - EWE

HRERRE.

RIREHR - HRRARE A H RINRRE

reporting period, based on the billing date and net of impairment, is as EETEMEWE 58 K EREEER
follows: BROTINT

2015 2014
—E—AF —ZE—UE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETTT
Within 3 months —@ARA 860,566 1,381,758
3 to 6 months =z E A 435,525 519,414
6 to 12 months NETZ@A 629,739 126,922
1 to 2 years —EMFE 318,022 118,257
210 3 years MZE =4 42,097 14,080
Over 3 years =FPAE 6,246 70
2,292,195 2,160,501
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22. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The movements in provision for impairment of trade receivables are as

22. {?g%ga,ﬁxﬁ&ma%ng

FEWE SRR EREZEFHMT

follows:

2015 2014
—E-AF —T—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFIT
At 1 January n—A—H 2,833 2,555

Impairment losses recognised ERERREEE (HE7)
(note 7) 26,771 278
Amount written-off as uncollectible ~ RIUTEIHEFEEH S 58 (2,177) -
27,427 2,833

The individually impaired trade receivables relate to customers that
were in financial difficulties or were in default interest or principal
payment or both and only a portion of the receivables is expected to
be recovered. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over these balances.

ERIRE R FE U E 5 R8T B B 75 I
BRI B AR E A
EFPAR  BEBENREBNZEE
W SRR - REB B %L T HERE
B EEM R E A EEINRIEE o
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22. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Continued)

An aged analysis of the Group’s trade and bills receivables that are not
considered to be impaired is as follows:

22. FEWEE SRIE R FEWEHE

(#&)

AR BRAR A0 (B 0 8 WU 5 3R I R
WEIEIRE DT

2015 2014

—T-af —T—mE

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETR ARBFIT

Neither past due nor impaired KRBT AR RE 1,554,853 2,041,956
Past due but not impaired: EEHERRE :

Less than 6 months past due BHEIT R /N E A 592,732 109,657

6 to 12 months past due wEAARE+ @A 136,599 8,499

Over 12 months past due wE+ @A E 8,011 389

2,292,195 2,160,501

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a large
number of diversified customers for whom there was no recent history
of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number
of independent customers. The directors of the Company are of the
opinion that no further provision for impairment is necessary in respect
of these remaining balances as there has not been a significant change
in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over these balances.

Included in the Group’s trade receivables are amounts due from the
Group’s associate of RMB63,629,000 (2014: Nil), which are repayable
on credit terms similar to those offered to the major customers of the
Group.

The Group has pledged trade receivables of approximately
RMB597,000 (2014: Nil) to secure bank loans granted to the Group
(note 28(f)).

REHTRARBE R BRI R T A &5
Y mENTENZ TP ER -

EEMHERRERN EYGIRTE2 £ 58
YEPEM BN EEERTEHRE

2% AEREKRIDRE S 2B
B - KAREERRBARZFHERE
SIEHE— PRERE - AEELESS
FEEBR A A ER R EMEE N
SRIETE ©

FIAREBEWE ZRIBRREAREE
B8 N A FRIA A R #5 63,629,000 7T (=
T-F &) WARUREHRTAE
BIXETFEEBFRRZENTE -

AEBEBEIF L AR BS97,0007T (=
T—NF : E)NERE SHRBIEAR
FAEBIBITERZER (MizE28M) o
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23. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

23. FAHTRIA « ST R HEAL R
L

2015 2014
—E—1%F ZE—NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREF T

Prepayments to subcontractors TERT B R L RE R A8
and suppliers 165,997 169,013
Deposits HIEA 65,731 49,934
Tariff adjustment receivables* FEUL T (E AL 99,355 31,734
Other receivables H b pE U RIE 325,885 206,678
656,968 457,359
Less: impairment o ORE (4,578) (2,093)
652,390 455,266

The movements in provision for impairment of other receivables are as

Hit SRR E R HEEBFI T

follows:
2015 2014
—E—-R%E —E—E
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFx AREEFIT
At 1 January n—A—H 2,093 400
Impairment loss recognised (note 7) B RERBEEE (FIzE7) 2,485 1,693
4,578 2,093

Impairment provision of RMB4,578,000 (2014: RMB2,093,000) has
been made on other receivables that have been outstanding for a long
time. Other than the amount of RMB4,578,000, none of the above
assets are either past due or impaired and relate to receivables for
which there was no recent history of default.

BBt R B AR U 31 B9 L A P U IE VR HE R
BEEEBARKE4578000C (=2 —MW
£ : AR#2093,000T)° B AR
4,578,000 7T o + bt B 7 4 4% @ B ok
RME - B BT EA N A HE R AT B A JE IR
BHE -
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23.

24.

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The Group has pledged tariff adjustment receivables of approximately
RMB89,396,000 (2014: Nil) to secure bank loans granted to the
Group (note 28(g)).

* The Group’s tariff adjustment receivables from the sale of electricity are
mainly receivables from the State Grid. Tariff adjustment receivables
represented the government subsidies on renewable energy for ground
projects to be received from the State Grid based on the existing

23.

RARIE - T REMBEK
IR ()

AEEBDEF O A RS9,396,000 7T
(ZZ—mF : &) EERRERGIE
AR TASERTER ZER (M
28(g)) °

* AEBEREENHENEWEE MR
TZRABEREMEOERTIER - B
BEBAUERERTERNERRSAE
RERUE 2 AT B AR A B K

government policies. fF4aE8E ©

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 24. HERBREZFBEYLUIRIEHE

PLEDGED DEPOSITS 2
2015 2014
—ET—AF —ZT—UF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETFT ARET T
Cash and bank balances Re RRITHET 1,265,303 901,417
Time deposits EHER 376,055 500,327
1,641,358 1,401,744

Less: Pledged time deposits for: B BLATNIE B 2 IR EEATERK

Bank loans (note 28(e)) RITE R (KMI3E28(e)) 20,000 20,000
Letter of credit ER%E = 13,500
Bills payable (note 25) FEE 5 (Fi7E25) 356,055 466,827
376,055 500,327
Cash and cash equivalents BeMRSEEY 1,265,303 901,417
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24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

PLEDGED DEPOSITS (Continued)

The Group’s cash and bank balances and time deposits denominated
in the following currencies:

24. & RIRSFFEYLI R

=™ (E)

REBR S RIRTTEER AR HBF A
THE®TIE

2015 2014
—E—RF ZE—NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBFT

RMB equivalent amount: AREEEDR
RMB AR 1,513,396 1,262,400
Us$ ET 63,643 104,449
HK$ BT 46,966 21,616
SG$ b 63 2,145
MOP SEPIT 2,171 11,134
MYR R 15,119 -
1,641,358 1,401,744

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies. However,
under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange
business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Time deposits are made for varying periods of between
one day and three months depending on the immediate cash
requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short
term time deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged deposits are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

ARBIIT R ARBEMER - R
i ARE P BRRE R IMNE B IR D) Ko 45
- EENMIEEEMRTE  AEEEE
BBERELEINEEBNRITEAR
BHBREMER -

RITHRSRE ARITERN KR ZFEF
KB EMERZERBNF—H
E=ER  \RAKEZNSHESFRM
E - WL ERREHENERA RS
RITEBNERFTAREFALHRET
RIBRAEE - FERIHORITH
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25. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES 25. FERTE SR IE R B R4
An aged analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the end of the REEHR - ERNEEA TR
reporting period, based on the invoice date or issuance date, where (RFIBRME) T EEN B S FIERIE
appropriate, is as follows: NEBERNERRDITOT ¢
2015 2014
—E-RF —T—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTR ARET T
Within 3 months =EAR 365,420 419,822
3 to 6 months =EEA 411,341 555,872
6 to 12 months NE+ @A 88,685 278,953
1to 2 years —EWF 21,114 14,366
2 to 3 years WME=F 3,974 7,848
Over 3 years =FE 12,969 7,471
903,503 1,284,332
The trade and bills payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally ZERNESRERENER AR BN
settled on six-month terms. BELNEABRES -
As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, the Group’s bills payable were RZE—RAFERZTE—NF+=ZA
secured by the pledged deposits (note 24). =+—8  rAEEENEERTIAERT

M (PFE24) -
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26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 26. HtFEFRRIAR ERTRRIR

2015 2014

—E-AF —T-F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR AREEFIT

Advances from customers BE#H 122,042 32,355

Tax and surcharge payables FERTHEIE R it hn 66,566 41,738

Accrued expenses BRI X 17,520 18,731

Other payables H b S FR8 125,162 221,530

331,289 314,354
Other payables and accruals are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and EMbE FUE R ER FUBAEEE -

have no fixed terms of repayment. BEREETEEERD
4= =
27. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 27. THESRT A

2015 2014

—E¥—hF —T—mF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR AREFIT

Interest rate swaps F| =42 B - 3,042
The Group uses interest rate swaps to manage its interest rate risk. ZIKEI?UFH FIREHEREFRRER

On 30 June 2015, the Group entered into interest rate swap contracts RZT—RFAA=+H KAEBHEE
with the bank, covering periods from 30 June 2015 to 29 June 2018. TEmEETT LM EREREL - 545
The interest rate swap contracts entitle the Group to receive interest AB-E—RFNA=1TBHE-_ZT—N\F
at floating rates on an aggregate notional principal of US$5 million ANAZTRB - REFMEEEREL
(equivalent to approximately RMB32 million) and to pay interest at AEBEEIBZZHINERZEASHE
fixed rates on the same notional amount principal simultaneously. The %6 55,000,000 T (HERDARE
Group agreed with the bank to swap the interest difference between 32,000,000 7T ) WERFIE - FIFREIZ E E
fixed rates and floating rates, on the deemed notional principal FRGRZR — BB ARSI FE - E‘f

amounts on a three-month basis. As at 31 December 2015, the fair B IELERSEIR=(H A EEtE
value of the interest rate swaps is estimated to be zero. NG B B — SRR 1T 15 E ATHAE] E ) R B

BIBHFIERNFEE - R2E—HE
+-A=+—8 - FREBEnATEE
Az
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28. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

28. MIRIRITREMER

LOANS
2015 2014
—B-1f —T-mE
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) rate (%)
BB B
iz Maturity RMB'000 ME Maturity RMB'000
(%) Y ARETR (%) HE ARKETR
Current RE
Bank overdrafts RITEX
- secured - B Hong Kong
Interbank
Offered Rate
(“HIBOR”) +3 HIBOR+3
BEHRT E#BHT  Ondemand
FI%#HE+3 - - FERE+3 BRER 3944
Revolving loans BRER
~ secured - BHEA HIBOR HIBOR
+3~3.5 +3.5~4
BERT EBRT
R%FE  Ondemand FIZ#E  Ondemand
+3~3.5 HEK 28,051 +3.5~4 HEP 16,961
~ Unsecured* vl London
Interbank
Offered Rate
(“LIBOR") +3.25
fREERTT
E%#2  Ondemand
+3.25 HEX 3,246 = = =
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28.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 28. Mt BRITRAEMERR (&)
LOANS (Continued)
2015 2014
%1% —T-mF
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) rate (%)
BB B
iz Maturity RMB’000 ik Maturity RMB'000
(%) 8 ARETR (%) I ARETR
Bank loans FITER
~ secured - BEA LIBOR+3.4
fRFERIT  On demand
FI%8R S +3.4 BEXK 18,046 - - -
LIBOR+3.75
fREERTT
AEHFE+3.75 2016 12,697 - - -
HIBOR+0.95~4
EiBRT BBRT
CEiCN EEZ
+0.95~4 2016 30,352 +0.95 2015 959
4.30~7.84 2016 824,700 2.27~7.86 2015 578,967
Bank loans BITER
~ unsecured* v LIBOR+2.75
fREERIT
B2 wERIT
+2.75 2016 5309 REHFE+25 2015 144,267
5.35 2016 50,000 6~7.2 2015 55,000
Other loans HthER
- secured - BEH 5.04 2016 30,000 5.04~8.3 2015 185,500
- secured? - 9.41 2016 36,770 - - -
Other loans HiER
- unsecured" - EEA 9.07 2016 1,606 9.07 2015 1,923

1,040,777

987,521
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28. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

LOANS (Continued)

28. M BRMITRAMBER ()

2015 2014
—B-1f —T-mE
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) rate (%)
BB B
iz Maturity RMB'000 ME Maturity RMB'000
(%) Y ARETR (%) HE ARKETR
Non-current ERE
Bank loans RITER
- secured -BHR HIBOR+0.95
BERT BERIT
E%#FE+0.95  2017-2020 3,433 FEHFE+095 2016-2020 4202
HIBOR+3~4
FERT
E%HEE+3~4  2017-2018 211,199 - - -
LIBOR+3.4~3.75
fRBERIT
FI%HE
+3.4~3.75  2017-2018 713,993 5.04~6.77 2016 87,000
6.67  2017-2027 307,948 - - -
5.15  2017-2022 25,200 6.72 2016-2022 29,400
6.60  2017-2029 186,000 7.86 2016-2029 194,000
Other loans HiER
- secured” - BEA 9.41  2017-2018 78,810 5.04 2016 60,000
Other loans HiER
- unsecured” - EEA 9.07  2017-2034 15,323 9.07 2016-2034 17,077
1,541,906 391,679

2,582,683

1,379,200
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28. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 28. M BRITREMERR (B)
LOANS (Continued)
2015 2014
—E—1%F ZE—NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREF T
Analysed into: ARV
Bank loans repayable: AR THIRIER ZBITER
Within one year —FR 972,401 800,098
In the second year FF 88,472 100,170
In the third to fifth FE=FZF0F
years, inclusive (PIEERWE) 1,017,953 47,578
Beyond five years RENRE 341,348 166,854
2,420,174 1,114,700
Other loans repayable: RRSIREAER 2 HAER
Within one year —FR 68,376 187,423
In the second year F_F 33,809 61,761
In the third to fifth FE—FEERF
years, inclusive (BIiEEEMTE) 50,689 4,451
Beyond five years AFEUE 9,635 10,865
162,509 264,500

2,582,683 1,379,200
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28. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
LOANS (Continued)

N
o
=
¢
EH
=
¢
&
ot
&
Ll
i

These bank loans were solely guaranteed by the Company for nil
consideration.

During the year, Hunan Singyes entered into a sale-leaseback
arrangement with an independent third party leasing company to
sale and leaseback its 37.72MW photovoltaic power station. Based
on the substance of the sale-leaseback arrangement, the lease-back
arrangement is a finance lease, whereby the lessor provide finance to
Hunan Singyes, with the photovoltaic power stations as security to the
loan.

The sale-leaseback principal of the finance lease is RMB125 million
and bearing effective interest at a rate of 9.41% per annum. Pursuant
to the terms of the sale-leaseback arrangement, Hunan Sinyes paid a
refundable guarantee deposit of RMB7.8 million, and non-refundable
consulting fees of RMB5 million at the inception of the lease term and
total RMB3.75 million over the three year lease terms to the lessor. The
loan is repayable on 30 June 2018. At the end of lease term, the lessor is
obliged to transfer the ownership of the above assets to Hunan Singyes at
a nominal consideration of RMB100.

On 7 November 2014, Singyes Green Investment (HK) Company
Limited (“Singyes Green Investment”) entered into a revenue distribution
agreement regarding 5SMW photovoltaic power station (the “Relevant
Asset”), which is one of the assets held by Hunan Singyes, Singyes Green
Investment’s indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary, with a counterparty,
whereby the counterparty prepaid RMB19,000,000 to Singyes Green
Investment to exchange the right on annual return of the Relevant Asset
for each fiscal year (the “Annual Return”) for twenty years. The Annual
Return is the electricity annual revenue on the Relevant Asset minus
related PRC tax. If in any fiscal year the Annual Return is less than
RMB2,000,000 (the “Minimum Return”), Singyes Green Investment shall
pay the counterparty the Minimum Return. During the year, the annual
return of RMB2,171,000 was paid to the counterparty.

FA-HRMEER B IE=H
ENRFIMEEMAR LTS A
B E37. 72K A RE L - REBEEE
AEZHENEEND  HERHEAR
EMRE - Hut - BAARREER
HEE - POLREIEBE IR o

BEAESEADN RS BARE
125,000,000 7T, K B B 7| 3 12 4 F| &
9.41% 8 - BB EERBRIZTHZ K
FoOHEEERAE R AN RE
ERE S AR 7,800,000 7T & A]
IRIZEAR B A R 5,000,000 7T — &
= BmE AR ¥3,750,000 7T T
HBHEA - ZEFER_ZT—N\F~A
—+AEE - - RAESEK BRAAR
HZBERBARBE 100 7T AR FEE
BEMEEZHEERE-

RZZT—NE+—AtH - BELH
BRE(EB)BRAR(EHELZE
BEDE-BHFHARSKEARE
W(HAEE] REEZEIREN
ME2EWNBARHEERENE
E)RIN—HBRADEHZE - it
ZHFTAEESZEREENAR
#19,000,0007T * AR HBABRE & &=
R-TFHEEEYREENFEER
HRIFERR) ZEF - FEER
AEBEENFES KRR EHEA
FEIFIE - EREF E R FERE
AR A A R # 2,000,000 7T ([ R K B
R AEESZEREAREF X
HE&ERE - FR - FEEHRARE
2,171,000 T2 T ¥ F 77 ©
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28. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
LOANS (Continued)

At 31 December 2015, except for those bank loans with interest rates
linked with the HIBOR and LIBOR which are denominated in HK$ and
US$, totalling RMB273,035,000, and RMB753,291,000, respectively,
all bank and other loans are denominated in RMB.

Certain of the Group’s bank and other loans are secured by:

(a)

(g)

mortgages over the Group’s land and buildings, which had an
aggregate carrying amount at the end of the reporting period
of approximately RMB310,073,000 (2014: RMB315,170,000)
(note 13(a));

the rights on the annual return of the Relevant Asset with a net
carrying amount of approximately RMB31,200,000 at the end of
the reporting period (2014: RMB32,498,000) (note 13(c))

mortgages over the Group’s photovoltaic power stations, which
had an aggregate carrying amount at the end of the reporting
period of approximately RMB1,150,558,000 (2014: Nil) (note
13 (d));

mortgages over the Group’s prepaid land lease payments, which
had a carrying amount at the end of the reporting period of
approximately RMB89,569,000 (2014: RMB91,555,000) (note
14);

the pledge of certain of the Group’s time deposits amounted to
RMB20,000,000 (2014: RMB20,000,000) (note 24);

the pledge of certain of the Group’s trade receivables
approximately RMB597,000 (2014: Nil) (note 22);

the pledge of certain of the Group’s tariff adjustment receivables
approximately RMB89,396,000 (2014: Nil) (note 23); and

28.

Bt BERITRAEMBER ()

REZ—HF+-A=+—0  BH=E
BEBRITAEZRE RRBBITRE
HRERBHRITER (DG HXARE
273,035,0007T & A K #753,291,000
TO) AR TT R ETTAHESN - A RTTR
HEFIAAREE -

REEETRITEEMERBATEIER
A

(@ AEBEITHEEFOHEE R
BEMAREAEATOARE
310,073,0007t( = & — P4 £ :
A K #315,170,0007t ) ( M 5
13(a)) :

by RHEEHAEHEOARR
31,200,0007T K 18 B & &= F &
EHmE(—F—MFE: ARK
32,498,000 7T (M &E 13(c))

() AEBXRBHOIEE K]

EHMAREEEATNHARE
1,150,558,000 7T ( — & — M £ :
=) (BFE13(d))

(d AEEBEMFLAERENE
B RREAREEEOARE
89,569,000 L (—ZE—MM4E : AR
# 91,555,000 7T ) (Ffi#E 14) :

(e) AKBMERMNETEHERE
# & AR #20,000,0007T( =&
— Mm% : AR#¥20,000,0007T)
(PH7E24) °

) AEBEFROEKESZIEHA
R#597,0007C( =2 —P4E : )
(FfzE22) :

(@) AKBEEMHE(E LR UK
I8 49 A R #89,396,000( =&
—mE ) (FE23) - Rk
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28. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
LOANS (Continued)

(h)

the pledge of equity interests in the following subsidiaries within
the Group:

92% equity interests in Xinjiang Singyes Renewable
Energy Technology Co., Ltd.;

ii. 92% equity interests in Wuwei Dongrun Solar Energy
Development Co., Ltd.;

In addition, the Company’s directors have guaranteed certain of the
Group’s bank and other loans for nil consideration, details of which are
as follows (note 41):

(M)

the Company’s director, Mr. Liu Hongwei, has guaranteed the
Group’s bank and other loans of RMB173,000,000 (2014:
RMB468,000,000);

the Company’s directors, Messrs. Liu Hongwei and Sun Jinli,
have jointly guaranteed the Group’s bank and other loans of
RMB118,000,000 (2014: RMB240,000,000);

the Company’s directors, Messrs. Liu Hongwei and Xie
Wen, have jointly guaranteed the Group’s bank loans of
RMB153,500,000 (2014: RMB72,500,000);

the Company’s directors, Messrs. Liu Hongwei, Sun Jinli
and Xie Wen, has guaranteed the Group’s bank loans of
RMB100,000,000 (2014: Nil);

the Company’s directors, Mr. Liu Hongwei and his spouse, Ms.
Li Wei, Mr. Sun Jinli and his spouse, Ms. Wang Yanfang, have
jointly guaranteed the Group’s bank loans of RMB100,000,000
(2014: Nil); and

the Company’s directors, Messrs. Liu Hongwei and Sun
Jinli, have jointly guaranteed the Group’s bank loans of
HK$113,705,000 (2014: HK$28,041,000).

28. MRRITREMERK ()

ES

AEBANATHERROKRES
"

i FriEEEIRER AR
92% P& #E -

i.  REEEAGEREARA
AIHY92% RRHE :

AAREERAEEE TRITR

Hth B mEREER  FBOT (M
41)

(M)

(k)

(m)

(n)

AAREFROHELEEERA
SERTEREMERARE
173,000,000 7L ( —ZZF—P04F : A
R 468,000,0007T) :

RAREBRRABEERERE
FEEHRRERANEERTREM
B % A R #118,000,0007( =
T -4 AR % 240,000,000
JL)

AQRE BRI M A R sk
FHRABRALEERTERAR
# 153,500,000 70 ( =& — Y 4F :
AR 72 500,0007T) :

ARREBHABEL  Faw
1 22 TS0 2 R R AR AT
BH AR 100,000,007t (=&
—m7 :B)

RRABERPAHEERERSE
FHRELURFBEEEEERER
BEES Lt HKREFRAEER
fTEFR AR 100,000,000t (=
TEFEE) R

RAREERA B EAERELE
EEHERERAEERITER
113,705,000 0 ( =T — W 4F :
28,041,000/87T) °
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29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS

29. T[iakIEH

2015 2014
—E—hF —E—OF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
P 5T ARSTFT ARET T
Convertible bonds, Al E S

liability component: BEHS (a) 634,017 589,131

Fair value of embedded BAXITET AR
derivatives ~NFEE (b) 63,552 227,138
697,569 816,269

On 8 August 2014, the Company issued 930 units of 5% convertible
bonds in the denomination of RMB1,000,000 each due 8 August
2019 (the “2019 Convertible Bonds”) with a nominal value of
RMB930,000,000. The Company repurchased 6 units of these
convertible bonds during the year.

The salient terms and conditions of the 2019 Convertible Bonds are as

follows:

(i) Interest rate

The Company shall pay an interest on the 2019 Convertible

Bonds at 5.0% per annum.

RZZFE—MOFENANB - KRABFETR
—E-NENANBEIHPEEAARE
930,000,000 L Y930 HF M EEAR
1,000,000 C5% AT R EH ([ = F
—NFRIRRESR]) - FR - KAAFIE
BB 625 AR ES

ZE-NFARRESNEBIETR R
BT

(i) F=E

RN RVREGF5.0% KR =g —
E-NFABRBESFAFE
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29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Conversion price

The 2019 Convertible Bonds will be convertible into the
Company’s ordinary shares at the initial conversion price
of HK$16.11 per share, subject to adjustments. Amongst
others, consolidation, subdivision or reclassification of shares,
capitalisation of profits or reserves, capital distribution, rights
issues of shares or options over shares, rights issues of other
securities, issues at less than the current market price, other
issues at less than the current market price, modification of
rights of conversion etc., other offers to shareholders, change of
control and other usual adjustment events. The conversion price
may not be reduced so that the conversion shares would fall to
be issued at a discount to their par value.

Maturity

Unless previously redeemed, converted, or purchased and
cancelled, the Company will redeem each of the 2019
Convertible Bonds at the US Dollar equivalent of the RMB
principal amount on 8 August 2019.

29. iR fES (8)

(i)

(i)

BiRfE

“E-NFUREREFSAIED
HREREFK 16118 7T (7] T3
B)EMARRNR LR - Bk
BAR(EHEE)BHAs
AEEBFHOE  BNHFEHER
£~ BADIK - S &
R - BITHMES  RE
RERMEZET  ERERHE
MVEAETT - (BRI BB - Ak
RETHMEE EHREPH R
HMEEHEEMRETHE -
BRETFHREESERERN
N EESTENERET

AR

BRIFENZATER - ERRBEE
N BRAIRQAGR -F
—hWEFENANBERARELRS
BANEEXTEESNH —T—N
FRBRES
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29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

(iv) Redemption at the option of the Company

The Company may:

(1)

Upon giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’
notice to the bondholders, at any time after 8 August 2017
but not less than 14 days prior to the maturity date redeem
the bonds in whole but not in part at a redemption price
at the US Dollar equivalent of the RMB principal amount
plus accrued and unpaid interest to such date; provided
that no such redemption may be made unless the closing
price of the shares (translated into RMB at the RMB:HK$
fixed rate as set out in the terms and conditions of the
2019 convertible bonds) for 20 out of 30 consecutive
trading days ending on a date which is no more than
three stock exchange business days immediately prior to
the date upon which notice of such redemption is given,
was at least 130% of the conversion price then in effect
(translated into RMB at the RMB:HK$ fixed rate as set
out in the terms and conditions of the 2019 convertible
bonds); or

Upon giving not less than 30 nor more than 90 days’
notice to the bondholders and the Trustee (which notice
will be irrevocable), the Company may at any time redeem
all, but not some only, of the bonds for the time being
outstanding at the US Dollar equivalent of the RMB
principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest to
such date provided that prior to the date of such notice
at least 90%. in RMB principal amount of the bonds
originally issued have already been converted, redeemed
or purchased and cancelled.

29. TR RS (F)
(iv) FAEEEZERED

R-ZE—tFNANRKE
NERBIH A AT 14 B AR
BH - RESHEAZLT
LIR30 BB TEBE60 HEY
BA MARKEASENE
BEXTINEBEZBEETAR
NMEMERE - BE2E
BIRMOES  ERIFEE
BELBOBEMNE BT =@
BRrEEA 2 BIbEE
301822 5 H /20 B9 i fn
WmE(RZT— N Fak
BB GRS MR TR A R
BHEBTHEEERRER
ARB) 2L RERERSE
BRERZZF-NFTHER
TEFF GRS ARAT FTELELE A
REBTMEXRBES A
R¥)#1130% - & BIT1E
HEITHEE 2k

Wt

MEFFEARZEAED
D30 BB HBIE90 H
BA(GZBAOTEHE)
% ARARIAEARBAS
EHEEETMEEEZZA
FEEHARRIF S - BEREEE
2E(EFEEDD) ERX
BiEES - HRZEAMA
AIRBITEFNARKE RS
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29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)
(v) Redemption at the option of the holders

The Company will, at the option of the holder of any 2019
Convertible Bonds, redeem all or some only of such holder’s
2019 Convertible Bonds on 8 August 2017 at the US Dollar
equivalent of the RMB principal amount.

(vi) Redemption of delisting or change of control

Following the occurrence of a change of control (means when
Mr. Liu Hongwei ceases for any reason to be the majority
shareholder of the Company or any other events lead to the
significant change of the ownership structure of the Company,
“Change of Control”) or delisting of the Company (including
suspension of trading of the Shares on the stock exchange for a
period equal to or more than 20 consecutive trading days) (the
“Relevant Event”), the holder will have the right to require the
Company to redeem all, or but not some only, of such holder’s
2019 Convertible Bonds at the US Dollar equivalent of the RMB
principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest to the date
fixed for redemption.

The fair value of the 2019 Convertible Bonds was determined by an
independent qualified valuer based on the binomial option pricing
model. The carrying amount of the liability component on initial
recognition was measured at the proceeds of the 2019 Convertible
Bonds (net of transaction cost) minus the fair value of the embedded
derivatives of the 2019 Convertible Bonds.

29. TR RS (E)
(v) FHEAREZREED

AR EHRER — B — L F AR
BESHAEANERE R-F
—tENANBRARBEEHE
BEEETERZFA AN
HER D — T NFRHRRES -

(vi) BRARSIEHIHEE SR AEE

ARBEEEGIEES (R
HELERTARANB /A AR
TERRAERRRRFEAER
BHREAZHNEFMEMES)
(MRS ) girig (BERND
HBREE20ERXZA) ([1EEF
H%® BEASERERAR
ARAREASENEZERTN
tHEEETEDR RN E AR
S BEEZEAANZE (B
) —E-NFAIBEES -

- NFRABBRESN R ETIHE
NAERGEMRE A HEEER
ET - MIGERR A ENOHREE
TR —F— NFABRBRESNMEREA
(MBR R ZERA) FE - NEF AR
EFORARTETAENATEANE -
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29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

(@)

29. ikiRfES ()

Liability component (a) BfEHY
2015 2014
—E-AF —E—E
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARSTRT ARBETTT
Liability component R-_ZE—RAF—H—H
as at 1 January 2015 (ZZT—OF : —F—OF
(2014: 8 August 2014) NANR) W BESS 589,131 569,842
Effective interest recognised FRERHERF S (
for the year (note 6) 100,610 37,762
Interest payable during the year AT FIE (50,427) (18,473)
Repurchase of bonds B OEH (5,297) -
As at 31 December W+ZHA=+—H 634,017 589,131
(b) Conversion rights (b) FEHIRHE
2015 2014
—E-AF —E—E
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBEFIT
Fair value of conversion rights EER T —HF—H—H
as at 1 January 2015 (ZZ2—F : —T—NF
(2014: 8 August 2014) NANR)HRTHE 227,138 342,857
Less: fair value changes of B BN T EEE
conversion rights (163,586) (115,719)
Fair value of conversion HMENT—_A=1T—HA8NATE
rights at 31 December 63,552 227,138




—R-EEFE TEREABLRIIRAERAT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
IR MY et

31 December 2015 —Z—HF+=-A=+—8H

29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

(b) Conversion rights (Continued)

The fair value change in the conversion rights for the year
ended 31 December 2015 is RMB163,586,000 (2014:
RMB115,719,000), which is recognised in profit or loss and
disclosed separately. The related interest expense of the liability
component of the 2019 Convertible Bonds for the year ended
31 December 2015 amounted to RMB100,610,000 (2014
RMB37,762,000), which is calculated using the effective interest
method with an effective interest rate of 17.79%.

29. TR RS (E)
(b) EiRE(E)

HE-Z—RF+=-A=+—H
IFFEEBRENATFEZEAA
R #163,586,0007T( = & — Y
F: AR®115,719,0007T) © #%
SRENEEPERARB LIRS -
ZE-NFUBRESFBESS
REE-T—RAF+-_A=+—
AILEFEMEBRSAIAAR
#100,610,0007C( = Z — PO 4F :
AR #37,762,0007T) » %4 5
TERAERFEENERF X
17.79% 518 °

30. SENIOR NOTES 30. BRERE

2015 2014
—EB—REF —ZT—NF
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B E ARSFT ARETT
2017 Senior Notes —E—EREEER (a) 548,200 542,822
2018 Senior Notes —E-\FELEE (b) 198,492 -
746,692 542,822

(@) 2017 Senior Notes (a) —T—LtEEBLERE

On 21 November 2014, the Company issued 7.875% senior
notes with an aggregate nominal value of RMB560,000,000
(the “2017 Senior Notes”) at face value. The net proceeds,
after deducting the issuance costs, amounted to approximately
RMB542,327,000. The 2017 Senior Notes mature on 21
November 2017 and have been listed on the HKSE (stock code:
85704).

RZZE—NFE+—A=+—8"
AAREHEHTRAABEARE
560,000,000 7T #) 7.875% & 5t 2
BIZZ—+FEEEED M
PRABEAEITR AR - FTSRIBF
% A4 A R #542,327,000 7T °
ZEtFBEAEBRBER=F
—+FE+—A=-+—HIH 2
REBBRAT ET(BHRE -
85704) -
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30. SENIOR NOTES (Continued) 30. BERE(E)

(a) 2017 Senior Notes (Continued) (@ ZT—tEBERRGE)
The major terms and conditions of the 2017 Senior Notes are as —EEFEAEBENEBIER
follows: RgHaT
(i) Redemption at the option of the Company () ALEEEREE

Upon giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ RARARAFEEABELT
notice to the holders, at any time, the Company may at its DR30B BT iEEE60 A
option to redeem the notes at a redemption price equal BAE - BERIEREBIRERA
to 100% of the principal amount plus the applicable £%8100% N EEEELE A
premium as of, and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, HEREREZE%A (R
to (but not including) the redemption date. The applicable NEIEZB) BRTRITH &
premium is the greater of (1) 1.0% of the principal amount FIEREBREE - BA%
and (2) the excess of (A) the present value at such BEAUTSERHNRSE :
redemption date of 100% of the principal amount, plus AL EEHLO% : K(2)
all required remaining scheduled interest payments due (A)100% A& FBR % B B B
on the 2017 Senior Notes through the maturity date (but HRIRE - M E=ZT—+%F
excluding accrued and unpaid interest to the redemption BAEEENE B ERTIRET &
date), computed using a discount rate equal to 2%, over HFEXMNBME R E
(B) the principal amount on the redemption date. (BT fERER B 8RRt

REFE) (RFR 2% H8E
BEGHE)BHBREDA
HIRSEERIRE D

Upon giving not less than 30 days’ nor more than 60 RARARAFEEABELS
days’ notice to the holder, at any time, the Company may DRR30H ETiEBE60 A
at its option redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal BAE BERZER-F
amount of the 2017 Senior Notes with the net cash —tEFEEERBRNASEN
proceeds of one or more sales of common stock of the 107.875% N L& = EE H
Company in one or more equity offerings at a redemption HETBRIEZR) MER
price of 107.875% of the principal amount of the 2017 REFE(E) 2 EEE -
Senior Notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to LA—IRsk % RAR B E R —
(but not including) the redemption date; provided that at R ZIREEARRRIEBR
least 65% of the aggregate principal amount of the Senior BIFT1SRIRIR S F5E - BE
Notes remains outstanding after each such redemption Tt FELEEEASE
and any such redemption takes place within 60 days after MR %35% : WREX
the closing of the related equity offering. BERELEZEBRASEREA

E2LBHSRINAEE B
{E{rIAERERE @ X B R R IL
RS E e 1560 B HETT o
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30. SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

(@)

2017 Senior Notes (Continued)

(i) Repurchase of the 2017 Senior Notes upon a Change of
Control

Not later than 30 days following a Change of Control, the
Company will make an offer to purchase all outstanding
2017 Senior Notes (“Change of Control Offer”) at a
purchase price equal to 101% of the principal amount
thereof plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to (but
not including) the 2017 Senior Notes Change of Control
Offer payment date.

As the estimated fair value of the early redemption right is
insignificant at initial recognition, the embedded derivative
is not separately accounted for. The effective interest rate is
approximately 9.33% per annum after the adjustment for
transaction costs.

30. BARR(E)
—B—tEEEER (8

(a)

(1)

R B IR E — F—+
FELEE

RNRBE R E R
30 A AR B 2 49 ([ 12 i 42
BEEL ) BENELE
101% H0 & E= el s

EAMFA S (TRIEZA)
JEETARATF B (20 E) K EE
BE BEMEREE_ZT
—tFEERR -

12 T B (B A A ) 4 B BB By Y
RNFHERBE R - HBRARITE
TEWEEBAR - &5 5K
TELBRE  BEANXORE
F9.33% °
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30. SENIOR NOTES (Continued) 30. BEEE(B)
(a) 2017 Senior Notes (Continued) (@ —T—tEEERRE)
The 2017 Senior Notes recognised in the consolidated statement RERE M BAREKPERN =T
of financial position are calculated as follows: —t+tFEBEZBZNAT A
i

2017 Senior Notes

—E—LtFEBAER

RMB’000

Nominal value of 2017 Senior Notes T FELAEEmE 560,000

Issue costs BEITRAR (17,673)

Fair value at date of issuance BEITHHMAYE 542,327
Effective interest recognised for the year FEAERNERFE (H5E6)

(note 6) 5,328
Interest payable FERFILE (4,833)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2014 RZZE—NF+-A=+—8K

and at 1 January 2015 RZZE—RF—A—HZEAE 542,822
Effective interest recognised for the year FRERHERFE (KIiE6)

(note 6) 49,478
Interest payable FERTFILE (44,100)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2015 R-E—RF+-A=1+—HZKEHAE 548,200
Fair value of the 2017 Senior Notes* Tt FEEEENATES 525,694

& The fair values of the 2017 Senior Notes are determined based on * ZEtFEERENRATE
the price quoted on the HKSE on 31 December 2015. DERBBBIAN_Z—h

F+-A=+—HArREETE -
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30. SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

(b) 2018 Senior Notes

30. BEERE (E)

(b)

On 30 January 2015, the Company issued 7.75% senior notes
with an aggregate nominal value of HK$250,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB197,150,000) at face value, which will
mature in February 2018 (the “2018 Senior Notes”). The 2018
Senior Notes will only be offered outside the United States in
compliance with Regulation S under the United States Securities
Act of 1933, as amended. None of the 2018 Senior Notes will be
offered to the public in Hong Kong and none of the 2018 Senior
Notes will be placed to any connected persons of the Company.
The net proceeds, after deducting the issuance costs, amounted
to approximately RMB182,492,000.

The major terms and conditions of the 2018 Senior Notes are as
follows:

(i)  Redemption at the option of the Company

Upon giving not less than 30 days’ nor more than 60 days’
notice to the holder, at any time, the Company may at
its option redeem the notes at a redemption price equal
to 100% of the principal amount plus the applicable
premium as of, and accrued and unpaid interest, if any,
to (but not including) the redemption date. The applicable
premium is the greater of (1) 1.0% of the principal amount
and (2) the excess of (A) the present value at such
redemption date of 100% of the principal amount, plus
all required remaining scheduled interest payments due
on the 2018 Senior Notes through the maturity date (but
excluding accrued and unpaid interest to the redemption
date), computed using a discount rate equal to 2%, over
(B) the principal amount on the redemption date.

- \FEEER

RZZ—RAFE—A=1+A AR
RIEEBEEITR _ZE—N\F_A
I H 7K € 48 58 /5 250,000,000 7
T (FE R # AR # 197,150,000
LM 7.75% BREER(T=ZF—N
FREEERE]) —T—N\FEL
EREEER N - FXEHE
FETSHEA(EIERT) NERE
INEE o ZF— \FEELEREM
TeREBARALES  B=
T N\FEEZEHETERAR
FIRAE A LTEE - MERIAREETT
AR - FTSREFHEANAR
#£ 182,492,000 7T °

“E-\FEARBNIZEN
K AgpFan

(i) AL AL

AABAITRARFEAELT
DI30 B KA EEE60 HEY
BAE - BEREBIRERA
©H100% i EE = fEE B
HEREERBEEZR (B
TE#ZB) BRFRNIHE
BRI EREORE - BAE
BRATSETHRSE
(DAREFEHL0% : K(2)
(A)100% AN BN % E A
HHIRE - ME—F—N\F
BB 2| A ARt &)
FEXNWAEIHNE
(ETEERER B H R
ANFEB) (BEFER 2% KRS
BRGTE)BELB)ER A
HIRS R R D ©
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30. SENIOR NOTES (Continued)
(b) 2018 Senior Notes (Continued)
(i) Redemption at the option of the Company (Continued)

Upon giving not less than 30 days’ nor more than 60
days’ notice to the holder, at any time, the Company may
at its option redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal
amount of the 2018 Senior Notes with the net cash
proceeds of one or more sales of common stock of the
Company in one or more equity offerings at a redemption
price of 107.75% of the principal amount of the 2018
Senior Notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to
(but not including) the redemption date; provided that at
least 65% of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes
remains outstanding after each such redemption and
any such redemption takes place within 60 days after the
closing of the related equity offering.

(if)  Repurchase of the 2018 Senior Notes upon a Change of
Control

Not later than 30 days following a Change of Control, the
Company will make an offer to purchase all outstanding
2018 Senior Notes (“2018 Senior Notes Change of Control
Offer”) at a purchase price equal to 101% of the principal
amount thereof plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any,
to (but not including) the 2018 Senior Notes Change of
Control Offer payment date.

As the estimated fair value of the early redemption right is
insignificant at initial recognition, the embedded derivative
is not separately accounted for. The effective interest rate is
approximately 11.06% per annum after the adjustment for
transaction costs.

30. BEERE (E)

(b)

ZB-N\FEEERR(E)

LT

()  ARAEEED(E)

RRR AR AFEB A LT
LH30H R TEEB60 HE
MAE BERENR-T
—N\FEEZBHASEN
107.75% N & ZE R A
H(ETEIEZB) B ELT
KEFE(E) 2 ERIE
LA—kek % kst e h —
R %R BERR A EEAR
BFTS KIEIR €558 - FEE
)\ FEERBARE
BEORZ35%: ERER
BOEBEZBASREA
ELBERNIARESE B
EREEEEHEPY N )
B E SRR E60 H ST o

(i) PEHEE BT —F—/)1
FEIESE

RRBE RIS R
IHAMRBEEN( ZF
—NFEEZRITHIEY
BEN])  BERASE
101% N &k & fe il 4
BOMFAMHIRIEZA)
EETARMAFE(NE) OB
Bl BEMEAEE-Z
—N\FEEER -

F 1A B2 5 P [ 42 170 1) 6 EE AR B O
AFEMGEF TS - MRARITAE
TRAWEEBAR - BRI FK
AEHFRR  BERMNXOAE
F11.06% °
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30. SENIOR NOTES (Continued) 30. BEEE(B)
(b) 2018 Senior Notes (Continued) (b) —B—N\EFEEBERR(E)
The 2018 Senior Notes recognised in the consolidated statement RERE M BAREKFERN =T
of financial position are calculated as follows: —NFEEZBZEUATHAG
g

2018 Senior Notes
—E-N\FERAER

RMB’000
ARETTT
Nominal value of —E- N\FELEEERE
2018 Senior Notes 197,150
Issue costs BELTRA (14,658)
Fair value at date of issuance ~ ZE1THEIRAFE 182,492
Effective interest recognised FANERNERFE (H3E6)
for the year (note 6) 17,807
Interest payable during the year F AERFIE (13,860)
Exchange realignment bE AR 12,053
Carrying amount at WNZE—RAF+-A=+—HZ
31 December 2015 BREE 198,492
Fair value of the 2018 —E-N\FEEEENATE
Senior Notes * 215,815
* The fair values of the 2018 Senior Notes have been calculated * ZE - N\FEREEENATERBE
by discounting the contractual cash flows over the remaining AHBESRERERBRIENEES
contractual term of the 2018 Senior Notes at the risk-free interest ERRBEEENR_ZE—N\FELE

rate plus credit spread and liquidity spread. BHRISHE DR AITIRTHE -
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31. DEFERRED TAX 31. BEFHIA
The movements of deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year FEFREEEHBERT AR EE W
are as follows: T
Deferred tax assets IREHRIEEE
Discount in
retention
Government receivables
Tax loss grants Pl Others Total
BIERE BB EREm Hit @zt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT  ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETR
At 1 January 2014 R-ZE—-lE—H—H - 19,389 2,109 - 21,498
Deferred tax credited/ FREEA/ (NKRAE)
(charged) to profit or loss 1B AYEER I8 (F3E 10)
during the year (note 10) 6,070 (707) 3,657 1,990 11,010
At 31 December 2014 and RZZE—NE+=-A=+—HK
at 1 January 2015 R-ZE—-HF—H—H 6,070 18,682 5,766 1,990 32,508
Deferred tax credited/ FRFA/ (HBRE)
(charged) to profit or loss 1B BT A (i3 10)
during the year (note 10) (3,734) 4924 (3,423) 3,832 1,599
At 31 December 2015 R-ZE-R%+-A=+—H 2,336 23,606 2,343 5,822 34,107

The Group has total tax losses arising in Malaysia, Singapore and Hong
Kong of RMB88,208,000 (2014: RMB54,636,000) that are available
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies

in which the losses arose. The Group also has tax losses arising in
Mainland China of RMB46,603,000 (2014: RMB31,020,000) that will
expire in one to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits

of the companies in which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets have

not been recognised in respect of these tax losses as they have arisen

in subsidiaries that have been loss making and it is not considered

probable that taxable profits will be available against which the tax

losses can be utilised.

REBRBRAE - FIVEREBEL
TRIAE R FE AR 88,208,000t (=
T Mm% : AR#54,636,0007T) A] &
IREARLMESHELBIE AR BRER
BUE R o ANEE IR P B REEEEHIR
E 8 AR 46,603,0007T( = F— M4 :
AR #31,020,0007T) R —E=RFH
Em AR IEE L BB A RR B R ER
Big N o BLax 5 BIR BB B R RIRT
HREERER —BEEBRNMNERRE
£ BRABRERTIG M AT AR A RS
BIAEBEZEETAK -
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31. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 31. EEERIE ()

Deferred tax liabilities

EERERR

Withholding
taxes
TE#H
ARBFTT
RMB’000

At 1 January 2015 and 31 December 2015 Rn=

F-nf-A—AR
—E-RE+-A=+-A

86,860

Under the CIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed on dividends
declared in respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries from
1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not been provided
for in the consolidated statement of financial position in respect of
temporary differences attributable to the profits of the PRC subsidiaries
during the year, as the Group is able to control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. The
aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries in Mainland China for which deferred tax liabilities have
not been recognised totalled approximately RMB848,182,000 as at
31 December 2015 (2014: RMB512,992,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of
dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

BEPBEPEMRENE AT NF
—A—HE  BRBENEA R TR
wHNE RS BHMTENT - BRAE
EAE SR E GRS EENRNE - BER
EFEO RN SRDE - I &R
FREEETEMBARSHNOERZE
BIERA VBN R AFHRIBERIE -
R-ZE—RF+-_A=+—8 ERE
MRTENKBARBENE R
(TEFREARERIEARGB) AN A
AR 848,182,000t (=T —M4F : A
R#512,992,0007T) °

A7 A EBRRR A A B T B 2
RSB -
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32. DEFERRED INCOME

32. BEY R

2015 2014
—E—hF —E—NE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREEFIT
Government grants BT )
At 1 January n—AH—H 439,273 555,044
Government grants related to assets  F AYCER B & EFERE 6
received during the year BT B 175,724 39,914
Released to profit or loss (note 5): BE=iEE (ML)
Over the expected useful lives IZ AR & E TR HA R {5 A A HR
of the related assets (32,985) (24,459)
Upon disposal of the related assets I &EHEEER (44,205) (131,226)
At 31 December W+—HA=+—8”H 537,807 439,273

Deferred income represented government grants received by the Group
in respect of the construction of roof top solar power stations under the
“Golden Sun Demonstration Project”, and other items of property, plant
and equipment.

The deferred income is released to profit or loss at the annual
instalment to match with the expected useful lives of the relevant
assets.

WSS SEFANBR 2 ABER
IR TERNETEAGEEE © A
REMYZE - WE KRER B MR
BB

BIEWERF o BEEEER - RS
THREE ER TR R A (E A -
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33. SHARE CAPITAL 33. &
Shares 15
2015 2014
—E-RF —E—E
US$’000 US$'000
FER FET

Authorised: VERE ¢

1,200,000,000 ordinary shares 1,200,000,000 f%

of US$0.01 each SRMEEOC.O] ELAE R 12,000 12,000

Issued and fully paid: BETIEHT

695,060,996 (2014: 695,395,996) 695,060,996 1% (= Z —PH4F :

ordinary shares of US$0.01 each 695,395,996 %) &I HI{E
0.01 EJTH)E A% 6,951 6,954
Equivalent to RMB’000 e ARETT 46,443 46,466
During the year, the movements in issued capital were as follows: RAFEE - BEITRAZHIT ¢
Number of Issued
shares in issue capital
EETIRBEE EEITIRAE
Notes RMB’000
MI5E ARET T

At 1 January 2014 R-ZE—WF—H—H 691,824,996 46,247
Share options exercised BT 3,571,000 219
At 31 December 2014 and RZZE—NF+=-A=+—H

1 January 2015 rZZT—HF—HA—H 695,395,996 46,466
Shares repurchased BB O 1 (a) (1,369,000) (87)
Share options exercised BT (b) 1,034,000 64

At 31 December 2015 RZE—RFE+-_A=+—H 695,060,996 46,443
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33. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

(a) During the year, the Company repurchased totally 1,369,000 of its own
ordinary shares on the HKSE within prices ranging from HK$4.33 to
HK$4.45 per share, all of which were cancelled during the year. The
issued capital of the cancelled shares was reduced by the par value and
the premium paid thereon has been charged to share premium of the
Company accordingly.

(b) The subscription rights attaching to 384,000 share options were
exercised at the subscription price of HK$3.58 per share and 650,000
share options were exercised at the subscription price of HK$2.78 per
share, respectively, resulting in the issue of 1,034,000 shares for a total
cash consideration, before expenses, of HK$3,181,720 (equivalent
to approximately RMB2,532,000). An amount of RMB2,468,000 was
transferred from the share option reserve to share capital upon the
exercise of the share options.

34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants
who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible
participants of the Scheme include directors and employees of the
Group. The Scheme was approved by the Company’s shareholders on
19 December 2008 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will
remain in force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount equivalent,
upon their exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue
at any time. The maximum number of shares issuable under share
options to each eligible participant in the Scheme within any 12-month
period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
time. Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject
to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

33.

34.

A (48)
Wi

(@ FRN - FAEBREBBIFMENTE
B8 4.33 8L E445B L2 EBIRERE
H 1,369,000/ KA & 2 L@k - A
BERERMENFRTHE - BFHER
192 BEITRANZ EE HR R 3t
2R BEARE AKRRA R Z RGO E
{g °

(b) 384,000 % A% 4 AT B 5 2 3R 0 48
EIRREETRILSBTETER
650,000 17 FERBEFTIT %5 2 REREE
BREETR2.78ETTIETE - B
VA%RIR &8 (RETFISZAT) 3,181,720
BT (HHE R K ARK2532,0007T)
%£171,034,000 i & 15 - BE AR M E 7T
18 - &% ARK246800070 HE
IRIEFEEEARE -

FRRsHEST &

ARBRIBEAEA B ([ZFHED =R
TREREENRDEEMEERNE
RS EERHSBNER - ZFHENE
ERSHEERRESNAKEES - %
HERZEENFT AT HEEERR
FIRCRALME - BRIFWTHHIER] - BH
Zat BINEZ B REREF R ©

B A REBEZT R B RITERK
BR=EE REEN (FREETERR) A
RRPE R EC BT Z210% e
PMER+ B A EAE A RTAR R A A ()
BRABRSEERTHNRSRMNEAE
TIRR AR BN EIRSHEE HTRDZ
1% o (BB H L RENE — SR EE
PR BRI IR A S LU ©
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are subject
to approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors.
In addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or
an independent non-executive director of the Company, or to any of
their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time or with an aggregate value (based on the price of the
Company'’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5,000,000,
within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in
advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days
from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration of
RMB1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share options
granted is determinable by the directors, and commences after a
vesting period of 0.5 to 3 years and ends on a date which is a period of
10 years from the date of grant.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the directors,
but may not be less than the highest of (i) the HKSE closing price of
the Company’s shares on the date of offer of the share options; (ii)
the average HKSE closing price of the Company’s shares for the five
trading days immediately preceding the date of offer; and (iii) the

nominal value of a share.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to
vote at shareholders’ meetings.

34. BBt (8)

BYRARAIEE  THEHKEZER
R SRESAEMEBEBA T ZERE 15
BELAEGSEIIERITES 2L - It
AN IMEA+ =@ A B AR T AR E]
FTERRABEIIFNTES S EE
B8 AT 2 A ERE - LBBAA
BRI B BT 1D 2 0.1% s &
BEGRBARRNEL A B2 RE
H) #8318 5,000,000 87T + HERIEAKR
C_ FERESAE 2B -

REBERE ZEHNTTRARABELNR
HEF T NHAARINREBEANRES
HARE L TRER - IR EREZ
THRHHESET  UNFFE=F2
BRARMLEa RN AR m T F
ZABILE-

BREZITFEEHESEET  ETAE
RATHESE : () AR RRMDRERE
T A EIE BB R AT 2 TTE ¢ ()&
RNEIRMHREZEZLH A AERS A
BB 2 FHWTE Kk
D2 EE -

FERHE Y N TR AWER I B SRR
RARE LIRERER -
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme during

the year:

34. BElxtEsTEI(E)

FRZTEI T RARITE BN T

2015 2014
—T-IaE —T—mE

Weighted Weighted

average average
exercise price Number exercise price Number
IHEELY of options hnEFE of options
TEE BRERE 7B EREEE

HK$ HK$
per share '000 per share ‘000
BRET T BB T3
At 1 January m—H—H 3.21 19,448 3.25 23,019
Granted during the year FREH 11.70 6,000 - -
Exercised during the year FRNTTE 3.08 (1,034) 3.41 (3,571)
At 31 December Bn+—-—A=+—H 5.31 24,414 3.21 19,448
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 34. BEIRHERTEI(B)
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options R EARERITEBEREITEER
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: TTEREAT
Number of options
B EEE
2015 2014 Exercise price Exercise period
'000 '000 HK$ per share
T T1in BRBT
2,772 2,830 3.58 23/01/10-22/07/19

—ET—ETF—HA=-+=ZH=ZE

—ZE-NFtA=+=H

3,321 3,389 3.58 23/07/10-22/07/19
—E-TF+A-+=BZF

“E-hFtA=-+=H

5,121 5,379 3.58 23/07/11-22/07/19
“E——%tA-+=HZ%

—E-hFLtA=Z+=H

- 116 2.78 27/05/12-26/05/20
—ET——FRAA=-+tHZE

—E-TFRAA=+NH

- 534 2.78 27/05/13-26/05/20
—E-ZFRA-FttHE

—E-TFRA=+NH

1,440 1,440 2.68 11/10/12-10/10/21
—T——F+A+—H=

—E-—F+A+H

1,440 1,440 2.68 11/10/13-10/10/21
—E—=F+A+—H=E

—E-—F+A+H

1,440 1,440 2.68 11/10/14-10/10/21
—ET-NFE+A+—H=

—EZ—%TATH

1,440 1,440 2.68 11/10/15-10/10/21
—Z2-aftA+—AE

—F——%+A+tH

1,440 1,440 2.68 11/10/16-10/10/21
—E—XRE+A+—HZE

—E-—F+A+H

2,000 = 11.70 22/5/16-21/5/25
—E-XFRA-t=-H=E

—E-_RfFFA-—1+—H

2,000 — 11.70 22/5/17-21/5/25
==—tERA=+=H=

S e e =

2,000 - 1§70 22/5/18-21/5/25
ey ESERE — - — [ElZ

—E-RFERAA=+—H

24,414 19,448
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 34, BBRRHESTEI (&)

The fair value of the share options granted during the year was
HK$33,452,580 (equivalent to approximately RMB25,635,000) or
HK$5.5754 each (equivalent to approximately RMB4.4794 each), of
which the Group recognised a share option expense of HK$12,164,509
(equivalent to approximately RMB9,773,000) during the year.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the year
as at the date of grant, using the binomial model, taking into account
the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The
following table lists the inputs to the model used:

Dividend yield (%) 0.77
Volatility (%) 56.77
Risk-free interest rate (%) 1.62
Weighted average share price (HK$ per share) 11.70

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 24,414,000 share
options outstanding under the Scheme. The exercise in full of the
outstanding share options would, under the present capital structure
of the Company, result in the issue of 24,414,000 additional ordinary
shares of the Company and additional share capital of US$244,140
(equivalent to approximately HK$1,892,320) and share premium of
approximately HK$127,749,800 (before issue expenses and after the
amount to be transferred from share option reserve to share premium
upon the exercise of the related share options).

As at the date of approval of the financial statements, the Company
had 24,414,000 share options outstanding under the Scheme, which
represented approximately 3.51% of the Company’s shares in issue as
at that date.

RERABREONEREALEER
334525808 T(HE RN ARE
25,635,0007T ) 3 & 19 5.5754 7 7t (48
EREBNHOAREA47947T) » HepR
SENFARERERERZ 12,164,509
B (HHERHARE 9,773,000 1) °

AEERINEANEEREEAAEE
TIREH RHRA - AAER - KEE
1% H BB R eV GSR B 1 o TR AR

{55 FAIE AL By A B -

B BIES R (%) 0.77
BN (%) 56.77
R A (%) 1.62
I IRE (FET) 11.70

REEBHAR ARAREZTESR
24,414,000 17 M ARTTEREARHE © Z e
RITHERERIE WD BURITE - EARQF]
ZHRBEEREET  BEEBEINET
24,414,000 A8~ &) F i@ AR [ B AR KRN
B 7 244,140 2 7T (FBE 7 491,892,320
T ) R0 5 B 49 127,749,800 78 7T
(RINBREE1TH 2 BT R A HIBR 15 7 4B
EREEITEREEREREEZER
MEEHREERE) -

WA BRARALER - RNRBRBEZET
2175 24,414,00015 M ARITLREAHE - 4
BERARAINZ BB #TRINAI3.51% -
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35. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for
the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on pages 73 to 74 of the financial statements.

(a) Statutory reserves of the PRC subsidiaries

In accordance with the “Law of the PRC on Joint Ventures Using
Chinese and Foreign Investment” and the respective articles
of association of the Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland China,
appropriations from net profit, as determined in accordance
with PRC generally accepted accounting principles (“PRC
GAAP”) and after offsetting accumulated losses from prior years,
should be made to the statutory reserve fund and the enterprise
expansion fund, and before profit distributions to the investors.
The reserve fund can be used to offset accumulated losses or to
increase capital.

(b) Enterprise expansion fund

The enterprise expansion fund can be used for business
development or to increase capital. The percentages to be
appropriated to the reserve fund and the enterprise expansion
fund in the foreign investment subsidiaries are determined by
the board of directors. In addition, the wholly-foreign-owned
subsidiaries are not required to appropriate the enterprise
expansion fund, and the percentages to be appropriated to the
reserve fund shall be no less than 10%. When the cumulative
reserve fund reaches one-half of the registered capital, the
appropriation is no longer mandatory.

35. fi#fE

REBAFEMEEFEZFHHERN
HRAESHHNMBRREIZAES74
AZiRaRaEEHRA -

(@) PEIMBATNEERAE

RIECPEARLMEFIEGEL
B FIR) R ANER B B A FE R
BRRMARER  BItREH
BAREE((HEARER

R ) EERARH (RIEHEEFR
HEEER - RAKREE D IR
A B AEHRE S REXER
ES  ZREESTHREHER
FHEBRIENEA o

(b) LEERES

CERERESTAREBERSL
BINEAR o SRR E B QA
NEREESREERRESH
BAOLLABEEGETE © I I
BEECEBARENENED
ERRES MENERFRGBER
MBDLATDRI0% - I
BESRAEZEIEMERA—¥
By AR BIEAT o
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35. RESERVES (Continued)
(c) Share option reserve

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share
options granted which are yet to be exercised, as further
explained in the accounting policy for share-based payments
in note 2.4 to the financial statements. The amount will either
be transferred to the share premium account when the related
options are exercised, or be transferred to retained profits should
the related options expire or be forfeited.

(d) Safety fund surplus reserve

Pursuant to a Notice regarding Safety Production Expenditure
jointly issued by the Ministry of Finance and the State
Administration of Work Safety of the PRC in February 2012, the
Group is required to establish a safety fund surplus reserve. The
safety fund can only be transferred to retained profits to offset
safety related expenses as and when they are incurred, including
expenses related to safety protection facilities and equipment
improvement and maintenance as well as safety production
inspection, appraisal, consultation and training.

36. BUSINESS COMBINATION

On 29 June 2015, the Group acquired 99.99% equity interest in
Malaysia Singyes by way of capital injection of MYR999,998 into the
issued capital of Malaysia Singyes. As a result of the capital injection,
the share capital of Malaysia Singyes increased from MYR2 to
MYR 1,000,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB1,639,000).

35. fi#E ()
(c) FRRRHEREAE

BRERERFECRHBRARTT
) EREN A TE - E— M
it R TSR ML 2.4 B B AR
REMROOGFEE - %K
B ERE R ET R ERE
Bt s Bk - SAHARRE A E
MR - AR RE R o

(d) REEEREGRHHAE

REPRET BRI RERE 2 EE
EEEEBRNR_T——-F=H
GEEMN—REARNEEEER
BB AEBARULZEES
BRFEE Z2ESRARESE
R B 2R a M KL 248
B - BEET RN RER

RARBEARLZZEERS -
e BAREIIBERE o

36. EBSH

RZZ—RFNA-+hIB A&£E
BBRAERAEEEDFTRAFRE
& 999,998 MR & i 2 7 = Mk B 5 SR P 3B
P #)99.99% IR fE - AR LIKEE -
55 7R 78 dp B 2 A AR AN B 20K 7 A S 0
% 1,000,000 EHHF(HHERH AR
1,639,0007T) °
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36. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued)

Malaysia Singyes is engaged in the supply and installation of curtain
walls. The acquisition was made as part of the Group’s strategy to
expand its market share of supply and installation of curtain walls in
Malaysia. The acquisition has been accounted for using the acquisition

method.

The Group has elected to measure the non-controlling interest in
Malaysia Singyes at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of

Malaysia Singyes’s identifiable net assets.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Malaysia

Wk

36. £EBaH (E)

FRASZEREERBOHRERLE -
WiE T AN SR B R R EL Y B 2R A SR (R
RZ BRI TSN ENEEE — &0 - I
BEERBEEALRK-

7

REB D EBRIRIFERIR RN E KA
R R EEFENL IR ER
R P a B RO SRR R RS

KU BB RS BN AR EE

Singyes at the date of acquisition were as follows: MEGEHATFERT -

RMB’000

ARET T

Property, plant and equipment (note 13) M - RS R ERE (EE13) 419
Cash and bank balances We RiRITET 5,172
Trade receivables JEUNE 5508 9,240
Construction contracts BEASR 10,430
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TEFIA ~ 5] REMERGRIE 2,069
Trade payables JERTE S3IE (4,094)
Tax payable FEI S EL (489)
Other payables and accruals Efh RS SR IE R FE AT FIE (30,891)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value AT ETE 2 A #AEEFEERE (8,144)
Non-controlling interests Eealivg T -
Goodwill on acquisition (note 17) WHBEE 28 (MRE17) 9,783
Satisfied by cash AR & X 1,639
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36. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued) 36.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of a

subsidiary is as follows:

Wt

EHaH (B

U E-—FHBR AR RS IT
T

7

RMB’000
ARBT T
Cash consideration HeNE (1,639)
Cash and bank balances acquired BUEEIR & MIRTTHETE 5,172
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents included RHE—MEHBARNESE R
in cash flows from investing activities ReEBMFRAKREETHESE
HIRERE 3,533

The resulting goodwill is determined to be RMB9,783,000 and
is attributable to strengthening the competitiveness of the Group,

expanding its market share of supply and installation of curtain walls in

Malaysia.

Since the acquisition, Malaysia Singyes contributed RMB28,189,000 to
the Group’s revenue and RMB6,344,000 loss and other comprehensive

loss to the consolidated results for the year ended 31 December 2015.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the year, the

revenue of the Group and the profit of the Group for the year would
have been RMB4,222,393,000 and RMB346,828,000, respectively.

MELMEEETE R ARE9783,000
TEREERRIEAREOGF N - EX
HRN B RAGHERZEKBEOTS D

BUEE 2 1% - BRI EERAERE
E-E-RAF+-A=-+—HIEFEN
WA BBt AR % 28,189,000 7T & [Al4R &
E¥EERARY6344,000 TEERE
fb 2 1E -

e HRFENELE - BIAKENHEA
RASBEFREMNESNASARE
4,222,393,000 7T } A ¥ 346,828,000
JG ©
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37. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 37. HE—EMMBAT
2015
—F—-1F
RMB’000
ARETR
Net assets disposed of: BHEEETE
Cash and bank balances e RBRITET 4,855
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TEFIE -« 5] REA IR 94,782
Other payables and accruals H Ath B 5RIE SR &R T RUE (4,012)
95,625
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RRB AR 2 WE -
Satisfied by cash AR & 1+ 95,625
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of RHE—HRBARMNES REEE
the disposal of a subsidiary is as follows: WEVERADITAOT
RMB’000
ARETT
Cash consideration RERE 95,625
Other receivables E A R Y R TE (64,832)
Cash and bank balances disposed of BEHER S MRITHET (4,855)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents HLE—EHRBARMN
in respect of the disposal of a subsidiary ReRBRSFEWFRA 25,938
38. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 38. HARAEER
As at 31 December 2015, the Group had no significant contingent RZZE—RAF+=A=+—R  x5E

WEBAKAEE °

liabilities.
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39. EEMHL=H

AEBERBKLEHOLFERETHA
=YK - ZEYWEROBEEBR K
MF - RIEHR - AEERBER T
FHRRHH T A B SRR

39. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

The Group leases certain of its office premises under operating lease
arrangements. Leases for properties are negotiated for terms of one or
two years. At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases

falling due as follows: KFEF S @AM T ¢
2015 2014
—E—hF —E—E
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFTT
Within one year —FR 571 1,235
In the second to fifth years, inclusive $E-Z2ERF (BIEEEMF) 20 461
591 1,696

40. COMMITMENTS 40. #*iE

In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note 39
above, the Group had the following capital commitments at the end of

the reporting period:

% SO 30 Bt 2 18 BT AR
RIS B - AR EE A THIEAASE -

2015 2014
—T-If —ZT-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBFT
Contracted, but not provided for: EETAVBAREAE -
Construction of buildings and BERETFRANREL

photovoltaic power station 250,030 516,830
Purchase of machinery IHEWEERE 5,318 5,033

Capital contributions payable BN —MEE R EEE
to an associate 38,962 -
294,310 521,863
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES

(@)

(b)

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these
financial statements, the Group had the following transactions

41. FREF X 5 R4

() BRFVBHEREMMBTFAR
S50 FRREEGEHE T 5 HEE

with related parties during the year: EHNRS
2015 2014
—E—RF —E—E
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETTT

Associates: BN A -

Sales of products HEEM 132,856 -
Interest-free advances ESEair N 6,210 -

The sales to an associate were made according to the published
prices and conditions offered to the major customers of the
Group.

Other transactions with related parties

As at 31 December 2015, details of bank and other loans
guarantees provided by related parties of the Group for nil
consideration are as follows:

(i) the Group’s bank and other loans of RMB173,000,000
(2014: RMB468,000,000) were guaranteed by Mr. Liu
Hongwei;

(i) the Group’s bank and other loans of RMB118,000,000
(2014: RMB240,000,000) were jointly guaranteed by
Messrs. Liu Hongwei and Sun Jinli;

Al —fE B & A RIET TRV S 5088 - THIA
RHTAEEIZEFPHNEAMERR
A R RIR -

(b) HEEBERHIRMES

R-ZTB—HFE+-A=+—8"
SR R SRR
S ERBRIT

()  AEEZRITREMERA
R# 173,000,0007T(=%&
—Pa4F: ARM468,000,000
TT) R BIAT SRR

(i AKEZRITREMERA
R #118,000,0007L(=%F
—PO4F: AK# 240,000,000
U BB ERERFEEE
SEAEHRER:
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES (Continued)

(b) Other transactions with related parties (Continued)

(i)  the Group’s bank loans of RMB153,500,000 (2014:
RMB72,500,000) were jointly guaranteed by Messrs. Liu
Hongwei and Xie Wen;

(iv)  the Group’s bank loans of RMB100,000,000 (2014: Nil)
were guaranteed by Messrs. Liu Hongwei, Sun Jinli and
Xie Wen;

(v)  the Group’s bank loans of RMB100,000,000 (2014:
Nil) were jointly guaranteed by Mr. Liu Hongwei and his
spouse, Ms. Li Wei Mr. Sun Jinli and his spouse; Ms.
Wang Yanfang and

(vi) the Group’s bank loans of HK$113,705,000 (2014:
HK$28,041,000) were jointly guaranteed by Messrs. Liu
Hongwei and Sun Jinli.

(c) Outstanding balances with related parties

41. FEBRX SR EER (4

Wt

)

7

(b) SEEAERBRMIS ()

(iii)

(vi)

REBMZETERARE
153,500,000 7T( — & — 0
F . AR 72,500,0007T)
B RUAT 4 S & RSO A £
FER

AEBEZBITEFRARE
100,000,0007C( =% — /M
FE)ABAELE K
SEELE RIS ERRRE
R

REBZRITERARYE
100,000,0007T( =& — M
FE)HBAESTER
HEBFHAL  HeRft
ERHRBESS LA
iR &

AEBEZRITER
113,705,000 T( =&
—P4: 28,041,000/ 7T)
Ty BIAL M e E R R Rk
HEHRIER -

(c) FAEFKREESR

2015 2014
—F-1F —T—F
RMB’000 RMB’000

Due from an associate: JEW — B E AR
Trade receivable RINE S 508 63,629 -
Other receivable Ho e SR IE 6,210 =
69,839 -

The above balances are unsecured, interest-free. The credit
term granted to an associate is consistent with the term offerred
to the major customers of the Group. Other receivables due from
associate have no fixed term of repayment.

PSSR AERARE o BT RS
REAEEMDRRETASEIERP
ZHIR— B o H b & A R RIAY
B EEERHR o
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND 41. FAEHAR SRR (B)
BALANCES (Continued)
(d) Compensation of key management personnel of the (d) FEREZEEEASHIHHN
Group
2015 2014
—F—-hF —ZE—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T
Salaries, allowances and e R REYAIE
benefits in kind 10,172 7,685
Pension scheme contributions  RIKE &I TR 196 136
10,368 7,821
Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s emoluments BEHEEE RITHAEHINE /) HE—
are included in note 8 to the financial statements. S BHR Y IEREWES -
42. TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 42. RS EEZ
Transferred financial assets that are not derecognised in AEEXRILEZVEHELMSE
their entirety B
2015 2014
—E—-hF —ZE—OF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5T ARETFT ARETTT
Gross amount of assets that BERERHEERME
continued to be recognised:
Discounted Bills ARIR E (a) 255,840 186,300
Endorsed Bills EEERR (b) 144,189 34,849

400,029 221,149
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43. TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
(Continued)

Transferred financial assets that are not derecognised in
their entirety (Continued)

(a)  Discounted Bills

At 31 December 2015, the Group discounted certain bills
receivable (the “Discounted Bills”) with a total carrying amount
of RMB255,840,000 (2014: RMB186,300,000) to certain local
banks in the PRC. The Discounted Bills have a maturity from
two to twelve months at 31 December 2015. In accordance
with the law of Negotiable Instruments in the PRC, the holders
of the Discounted Bills have a right of resource against the
Group if the PRC banks default. In the opinion of the directors,
the Group has retained the substantial risks and rewards,
which include default risks relating to the Discounted Bills, and
accordingly, it continued to recognise the carrying amounts of
the Discounted Bills and the respective bank loans (the carrying
amounts of the Discounted Bills deduct the discount interest).
Subsequent to the discounting, the Group did not retain any
rights on the use of the Discounted Bills, including sale, transfer
or pledge of the Discounted Bills to any other third parties.
The aggregate carrying amount of the bank loans recognised
due to the Discounted Bills was RMB251,699,000 (2014:
RMB184,378,000) as at 31 December 2015.

Bt

42. ERIEEER(E)

il

AREEXUEIVNEEREME
E(E

(a) RHEZEE

RZE—RAF+ZA=+—
B AEERBEETREARE
255,840,0007C (ZZ — P44 = A
R #186,300,0007T ) M9 & T &
WER(RRER DB T
HETFTEMRT - RZT—HF
T-A=+—8 BEEENZ
HEMARE+ @A - RiEF
BB - AR BIERITER - Ab
REBRFEABERRNEEE
R BEFERAE AEBREBX
o R R ER(BIEMIREE
BHRR) - FAEERERIE
ZEREBRTEFRNERE
(B8R IR = 60 AR T 18 $0 BR RE 35 A1
B MB%  AEETERSE
FEAMAZENERERN - 21
EEAEME=ZFHE - #imeg
WA ZE - BALR E &
RERITERR -_E—RE+—
A=+ HHNBEREAARE
251,699,0007C (ZZ — P44 : A
R#184,378,0007T) °
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42. TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
(Continued)

Transferred financial assets that are not derecognised in
their entirety (Continued)

(b)  Endorsed Bills

At 31 December 2015, the Group endorsed certain bills
receivable accepted by certain local banks in the PRC
(the “Endorsed Bills”) with a total carrying amount of
RMB144,189,000 (2014: RMB34,849,000) to certain of its
suppliers in order to settle the trade payables due to those
suppliers. The Endorsed Bills had a maturity of one to six
months at 31 December 2015. In accordance with the Law of
Negotiable Instruments in the PRC, the holders of the Endorsed
Bills have a right of recourse against the Group if the PRC banks
default. In the opinion of the directors, the Group has retained
the substantial risks and rewards, which include default risks
relating to the Endorsed Bills, and accordingly, it continued
to recognise the full carrying amounts of the Endorsed Bills
and the associated trade payables settled. Subsequent to the
endorsement, the Group did not retain any rights on the use
of the Endorsed Bills, including sale, transfer or pledge of
the Endorsed Bills to any other third parties. The aggregate
carrying amount of the trade and other payables settled by
the Endorsed Bills during the year to which the suppliers have
recourse was RMB144,189,000 as at 31 December 2015 (2014
RMB34,849,000).

42. EREEER(E)

AEEXILHEIVNCEEREME
E(E)

RZZ2—RE+=ZA=+—80"
REBBHEETEMIRITES
H4ARRE (B A R 144,189,000
(Z=—%F - AR 34,849,000
TINETERER(EEER
BDBETE THER  NU&E
HENZESHERNE S REM
EfHE - RZE—HF+ZA
=+—H BEZBROIIEERE
B—ENMEA - REPEEE
o AR EERITEY  HEZRR
HEANBRATEEER EF
RE AEEBERBRIBH A
S RER(BEEEZRENHR
) - ABERRSERERAE
BEAERNESHENZHE
HE - BER  AEEWERSB
EREERENEMERN 215
FEMEME=HFHE - #Esk
EREERRE - FANMHERH
BRENSEZRLEENEIR
HiEARER=ZZ—AF+=
A=Z+—HANEEREAARE
144,189,000t (ZZ— 4 « A
FR# 34,849,000 7T °
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42. TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 42. ERIEEBE(E)

(Continued)

Transferred financial assets that are derecognised in their
entirety

As at 31 December 2015, the Group discounted certain bills
receivable accepted by certain reputable banks in the PRC, with
a carrying amount in aggregate of RMB698,403,000 (referred
to as the “Derecognised Bills”, 2014: RMB573,714,000). The
Derecognised Bills had a maturity from one to six months at the end
of the reporting period. In accordance with the Law of Negotiable
Instruments in the PRC, the holders of the Derecognised Bills have
a right of recourse against the Group if the PRC banks default (the
“Continuing Involvement”). In the opinion of the directors, the Group
has transferred substantially all risks and rewards relating to the
Derecognised Bills. Accordingly, it has derecognised the full carrying
amount of the Derecognised Bills. The maximum exposure to loss from
the Group’s Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised Bills and the
undiscounted cash flows to repurchase these Derecognised Bills is
equal to their carrying amounts. In the opinion of the directors, the fair
values of the Group’s Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised Bills
are not significant.

During the year, the Group has recognised interest expense of
RMB18,942,000 (2014: RMB36,508,000) (note 6) on discounted bills
receivable. No gains or losses were recognised from the Continuing
Involvement, both during the year or cumulatively.

EXEZRIBEIHNCEEREME
-3

W-Z—hA%+-A=+—B &%
E&RIEREE THRRTELORE
B A R ¥ 698,403,000 7T K FE L= 15
(& IFERFEE ] —T—MF: AR
#573,714,0007T) ° RIREHIR - & 1E
ERARBENIMEER—ZEXER - R
BHRREZEE - hBRITELD - &1k
ERRERAABRARERER ([#
B2E]) EBEERR - AEECDEERE
BIFEREBRERNERE D Bk &
oo Eitt - REBD R IETERZILER
SENTMREE - AEERFE2ER
IFERRIE LBEZ SR I ERRIEN
REBEREREEBNERBERRARSE
RERHE EERE - AEEFER
SR PERREONFELAEKX -

FA - AEEEREREIRERNFE
FIsZ AR#18,942,0007T( = Z— 04 :
AR 36,508,000t ) (FIsE6) o I £
EiFEL MR E Rk R T HERTAUK
ok ESTE o
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

43. FEREI e TR

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments

as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2015

Financial assets

FHEERTIANKSHRNEEREN
—F .

EHEE

Loans and Available-for-sale
receivables  financial assets
[2£79,3 ot E Total
FENWRIE SREE “aEt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARETRT ARETT
Available-for-sale investments AEEERE - 51,000 51,000
Trade and bill receivables FE W 5 08 I R W = 1B 2,292,195 - 2,292,195
Financial assets included in ETAENRIE  fTe ik
prepayments, deposits and Hi U RIERN SR E E
other receivables 281,340 - 281,340
Pledged deposits HIRFR 376,055 - 376,055
Cash and cash equivalents ReMReEEY 1,265,303 - 1,265,303
4,214,893 51,000 4,265,893
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 43. REREIDMERI TR (/8)

(Continued)
2015 —E—-hF
Financial liabilities THEE
Financial liabilities
at fair value
through profit or Financial
loss upon initial liabilities at
recognition amortised
MIETERET cost
BRAFE EES
T B R TIRRE) Total
SRIEE SRERE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETRT ARETT
Trade and bills payables B E 5508 MR Rk - 903,503 903,503
Financial liabilities included FTAE A& FRIE K
in other payables and [ErTRENERAE
accruals (note 26) (Fg5E26) - 125,162 125,162
Derivative financial PTESmIA (MEE27)
instruments (note 27) - - -
Convertible bonds (note 29) AT AR E S (MR 29) 63,552 634,017 697,569
Senior notes (note 30) BEER (HFE30) - 746,692 746,692
Bank advances for BN RIRIRITE R
discounted bills (note 42(a)) (Mt 42(a)) - 251,699 251,699
Interest-bearing bank and M B ERIT REME R
other loans - 2,582,683 2,582,683
63,552 5,243,756 5,307,308
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 43. HEMEIsHEmM T AR (8)
(Continued)
2014 —T—F
Financial assets THEE

Loans and  Available-for-sale

receivables financial assets Total
=E 953 AfEE

FENFRIA TRIEE #aEt

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMETTT AREETTT ARMETTT

Available-for-sale investments AIEHERE - 12,258 12,258
Trade and bill receivables EE 5708 M EW =K 2,160,501 - 2,160,501
Financial assets included in EIASEINES

prepayments, deposits and e REMpE

other receivables FIENGMEE 153,691 - 153,691
Pledged deposits HEIRTFH 500,327 - 500,327
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREEEY 901,417 - 901,417

3,715,936 12,258 3,728,194
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 43. EBEHNEISHERM TR (E)
(Continued)
2014 —E—OF
Financial liabilities THEE
Financial liabilities
at fair value
through profit or Financial
loss upon initial liabilities at
recognition amortised
R TR cost
BATE bire $is
T ABZEA B AR AR A Total
EaA =N EaA =N wEt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARBFT ARBFT
Trade and bills payables BB SFOE R ENRE - 1,284,332 1,284,332
Financial liabilities included FTAE A FE A FRIE B
in other payables and JEETHIER SR A S
accruals (note 26) (FizE26) - 221,530 221,530
Derivative financial PTESBIA (Fz27)
instruments (note 27) 3,042 - 3,042
Convertible bonds (note 29) AT AR ES (MR 29) 227,138 589,131 816,269
Senior notes (note 30) BEER (HFE30) - 542,822 542,822
Bank advances for BNIRERIRIRITE K
discounted bills (note 42(a)) (BIzE42(a)) - 184,378 184,378
Interest-bearing bank and M B ERIT R EMER
other loans - 1,379,200 1,379,200
230,180 4,201,393 4,431,573
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44. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 44. €T AN AFEERAFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS =3 4]
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial AEBEemTA(AREERERE -
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that reasonably REEREAFESEMEEERIN MK
approximate to fair values due to short term to maturity, are as follows: HEEAFERT
Carrying amounts Fair values
BREFE AFE
2015 2014 2015 2014

—E—-FEFE ZT—NF ZT-RF ZTNF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRE ARETRT ARBTR ARBTE

Financial assets SRIEE
Available-for-sale investments AHEERE 20,901 - 20,901 -
Financial liabilities SRIEE
Derivative financial PTHESRTA
instruments - 3,042 - 3,042
Convertible bonds AR E S 697,569 816,269 825,070 933,986
2017 Senior Notes —E+FEEEE 548,200 542,822 527,045 550,323
2018 Senior Notes —E-N\FEEEE 198,492 - 215,815 -
Interest-bearing bank and BT B ERTT
other loans, HEER
non-current portion: SEMENER S -
Bank loans RITER 1,368,963 314,602 1,383,138 316,084
Other loans HAb BN 172,943 77,077 172,943 76,681
2,986,167 1,753,812 3,124,011 1,880,116
Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash KEBREF G BekBReSEY K
equivalents, pledged deposits, trade and bills receivables, trade and BER BRESHRBEREREE -
bills payables, financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and BRNESHIBERENERE st ATBNR
other receivables, and financial liabilities included in other payables 18 - 7l e REMEW IR & 5 & E A
and accruals approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the MET AE AL FE R FE R BT FIAERN £ Bl
short term maturities of these instruments. BEEEREEES  FERAREH

TAMNE MG
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44. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at
the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation

sale.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair

values:

The Group has entered into derivative financial instruments, such as
interest rate swaps, with the bank. The fair value of the interest rate
swaps was estimated by the independent professional valuer using
the discounted cash flow method and the estimation included some
assumptions not supported by observable market rates such as credit
risk, discount rate and expected future cash flows. The carrying

amounts of interest rate swaps are the same as their fair values.

The fair value of the 2019 Convertible Bonds was valued by estimating
the value of the whole bond with and without the embedded derivatives
using the binomial option pricing model. The model incorporates inputs
including market price, discount rates and share price volatility. Value
used for significant unobservable input: volatility at 54.94%. If the
volatility rate had been 3% higher/lower than management’s estimates
at 31 December 2015, the fair value of conversion rights would
have increased/decreased by RMB5,258,000 and RMB5,225,000,

respectively.

The fair values of the 2017 Senior Notes are based on quoted market

price (unadjusted) in active markets.

The fair values of the 2018 Senior Notes have been calculated by
discounting the contractual cash flows over the remaining contractual
term of the 2018 Senior Notes at the risk free interest rate plus credit

spread and liquidity spread.

44,

S TAMAFERAFE

CREERBENATERABRZSZ
ME AR S (b SBEHERRIN) %
T AR RMAVERTIRE -

TH AR BRAR G ATE

AEBCERTILTESHRIA - W
MEmE] - KIS N A HERBLE
EHERMERBRRSITEME - AE
BREIENEERTSERRE XN
MoBR(MEERR - BBBREXREM
ARBERE)  RtFETEEN -
MEiE R fRE EEE A FERR

ZE-NFABRRESFNAFERBE
FAZIE= A T BAR A AR R E M
BRI AERANTETARNEED
TP o ZABRIETATI(E - AR K RAR(E
HIBEMAZUR - RERTAIBRHA
FIEFEANEE  KIE54.94% ° AR
—E-RE+-A=+—BHREEEK
EWEGHSIE3% - QIEIREN AT
B 5 BIE AR 2 A R ¥ 5,258,000 7T
K AR 5,225,000 T °

T ERERBNATEDREE
BRI IHRE CRERE) -

T \ERERBNATERBEAS
HReRERERBRNEMEERER
RBUERER T \FREZENF
BREKVMRAFRAE -
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44. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The fair values of the non-current portion of the Group’s interest-
bearing bank and other loans have been calculated by discounting
the expected future cash flows using rates currently available for
instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities,
adjusted by the Group’s own non-performance risk where appropriate.
Value used for significant unobservable input: discount rate from 3.73%
10 9.41% based on individual loan.

The fair values of the available-for-sale investment relating to the life

insurance contract are based on the quoted price in a non-active
market obtained from HSBC Life at the end of each reporting period.

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of
the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

As at 31 December 2015

S TAMAFERAFE

RERW ST REMERNRTET
FRTRATH  EERRRH T EH
BRI LA © B T AREF Al &SRR R
(RAEEFEENRRIELFHE (A
) BIRBHARKRIRS REMTE - 3t
BEARTAEBREASREANEE : &
PEAERBAEIRE3.73% £9.41% ©

44,

BRAASRRAEQAIHLERENDT
ENRENERENREEZATRE
HIEERT IS METHE o

AFEEER

TRIGATEESW T AN FEFTE

=7y
BATEHEHEE -

N-¥—AE+=-HA=+—H

Fair value measurement using

ERAUTREGEATE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
EE  EXTHE EXTOUHE
TiSRE ENBUR LOPN St Total
(5—18) (E=E) (B=E) @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBTRE ARETR AR®TR
Available-for-sale investments AHEERE = 20,901 = 20,901
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44. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 44. €T AN AFEEAFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) FR(E)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued) AFEEFR (FE)

Liabilities measured at fair value: KAFEGTENRE -

As at 31 December 2015 R-Z-A%+-RA=+—H

Fair value measurement using
FRAUTEENEAFE

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
EE  EXUHE EXTOUHE
TiSRE EABUR LOPN G Total
(5—1E) (E=E) (5=0E) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBTRE ARETR AR®BTR

Derivative financial instruments PTHESBT A - - - -
Convertible bonds: ATBARES
Conversion rights (note 29) aEitniE (M9 29) - - 63,552 63,552
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44. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
Liabilities measured at fair value: (Continued)

As at 31 December 2014

44. £ TRAMNAFERAFHE

Fa (5)
AFEER ()

BAFEGENEE - (B)

R-T—NE+=-H=+—H

Fair value measurement using

ERATEEAEATE

Quoted prices

Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ER OBRAERE SARTAHE
TIHHE AR AR
(F—E) (B=/E) (B=FE) #Et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETRT AERBTT ARBTET
Derivative financial instruments PTEemMTA - 3,042 - 3,042
Convertible bonds: AR ES
Conversion rights (note 29) B (M35 29) - - 227,138 227,138
- 3,042 227,138 230,180

In 2015, there were no transfers of fair value measurements between
Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 for both
financial assets and financial liabilities.

R-ZF—1F eREEREBEEN
FERE _EZRTENFENEE

% TUEEAREHE=]E -

219



220 China Singyes Solar Technologies Holdings Limited Annual Report 2015

N’

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B35 ¥R AR Y et

31 December 2015 =E—HF+=A=+—H

44. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 44. €T AN AFEEAFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) EF4h(E)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) AFEEFR (FE)
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed: FENFERNEE -

Fair value measurement using

ERUTREFEATE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

i EXTHE EXTUEER
TaRE BRI BRI

(-2 (5=E) ($=E) et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBFR ARBFR ARBFT ARBFT

As at 31 December 2015 R-g-E&+-A=+-H
Convertible bonds AR ES

— Liability component (note 29) -BESS (M29) - - 697,569 697,569
2017 Senior notes (note 30) “EFEERE(ME30) 527,045 - - 527,045
2018 Senior notes (note 30) ZE-N\FRERE (M 30) - - 215,815 215,815
Interest-bearing bank and W2 SRIT R EME -

other loans, non-current portion EReHH - - 1,556,081 1,556,081

527,045 - 2,469,465 2,996,510
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44. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

44. £ TRAMNAFERAFHE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) E8(E)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) AFEEFR (FE)
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed: (Continued) WENFEMEE - (1)
Fair value measurement using
FRANTEEMELTE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
g BAABE  EATUER
MHHRE BAHE BAE
(5—8) (5=F) (5=8) 5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
As at 31 December 2014 R-Z-ME+=-A=+-AH
Convertible bonds akES
— Liability component (note 29) - BfE8 (MF29) - - 706,848 706,848
2017 Senior notes (note 30) “E—EFEEEE(M5F30) 550,323 - - 550,323
Interest-bearing bank and M ERITREBER
other loans, non-current portion EnEEy - - 392,765 392,765
550,323 - 1,099,613 1,649,936
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45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 45. B E P ETE BB R EBUR

AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest-bearing
bank and other loans, convertible bonds, senior notes and cash and
cash equivalents. The main purpose of these financial instruments
is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various
other financial assets and liabilities such as trade and bills receivables,
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, trade and bills payables,
other payables and accruals, and bank advances for discounted bills,
which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
The board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each
of these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The interest rates and terms of repayment of interest-bearing bank and
other loans are disclosed in note 28.

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in the market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s long term debt obligations with
floating interest rates.

The Group’s policy is to manage its interest cost using a mix of fixed
and variable rate debts. At 31 December 2015, approximately 60.3%
(2014: 87.4%) of the Group’s interest-bearing bank and other loans
bore interest at fixed rates.

FEENTEZEMTABREMERTR
HMER - AlaiEs BERBUAK
ReMREEFEY - RFLRMTANE
ERZRRE/AKENKZERES - K
SEERRRHAMEREEREE - f
mEERRETEEESNERE SR
REWEE - ANFHOR - il REME
WoR - BN BSFARENRE - H
b FE S RIE K JERT FIA A K B R RIB R
TTER

AEBSRTAMELZ T EARAH
TR SNERR - FERRMREBE
TR EEREZLHREESER
BEVBR - BREBERBAAT -

T ERR

M EERTT R EME AR M EEHR
R 28 55 -

Aok B B A BT BRI B
BEH IS REE @K o

AEENBEZRAEE K BFEE
BHEHAEEAEMBKA - R-_FT—1
FH+-_A=1t—H xEEFBRT
REMERHK60.3%( =T —FF
87.4%) B FEMEFT S o
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45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant,
of the Group’s profit before tax (through the impact on floating rate

45. B3 E PEEE H B BB

&)
Fl=mEbE ()
TREREFE SRR TRER

T ARERHAEN (FF &K
FE)MM KRR BB EHRE

loans).
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease) in
basis points profit before tax
& i npaedl
s, () i (GRd)
RMB’000
ARBEFTT
2015 —E-AF
Hong Kong dollar BT 100 (2,816)
Hong Kong dollar BT (100) 2,816
US dollar ETT 100 (7,447)
US dollar ET (100) 7,447
2014 —ZE—mF
Hong Kong dollar BT 100 (261)
Hong Kong dollar BT (100) 261
US dollar ETT 100 (1,443)
US dollar ET (100) 1,443
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45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 45. Eﬁ%ﬁll!‘*“iiaﬂ’mr&%

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currency risk

The Group’s principal businesses are located in the Mainland China
and most of the transactions are conducted in RMB. Most of the
Group’s assets and liabilities are denominated in RMB, except for that
of the overseas subsidiaries which functional currencies are currencies
other than the RMB and certain items of cash and cash equivalents
that are denominated in HK$, US$ and other currencies.

If the RMB weakens/strengthens against the US$ as a reasonable
possible change of 5%, the profit before tax of the Group will decrease/
increase by approximately RMB34,695,000, due to changes in fair
values of monetary assets and liabilities. The Group does not consider
that it has any significant exposure to the risk of fluctuation in the
exchange rate between HK$ and RMB as a reasonable possible
change of 5% in RMB against HK$ would have no significant financial
impact on the Group’s profit.

Credit risk

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, pledged deposits,
trade and other receivables, and other financial assets represent
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial
assets. Substantially all of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents are
held in major financial institutions located in Mainland China, which
management believes are of high credit quality.

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties.
It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit
terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and the
Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.

)
e LR

REB T BEBRNPEARE - KEfo
RHUAREHET - KEBAIDEE
REBBAARKEHE - HRINHEAF
W EB Y IFARBRETRE LA
EFEMAET  ETREMEEF
R

MARBHETIZAIGEEEES 5%
B/ FHE - AIAREES RN §E
EEEERBENATFEZSR D G
hn#y AR 34,695,000 7T ° AR AREE
HETHWEERNAEEEZE 5% T8
ﬁ$¢lmﬂx&ik%%wa HUR

ERRETEEABTRAREZEH

%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%&ﬁ%ﬁﬂﬂ°

SEEbE

ReRREFEY HEHRFER E5K
HAth MR IE LA R Bt & R & E R AR E
BEREASEMAXEHEREEEGERNY
BEeEERR - ZK‘*I%K&%@%:E&
ReSEYVHRERERRAEREER
EMFRBERERE S RIMERE -

AEBEERRARZAEENE =S
ALERF - AEENBERZ - AR
ERERRZNEFALBERRER
FFe tesh - AR BRI R AT
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45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had certain concentrations
of credit risk as 4.32% and 28.24% (2014: 13.7% and 44.5%) of the
Group’s trade receivables were due from the Group’s largest customer
and the five largest customers, respectively. All of these customers
have good credit quality by taking into account of their credit history,
and a long-term business relationship has been established by both
parties. The Group has delegated a team responsible for determination
of credit limits and monitoring procedures to ensure that there will be
follow-up action to recover overdue debts.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring
liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity of both its
financial instruments and financial assets (e.g., trade receivables) and
projected cash flows from operations.

The liquidity of the Group is primarily dependent on its ability to
maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through
the settlement from customers and the payment to vendors.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted payments,

is as follows:

45. B3 E PEEE H B BB

&)
B (4)

RBREHR - AEBEETEERRE
h2ER - ARANEEE S EKKEA
o B4.32% &28.24% (ZF—MF :
13.7% N 44.5%) T 7> Al 7= FE WA £2 [
RABEPERAARTFHA - BBt M
EERPHMERERSL  MERETFPOMH
BEREMERELR B8 CEYRS
MEBRE AKEEZK—<BBE
AEEERRBANEERRF  ARRE
PREVR BTEIUR B B AR o

MENE & b

AEEERABRRRDERIETAEER
HESEMOER - ZTATRAESH
TAEREREE (FIANEKE 55IE) K
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45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 45. B E P ETE BB R EBUR

AND POLICIES (Continued) (48)
Liquidity risk (Continued) mENE S EE ()
3 to less
Less than than 12 1to5 Beyond
On demand 3 months months years 5 years Total
ZEDR
REXE YRR +=f@AR —-E8% AENE @t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR

2015 “E-1F
Convertible bonds * R ES 46,500 4,968 41,659 1,051,027 - 1,144,154
Senior notes BAER 44,100 6,099 53,568 620,932 - 724,699
Interest-bearing By BRI R

bank and HiER

other loans 49,343 530,981 544,330 1,369,077 456,095 2,949,826
Trade and ERESHER

bills payables S 448,972 281,000 173,531 - - 903,503
Other payables Hi 308

and accruals RIEFT IR 125,161 - - - - 125,161

714,076 823,048 813,088 3,041,036 456,095 5,847,343

2014 —TF
Convertible bonds * AR EA 18,473 4,968 41,532 1,097,655 - 1,162,628
Senior notes BEEE 4,833 - 44,100 643,367 - 692,300
Interest-bearing BRI R

bank and other loans Hip &5 23,673 290,174 729,572 281,273 269,075 1,593,767
Derivative financial fTHESRIA

instruments 3,042 - - - - 3,042
Trade and bills payables JETE 5 3IE K

ERER 257,992 499,740 526,600 - - 1,284,332

Other payables Hit (IR

and accruals iaE S 221,530 3 A = 3 221,530

529,543 794,882 1,341,804 2,022,295 269,075 4,957,599

% Conversion rights of the convertible bonds are not included in the table & AR E SR BRI BT A R

above as they will be settled through issuance of own shares. REREGEBRITEIRHMEES -
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45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Capital management

The Group’s objectives of its capital management are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can
continue to provide returns for the shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders, and to provide an adequate return to shareholders by
pricing services and products commensurately with the level of risk.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The Group
manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of
changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the
underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce
debts.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt
divided by total equity plus net debt. Net debt comprises trade and
bills payables, bank advances for discounted bills, interest-bearing
bank and other loans, other payables and accruals, senior notes and
tax payable, less cash and cash equivalents and pledged deposits.
Capital includes convertible bonds and equity attributable to owners of
the Company.

45. B3 E PEEE H B BB

&)
BEXER

REBNEAEEBBRREREAEER
BISEMRE ] - ABH AT BRUR R
SR S E AL M 2SR E R AR A -
3838 SR SR 7K AR E B IR TS I EE am
FEBRBEREH 5 R -

REBZRBLOIGTERSHE - A%
EEEEENEEIRFEER N E
MEEEENRBRERINARE - BT
BRRPHBENER  KAEEFRED
MERROBRE S  MBRREEEN
BTSN E B EARIE
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45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 45. B E P ETE BB R EBUR

AND POLICIES (Continued) (48)

Capital management (Continued) BEXEE(E)

The Group’s strategy is to maintain the gearing ratio at a healthy capital AEERKESRFERLERTRED
level in order to support its businesses. The principal strategies adopted BAKE - A IFHER - NEBKE
by the Group include, but are not limited to, reviewing future cash R EBREBEIEETRNEMARIRS
flow requirements and the ability to meet debt repayment schedules MEERMZ TR EEBRIRESN - (REF
when they fall due, maintaining a reasonable level of available banking AIARITREEASEKERARKER
facilities and adjusting investment plans and financing plans, if EIMBETE(NFEE) - UHEREAEE
necessary, to ensure that the Group has a reasonable level of capital to HWERBKENERIHEER - N1
support its business. The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting HERMERLERNT ¢

periods were as follows:

2015 2014
—E—-hF —E—OF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARSTT ARETTT
Trade and bills payables FERTE 5 RE RERNRIR 903,503 1,284,332
Bank advances for discounted bills  BAIR IR Z R1TE K 251,699 184,378
Interest-bearing bank and other loans [ 28817 R HE M E K 2,582,683 1,379,200
Other payables and accruals oAt R FE R BT EA 331,289 314,354
Senior notes BREE 746,692 542,822
Tax payable B ETSEE 12,747 17,628
Less: cash and cash equivalents B Re KRS EEY (1,265,303) (901,417)
Less: pledged deposits W IR (376,055) (500,327)
Net debt (A) HE(A) 3,187,255 2,320,970
Convertible bonds, the liability AMRES - aEHS
component 634,017 589,131
Equity attributable to owners RAEIHEA AELERS
of the Company 3,424,622 3,139,986
Adjusted capital LR ER 4,058,639 3,729,117
Capital and net debt (B) BARRFER (B) 7,245,894 6,050,087

Gearing ratio (A/B) TEE % (A/B) 44% 38%
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46. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 46. HEHEEIE
As at the date of approval of the financial statements, the Group has no REI SRR AR AEBTEZH
significant events after the reporting period that need to be disclosed. BHMmEEEEAEE -

47. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS 47. LLEEF
Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform with ETHRESECEFTHE  UFEAF

current year’s presentation. EZ2% -
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48. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE  48. AL SRR T

COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at RIFEHR - BEARNRRWNPEMRRE
the end of the reporting period is as follows: AR
2015 2014
—E—-hF —E—OF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FERENEE
Property, plant and equipment M - W K 21,028 14,878
Amounts due from subsidiaries JFEUL BB A B FRIE 2,919,293 1,900,333
Prepayments in advance TERTFRIE - 789
Available-for-sale investments AMHHERE 33,515 11,878
Total non-current assets IERBEERE 2,973,836 1,927,878
CURRENT ASSETS RENEE
Prepayments, deposits TERTFRIE « 5] R E A EHGRIE
and other receivables 1,256 13
Cash and cash equivalents e KREEEY 76,563 88,244
Total current assets MEEERE 77,819 88,257
CURRENT LIABILITIES RERE
Other payables and accruals Ef@)ﬁ’é‘iﬁﬁﬁ&%?ﬁﬁﬁ 45,423 37,112
Interest-bearing bank loans M BERITE R 61,095 959
Amounts due to subsidiaries ERLEINGIE e 24,370 74,808
Total current liabilities PEUR=REC GG 130,888 112,879
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REAETE (53,069) (24,622)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT SEBERRSERE
LIABILITIES 2,920,767 1,903,256
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FERENEE
Convertible bond Al AR (a5 697,569 816,269
Interest-bearing bank loans M BERITER 928,625 4,202
Senior notes BRERE 746,692 542 822
Total non-current liabilities SEmEBBERTE 2,372,886 1,363,293
Net assets BEFE 547,881 539,963
EQUITY LR
Issued capital BB TRR A 46,443 46,466
Reserves(note) T () 501,438 493,497
Total equity G Gk 547,881 539,963
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48. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE  48. A SINMBIRE (8)

7

COMPANY (Continued)

Note: MisE
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: AARINFEERZEWT
Available-
for-sale
Share investment Share Exchange
premium revaluation Contributed option fluctuation ~ Accumulated
account reserve surplus reserve reserve losses Total
HHERSE RERE ER
by i ERR Bk LN 1] REI R Ritisie @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  ARETT ARETr ARETT  ARETR ARBTT  ARETR
At 1 January 2014 RZZE—NF
—A—8 678,024 - 10,189 28,168 (37,433) (177,422) 501,526
Profit for the year KEFERF - - - - - (19,924) (19,924)
Other comprehensive Hib2EE
income - - - - 2,131 - 2,131
Total comprehensive AFEHMZESE
loss for the year - - - - 2,131 (19,924) (17,793)
Exercise of share options 172 EfikiE 9,415 - - - - - 9,415
Transfer to share option TR RS
reserve upon the B ERRE
exercise of share options &t 4,430 - - (4,430) - - -
Transfer to contributed BREHARHS
surplus (50,000) - 50,000 - - - -
Final 2013 dividend BER-Z—=F
declared REBE - - (49,714) - - 48,954 (760)
Equity-settled share option AN E B IR IERHE
arrangements - - - 1,109 - - 1,109
At 31 December 2014 RZZ—WE
TZA=t-H 641869 - 10,475 24,847 (35302) (148,392) 493,497
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48. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

48. XATWIMFIRR R (45)

7

Note: (Continued) MaE : (88)

ARROFEREDT - (8)

A summary of the Company'’s reserves is as follows: (Continued)

Available-
for-sale
Share investment Share Exchange
premium revaluation Contributed option fluctuation  Accumulated
account reserve surplus reserve reserve losses Total
T ERE RahRiE ER
R ipitaERR EftfhiE E 9N 1 HED AR RitlR @zt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETr ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETR
At 1 January 2015 RZZ—H1F
—A—A 641,869 - 10,475 24,847 (35,302) (148,392) 493,497
Profit for the year AEERF - - - - - 16,342 16,342
Change in fair value of AHHERER
available-for-sale ATEES
investments, net of tax MBHE - (5,228) - - - (5,228)
Other comprehensive HEi 2k
income - - - - 38,347 38,347
Total comprehensive AFE2EWELE
income for the year - (5,228) - - 38,347 16,342 49,461
Repurchase of shares Al (4,980) - - - - (4,980)
Exercise of share options ~ {T{F A E 2468 - - - - 2468
Transfer to share option e R R
reserve upon the HBERRE
exercise of share options &t 1,207 - - (1,207) - -
Transfer to contributed BEEHARHS
surplus (60,000) - 60,000 - - -
Equity-settled share option ~ BRAEE R
arrangements iR - E - 10,415 - 10,415
2014 final dividend declared BBk~ Z—FI4
KRR, - - (49,423) - - (49,423)
At 31 December 2015 RZT—A1%F
+-A=+—H 580,564 (5,228) 21,052 34,055 3,045 (132,050) 501,438

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share options granted

which are yet to be exercised, as further explained in the accounting policy for

share-based payments in note 2.4 to the financial statements. The amount will

either be transferred to the share premium account when the related options are

exercised, or be transferred to retained profits should the related options expire

or be forfeited.

49.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by
the board of directors on 30 March 2016.

49.

BRERBEBECDRLERRITENBRE
MRFE - E— SRR RS EHRERNE248
BAARR () AERMN S B EEHEREK - %A
R IAR R T ER B R ERORER
KRR B AR M R BRI A B R R

B F -

it AR R

BBREN_ZB—R"F=-A=1TRHE=

ERHERFETIE -
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